% Brethren in Christ U.S.

GENERAL ASSEMBLY 2022
FROM THE CENTER

MINUTES




GEN ERAL ASSE‘I\/I BLY 2022

FROM THE CENTER
Contents
\I:\jltcz r:: i nference opemng ..............................................................................................
AL CAll O OFARY ...,
B.  Welcome and WOrShiD.. ..o e .
C. Appointment of Staff ..o, .
D GIrEELINGS. ..o e e
B, MemoOrial SeIVICE oo

Part 2: Brethren in Christ U.S. Reports

A. General Conference Board Report .............coooioiiooeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee,
B.  National Director's REPOIT ..o
C. Allegheny CONfErENCE ........o.ovoeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeen .
D. Atlantic ConfereNCe ..., .
E. Great Lakes CONfEIrENCE .........oovovoeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee
F. Midwest Conference ..., .
G. Pacific CoNfereNCe ...
H. Southeast Conference ..., .
I. Susquehanna Conference ...
J. Commission for BIC U.S. World MiSSIONS ...........cc.ooiiieoeeeeeoeeeeeeeeee, .

15

21
23
27
29
32



vOoZIr A

Commission on Ministry and DOCtriNe ..o 36
BIC U.S. FINaNCial REPOITS .. ..o 39
BIC Pension Fund - Defined Benefit Plan ... 41
Brethren in Christ Foundation ... 42
AWAKEN: BIC Network for Women in Ministry ... 46

Report to the General Assembly from the Women in Ministry Task Force.... 48

Part 3: Recommendations of General Conference Board

1. Approval of the Minutes of the 2020 General Assembly ..., 100
2. Additions to the Articles of Faith and Doctrine ..o 101
3. Amendment to the Bylaws of the Brethren in Christ U.S. ... 103
4. Replacement of the Congregational Handbook in the

2020 Manual of Doctrine and Government with

the Congregational Governance Articles ... 104
5. Replacement of the Ministerial Credentialing section

in the 2020 Manual of Doctrine and Government

with the revised Ministerial Credentialing Articles............ccooooiovcce, 132
6. Appointment of General Conference Board Members............c..ccocoovoiecen.e. 140
7. Confirmation of Board Members for the

Brethren in Christ Foundation ..o 149
Motion Brought from the FIoOr ........oooooooeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee 150

Part 4: Covenant & Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) Reports

A
B.
C.
D.

Lifeline Ministries Women's Shelter INC...........c.ooooooioooieeeeeeeeeeee 152
Mennonite Central Committee (U.S.) e, 154
MESSIAN UNIVEISITY ..o 155
IMESSIAN LIFEWAYS ... oo e 157

Part 5. Related Reports

A.
B.

Brethren in Christ Historical Library and Archives ..o 161
Brethren in Christ Historical SOCIELY ....ooooo e, 162

Part 6. General Business and Conclusions

moow»

A
B.

BIC U.S. Leadership ReCOZNITION ..o, 165
General Assembly 2024 ... 165
AdJOUIMMENT .o e 165
Dele@ate LiSTiNG ... oo, 166
ALtENAANCE REPOIT ..o e 174
Part 7. Year-end Reports and Financial Statements
2020 Year-end REPOIT ... 176
2021 Year-end REPOIT ... e 176

C.

2021 Audited Financial Statements ... 177



Welcome

Brothers and sisters,

Welcome to Salina, Kansas for the 127th General Assembly (formerly General Conference)
of the Brethren in Christ U.S. It is wonderful to be in Kansas as it has been 71 years since
General Assembly was held here.

It is with great joy that we gather in-person for this 2022 General Assembly. The Covid-19
pandemic meant that the 2020 Assembly was held online. While online is certainly better
than nothing, there is no adequate substitute for meeting face to face. It is my prayer that
each of us will experience a renewing and refreshing presence of God so that we can return
to our places of ministry prepared for continued service. Thank you for investing the time
and effort to be with us.

I am deeply grateful to Bishop Ron Bowell and a great team of others from the Midwest
Conference who have worked so hard to prepare for our arrival. The decision to use con-
gregational facilities rather than a conference center made this gathering more affordable.
However, it also means reduced physical space. I encourage us to exercise love, patience, and
understanding with one another as we experience the challenges this brings. Please express
gratitude at every opportunity to the people who are serving so that we can gather in this
way.

I am delighted that we are joined at this Assembly by the BIC U.S. global team. These per-

sons serve with BIC U.S. World Missions in cross-cultural settings around the world. They
have been together in Salina for a few days prior to General Assembly for a time of retreat,

refreshment, and encouragement. It is appropriate that they are here since Kansas played a

critical role in the birth of World Missions. Please find time during these days to get to bet-
ter know these global workers.

The Manual of Doctrine and Government (MDG) of BIC U.S. lists six things that General
Assembly is authorized to do. In these days that we have together, we will work on four.
These are:

o Share and celebrate the work of God through the BIC U.S.

e Dialogue about issues related to the ministry of the BIC U.S.
e Amend, repeal, or suspend any part of the MDG

e Appoint members of General Conference Board

As ought always to be the case, we want to engage with one another as family members who
are bound to one another in love. While Robert’s Rules of Order is a helpful guide for our
business, the scriptural exhortations to love, care for, and honor one another always take
precedence.



Please remain prayerful for our time together. Pray that God will be honored and glorified
in all that occurs. Pray that we will be refreshed, renewed, and inspired through all that

happens.

Your fellow servant,

Alan Robinson
National Director AROBINSON@BICUS.ORG

All dollar amounts listed in this Agenda are assumed to be in U.S. dollars unless otherwise
noted. Unless otherwise noted, all financial statements presented in this Agenda reflect
audited results and are presented with years ending December 31.



Part 1:

Conference Opening



A. Call to Order

National Director Alan Robinson called the 127th General Assembly of the Brethren in
Christ US. to order.

B. Welcome and Worship

Alan Robinson welcomed delegates and attendees from across the denomination. This was
followed by a time of worship.

C. Appointment of Staff

National Director: Alan Robinson
Co-Moderators: Emerson Lesher, Rachel Diaz

Parliamentarian: Ken Hoke

D. Greetings

Representatives from other ministries were acknowledged and welcomed:

Gerald Hildebrand, Mennonite World Conference
Kerry Hoke, Messiah Lifeways
E. Memorial Service

A video presentation honored those who served as pastors in previous years and have passed

away during the past biennium. Lynda Gephart introduced and provided prayer during this

time:

Creed Ledington 10/9/1930 - 10/2/2018 Pastor in Ohio

Stephen Porter 12/22/1948 — 3/16/2020 Pastor in Michigan

Eric Stanton 2/25/1943 - 8/12/2020 Pastor in Illinois, Iowa, Ohio,
and Michigan

S. Paul Sides 10/29/1935 - 8/30/2020 Global Volunteer in
Zimbabwe and New Mexico

Robert Worman 12/8/1924 - 9/27/2020 Global Worker in Zimbabwe
and Zambia

Alden Long 2/14/1926 — 10/5/2020 Professor at Messiah College

Jesse Heise 5/8/1921 - 10/19/2020 Global Volunteer in Zambia

Benjamin Rodriguez  5/28/1930 - 11/5/2020 Pastor in Oregon

Miriam Zook 10/18/1926 - 11/8/2020 Global Worker in Zimbabwe

Martha Lady 3/20/1927 - 11/17/2020 Global Worker in Zambia and

Zimbabwe, Pastor in
Pennsylvania



R. LeRoy Ebertly, Jr.

Mary Olive Bundy
Marlin Zook

Richard Craven
Jacob Shenk

Suie Naomi Hess
Andres Pineira
Jimmy Lang
Peter Willms

Mary Willms
J. Milford Brubaker

Rick Conrad
Kenneth Bulgrien

Carlos Alfaro
Doyle Book
Harold Chubb
Ralph Halter
Ralph Hock
John Sider

Walter Winger

Timothy Hershberger

Kenneth Melhorn
Harvey Sider

Roger Witter

6/21/1942 - 11/20/2020

11/15/1931 - 11/22/2020
7/3/1936 - 12/4/2020

3/30/1948 - 12/6/2020
1/28/1936 — 12/31/2020
5/27/1927 - 1/28/2021
9/30/1956 —2/17/2021
11/16/1975 - 2/22/2021

10/9/1927 - 3/9/2021

1/19/1930 - 3/20/2021
6/28/1934 — 4/5/2021

7/9/1966 — 5/1/2021
7/14/1928 — 7/6/2021

12/16/1961 - 7/10/2021
4/27/1929 - 7/13/2021
6/26/1932 -7/26/2021
10/24/1936 - 8/5/2021
7/5/1929 - 9/1/2021
12/11/1933 - 10/3/2021
7/14/1929 — 10/12/2021
10/2/1956 - 10/25/2021

9/29/1929 — 11/21/2021
6/20/1930 - 11/23/2021

3/30/1928 - 11/26/2021

Pastor in Texas, California,
and Pennsylvania, Global
Worker in Mexico, Venezuela,
and Cuba

Global Worker in Zambia
Global Worker in Japan,
Pastor in Indiana and
Pennsylvania

Pastor in Oklahoma
Regional Administrator over
Southern Africa, Pastor in
Pennsylvania

Global Worker in

New Mexico

Pastor in Florida

Pastor in Michigan

Global Worker in Japan,
Pastor in Kansas

Global Worker in Japan
Pastor in Michigan and
Pennsylvania

Pastor in Pennsylvania
Global Worker in Zimbabwe
and Zambia

Pastor in Florida

Global Worker in Japan
Treasurer of BIC

North America

Global Volunteer in

New Mexico

Pastor in Pennsylvania
Global Worker in India,
Mexico, and New Mexico,
Pastor in Canada

Pastor in Canada,
Pennsylvania, and California
Global Worker in Zambia
Pastor in Pennsylvania
Global Worker in India,
Pastor in Canada,

Bishop in Canada, Moderator
of General Conference of
BIC North America

Pastor in Pennsylvania



Charles Byer

Winifred Knepper
James Sollenberger
Jose Velazquez

Lee Ritchey

Luis Arias

Chuck Dawes
Edith Miller
Omer King

Levi Brubaker

Roy Lehman

William Baublitz, Sr.

Ronald Lofthouse

Samuel Bert

Ethel Brubaker

Esther Leah Horst
Charles Musser

6/14/1947 - 12/6/2021

7/29/1941 - 12/11/2021
11/9/1953 - 1/7/2022
4/22/1974 - 1/16/2022
11/14/1931 - 1/23/2022
10/14/1942 - 1/29/2022
9/25/1943 - 1/30/2022
1/10/1936 —2/11/2022
4/22/1944 —-2/21/2022
11/30/1937 - 2/25/2022

6/23/1921 - 3/17/2022

8/3/1943 - 5/2/2022

7/25/1930 — 5/25/2022

2/18/1944 — 6/8/2022
10/17/1926 - 6/9/2022

2/20/1942 - 6/14/2022
7/14/1951 — 6/20/2022

Marilyn (Jane) Monn 6/17/1931 - 11/4/2020

Pastor in Pennsylvania and
Canada, Global Worker in
New Mexico

Global Worker in Zimbabwe
Pastor in Pennsylvania
Pastor in Pennsylvania
Pastor in Pennsylvania
Pastor in California

Pastor in California

Global Worker in Zambia
Pastor in Pennsylvania
Global Worker in Zambia,
Pastor in Florida and
Pennsylvania

Global Volunteer in
Zimbabwe, Colombia,
Venezuela, and London
Pastor in Pennsylvania, Ohio,
and Maryland

Pastor in Canada and

New York

Global Worker in Zambia
Global Worker in Zimbabwe,
Zambia, and Malawi

Global Volunteer in Zambia
Global Volunteer in Zambia
Global Worker in

New Mexico



Part 2:

Brethren in Christ U.S.
Reports

The ministry of the Brethren in Christ U.S. (BIC U.S.) is multifaceted. The most funda-
mental and critical facets of BIC U.S. are the ministries of local congregations across the
United States and the ministries of missionaries and mission locations around the world.
BIC U.S,, sometimes called “the denomination,” exists as a support to congregations, pas-
tors, and missionaries. We believe that life and ministry are better together than carried out
in isolation. Together, we are a better reflection of the community of faith. Together, we
find support and accountability. Together, we can accomplish more than any one of us can
accomplish alone.

The following reports focus on the denominational activity of the BIC U.S. during 2020
and 2021. Each of these reports focuses on part or parts of our multifaceted oneness. They
are presented separately for the purposes of clarity and focus, but they must be understood
as a holistic unity that, together, provide a picture of our ministry.



A. General Conference Board Report

The General Conference Board (GCB) is the board of directors for BIC U.S. It exists to
serve the church and to be the hands and feet of General Assembly between our bi-annual
meetings. The complete list of responsibilities for GCB can be found in the Manual of Doc-
trine and Government (MDG) for your reference. I would like to highlight some of the
areas that we focused on in the past biennium.

Approve the nomination of the national director and oversee the work of the
national director

We have performed annual reviews for the national director and have worked together

to create annual goals. I would like to express my appreciation to Alan Robinson for the
capable leadership that he provides to us. The gifts and wisdom that he brings to the table
have been much appreciated. Alan truly works tirelessly for the Church.

Oversee the finances and real personal property of BIC U.S.

Our finance committee (Julie Stout (chair), Nick Hankins, Daryl Musser, Kevin Noll, and
Dave Witmer) spends many hours working with our director of finance (Mitch Martin)
to do the detailed work that needs to be done to create budgets and to track spending and
trends to ensure that we are being the best stewards possible with the resources that have
been entrusted to us.

GCB also serves as members of the BIC Foundation and as BIC Pension Fund trustees.
Regular meetings of these two entities occur in conjunction with our bi-annual meetings.

Nominate new GCB members to the General Assembly

“Approve the Articles of Incorporation and ByLaws, and any amendments thereto, of each
Regional Conference.”

“Bring recommendations to the GA.”

The many hours of detailed work needed to perform these functions is done by our gover-
nance committee (Adam Forry (chair), Emerson Lesher, Ron Kramer, and Sherri Flohr).
This work is very detailed and can be tedious. We are blessed to have GCB members that
possess the skill and acumen for this work. We have also been working with Leadership
Council (LC) members on standardizing the bylaws of regional conferences to make sure
that our regional bylaws are consistent with BIC U.S. bylaws. The standardized bylaws were
presented to all regional conferences this spring for approval by each individual conference.

Much work has also been done over the past number of years to bring our Manual of Doc-
trine and Government and Articles of Faith and Doctrine to reflect our current realities
with careful and thoughtful wording changes and reorganization. The goal is to make our
MDG a more accurate, useful, and relevant document and to make sure that the Articles of
Faith and Doctrine articulately express our distinctives and values as BIC. The work of this
committee is reflected in the bylaw changes and Articles of Faith and Doctrine updates that
are being brought before you at this General Assembly. One significant addition to the Ar-
ticles of Faith and Doctrine is to include a statement on our affirmative position on women
in all levels of ministry. There are numerous recommendations that we are bringing to you,
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asking for your consideration and approval.

The governance committee also serves as the nominating committee for GCB. The gover-
nance committee does the initial searching and vetting for new potential board members.
The committee relies heavily on recommendations from LC members for potential board
positions. The names brought to you for approval at this General Assembly are a result of
this process.

Just a note of clarification. Both the finance committee and governance committees serve as
advisory committees to GCB to do the detailed background work necessary for us to make
well-informed decisions. These committees do not operate independently of GCB. Infor-
mation is brought back to GCB, and we process it together as a board. Any final decisions
are made by the entire board. Both of our committees include some non-GCB members
who provide expertise that is helpful for the work of the committee.

Relate to partner organizations that are not directly accountable to a regional
conference

We regularly receive reports from Lifeline Ministries, Messiah Lifeways, Messiah Universi-
ty, Navajo Mission, and Paxton Ministries. We are grateful to continue to partner with each
of these organizations as they continue to grow and change.

W also are privileged to partner with LC. Each of our board meetings begins with a
combined meeting of GCB and LC. We appreciate hearing the reports of what is happen-
ing and how God is working in each of our regions. LC is also able to help provide good
context and information for issues that come before us. Hearing their perspective gives us
helpful insights that enable us to make good, informed decisions.

One of the other groups that we have been privileged to walk alongside this biennium is
the Women in Ministry Task Force. I want to express thanks to the Task Force, as they have
finished the work to which they were assigned. It is GCB’s desire to affirm all those that
God is calling to ministry and to be a part of identifying the blockers that currently exist
for women. We desire to give our support for the many gifted women among us and to be a
part of encouraging, afﬁrming, and creating opportunities.

GCB currently consists of 15 members: Nicole Airth, Rachel Diaz (secretary), Sherri Flohr,
Adam Forry, Bonnie Hershberger, Abby Kean, Denise Conway, Tom Law (vice chair),
Emerson Lesher, Brian Mbuu, Kevin Noll, Jose Rodriguez, Naomi Smith, Julie Stout

(treasurer), and myself. It has been a blessing to serve with this group of people who love the
Lord and love the Church.

Cathy Musser
Chair, General Conference Board BIC@BICUS.ORG



B. National Director’s Report

It continues to be a privilege for me to serve in the role of national director of BIC US. I
am privileged to have served in this way since 2013.

The role of national director involves connecting and liaising with many other groups. The
national director serves under the authority of the General Conference Board (GCB). This
includes meeting with the two standing committees of the GCB—the governance commit-
tee and the finance committee. The national director is a member of Leadership Council
(LC) and serves as its chair. This role includes being chairperson of the Commission on
Ministry and Doctrine and meeting with the Commission for World Missions. It has been
my privilege to serve alongside all the women and men who make up these various leader-
ship groups. BIC U.S. is blessed to have many leaders who serve with great commitment
and sacrifice. My thanks to each one of them.

Several members of GCB will end their service at this General Assembly (or concluded
service since the 2020 General Assembly). I am deeply grateful for the significant contribu-
tions of Ron Kramer, Emerson Lesher, and Cathy Musser. Cathy has served faithfully and
sacrificially as the chair of GCB - thank you Cathy.

Leadership Council

Two members of Leadership Council (Lynn Thrush, bishop of the Great Lakes Conference,
and Jonathan Lloyd, director of BIC U.S. World Missions) have terms ending on July 31,
2022. T am delighted that, following evaluations and conversations with their respective
leadership groups, both LC members have been offered and accepted a new six-year term
beginning August 1, 2022.

In April of this year, I was pleased to install Heather Beaty as the bishop of the Susquehanna
Regional Conference. Heather was unanimously nominated by the Susquehanna Confer-
ence Board of Directors and elected and appointed following a vote of the delegates at the
2022 annual meeting of the Conference.

In April of this year Perry Engle concluded his service on Leadership Council. Perry served
as a bishop for almost 20 years and is now serving as the lead pastor of the Upland, Calif.
congregation. Perry and Marta, thank you for many years of dedicated and sacrificial ser-
vice. Warren Hoftfman will begin his role as interim bishop of the Pacific Conference on
August 1,2022. We expect him to serve in this role for 6 -12 months as the Pacific Confer-
ence searches for a new bishop.

Local Ministry

As I have said many times before, the primary focus of the ministry of BIC U.S. is in the
local congregations across the country and mission locations around the world. Given this
reality, none of the reports that are brought to this General Assembly can adequately report
on what God is doing among us and through us. Those of us who serve in the leadership
and administrative roles of the denomination understand that our purpose is to guide, di-
rect, resource, and support the ministry of others. As you read the reports from the General
Conference Board (including the governance and finance committees), the seven regional
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conferences, the Commission for World Missions, and the Commission on Ministry and
Doctrine, please read with appreciation and prayerfulness for the many people who are
represented in these reports.

Challenges

The global Covid-19 pandemic created challenges for all of us. Leadership Council regu-
larly met virtually during the height of the pandemic and sought to provide counsel and
support to pastors and congregations. While some of our congregations reported not too
much disruption during the pandemic, many reported very real and deep challenges. These
included serious illness and death. They also included congregational division on how to
handle the pandemic and the related matters of vaccines and masks. The divisive issues re-
lated to the pandemic were exacerbated by the divisive political climate across the country:
a political climate that, sadly, shows no sign of improving.

The rapid increase, accessibility, and prevalence of social media has created a reality in
which anyone can “publish” almost anything. Much of what is communicated on social me-
dia lacks the truthfulness and integrity to which the Church is called. It also lacks the love
that is to be the hallmark of those who claim to be the disciples of Jesus. It falls far short

of Paul’s words in Philippians 4:8, “Finally, brothers and sisters, whatever is true, whatever
is noble, whatever is right, whatever is pure, whatever is lovely, whatever is admirable—if
anything is excellent or praiseworthy—think about such things.”

My prayer for us is that we will regain a focus on Jesus and his gospel, that we will under-
stand we are called to be ministers of reconciliation and ambassadors of God, and that he is
making his appeal through us (2 Corinthians 5:16-21).

Other challenges that we have encountered in the last two years include:

e  Women in Ministry Leadership - Allegations surfaced that the BIC US. egalitar-
ian understanding of the role of women in ministry and leadership is not being
practiced fully across the denomination. Leadership Council commissioned a
task force under the leadership of Pauline Peifer to study the matter. [ am deeply
appreciative for the work of this task force and a report of their work will be made
available.

e Disassociation - Several congregations have communicated their desire to dis-
sociate from BIC US. At the time of writing this report, we are working to be in
conversation with these congregations to understand the reasons for this and to see
what can be done to continue our journey and ministry together.

Project 250

At General Assembly 2020 we introduced Project 250. Project 250 is the result of feedback
received from across BIC U.S. We asked pastors, missionaries, and congregational leaders to
prayerfully reflect on what God might be calling BIC USS. to prioritize in the years leading
up to our denominational 250th birthday in 2028. This resulted in five strategic priorities:

1. Reaffirming Our Identity as a Community of Christ-Followers
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2. Making Lifelong Disciples

3. Multiplying Missional Congregations, Movements, and Leaders

4. Increasing Global Awareness and Impact

5. Growing to Reflect the Demographic Realities of Our Communities

For each of these priorities we have specific objectives. During the next six years we will con-
tinue to work to accomplish, by God’s grace and with God’s help, as many of the objectives as
possible. Jennifer Lancaster joined our staff as the Project 250 Coordinator. Jennifer’s role is
to work with Leadership Council in pursuit of Project 250 and to provide the administrative
assistance necessary to support our efforts.

I encourage each of us to reflect on the objectives of Project 250 and consider what part we
can play in helping to accomplish them. While only God can cause things to grow, we can
play our part as those who plant and water. Let us commit to playing our part.

Alan Robinson
National Director, BIC U.S. AROBINSON@BICUS.ORG
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C. Allegheny Conference
1. General Report

It appears that we have emerged from the Covid-19 era. I am no longer aware of any special
considerations due to the virus at the local or regional levels. Our collective assessment of
the impact of Covid-19, however, remains a work in progress. There is no denying that we
faced several significant challenges along the way, including some very sad losses; and we
want to learn and grow from those experiences. Overall, though, I think we have fared well.
We closed just one congregation in the past biennium, and the remaining 38 are pressing

ahead.

I thank God that, presently, I'm not dealing with many significant upheavals. Issues to work
on certainly remain but nothing that reaches the level of what I call critical or major crisis
mode. The overwhelming majority of Allegheny congregations are reporting that local
ministry is going well, sometimes in miraculous ways. My prayer is that we will be good
stewards, faithful ambassadors, and fruitful workers as we continue to advance the kingdom
in this current season of opportunity.

The board of directors, the evangelism council, local churches, and individuals have been
partnering to help declining congregations become growing congregations. A couple ex-
amples worthy of note: New Life Believers (formerly Van Lear) consisted of approximately
adozen souls in 2017. This past Easter their attendance was 111. Another one is Com-
munity of Faith, where new pastor Jen Hickey began April 1st, 2022. Under her leadership
they have already made several upgrades and recently hosted an event for local children that
exceeded expectations. Their small group of about 15 people connected with more than 30
youngsters and ten new families.

From March 2020 until March 2022, in-person regional resource gatherings were rare or
nonexistent. In recent months, however, we are again developing and implementing in-
person training and equipping opportunities. March 19th our Worship Council presented
a seminar and workshop that was well-attended and well-received. Our Ministry Council
is lining up a series of local dinners for active pastors and spouses to receive a night out for
fellowship and encouragement, while Warren Hoffman continues his focus on keeping the
retired pastors connected. Our Discipleship Council is working on hosting one or more
events to address contemporary cultural topics and BIC principles such as community
discernment and the authority of Scripture.

For all that God has done, for all that he will do going forward, for who he is, we praise
him!

In Christ,

Rob Patterson
Bishap RPATTERSON@BICUS.ORG
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2. Financial and Statistical Report

Sites 2021 2020
Total number of sites 38 39
Under 25 6 8
25-50 6 S
51-75 6 8
76-100 8 4
101-150 7 6
151-200 1 3
201-300 1 2
301-500 2 2
501-750 1 -
751-1,000 - 1
1,001-2,000 - -
Congregations started - -
Congregations closed 1 -
Congregations adopted - -
Pastors 2021 2020
Full-time lead pastors 29 29
Bivocational lead pastors 7 8
Profile 2021 2020
Membership 3,901 4,042
Attendance 4,011 4,280
Baptisms 114 56
Percentage of unrestricted congregational
income given to Common Ministry (CM) 2021 2020
Percentage given to CM from
congregations that reported 8.1% 7.8%
Estimated percentage given to CM
from congregations that did not report* > 9.0%
Aggregate total 8.1% 7.8%

Compiled from 2021 and 2020 end-of-year reports. Discrepancies in figures from year to year may
be due to lack of congregational reporting. Contact regional conference office if you have questions.

*For congregations that didn’t report in a given year, income numbers from other years were used
to calculate these percentages. Congregations that failed to complete the BIC U.S. end-of-year
survey for the past three years were excluded.

**All congregations reported this year.



D. Atlantic Conference

1. General Report

The pastors, congregations, and people of the Atlantic Conference are focused on Follow-
ing Jesus on Mission, Multiplying Missional Sites, and Developing Leaders. This focus fits
nicely within the five strategic priorities of Project 250 as we endeavor to see them become
reality among us. The experience of this last biennium has presented challenges to those
desires in unique ways like very few preceding it, and yet God has been faithful to fulfill his
purposes and plans among us. I endeavor to serve, lead, and facilitate in that effort through
this role. It is a joy to walk alongside the people of this region as we follow Jesus together
but focus on the communities and areas in which we are planted.

One way I resource local congregations for mission involves pastoral placements. The health
and fit of local pastors is one of the greatest indicators of ongoing mission and strength for
the church. In 2020, I facilitated lead pastor searches at four congregations. In 2021that
number decreased to three, and I also participated in the search for the Executive Director
at Kenbrook Bible Camp. A few interim assignments at some of those congregations greatly
increased their ability to be ready for the next lead pastor and what Jesus desired to do next
in and through them. I also engaged with multiple church boards and pastors in areas of
new opportunity or concerns.

Multiplication continues to be a point of emphasis for the conference. While it has been

a little more difficult to start brand new churches over this time period, we still have been
working at multiplying sites of existing churches. Growing out of a newer church in Al-
lentown, PA, a second site for that congregation was birthed in Gilbert, Ariz. While that
site’s physical location is slightly outside of our geographic boundaries, they are very much
a part of the Atlantic Conference through this multi-site congregation and the wonders of
technology. We have also teamed up with FORGE AMERICA to be a church planting hub
and receive coaching and additional resourcing for church planting. While new life and
ministry is exciting, it is always held in tension with death and the conclusion of ministry
for some other congregations. We have closed two churches in this biennium.

NextGen Ministries, a ministry of the conference, continues to develop leaders in multiple
congregations across the conference. Over the past two years, we had 25 internships across a
number of congregations. Young adults are receiving practical experience in church settings
which helps to shape their path forward and discern what God may be asking of them in
the future.

I serve with a great team and board in the Atlantic Conference. I am so grateful for the
wonderful partnership with gifted and passionate Jesus followers in the office and across all
levels of the conference structure. That is a gift and a joy. I enjoy the same dynamic at home
in partnership with my spouse Kerry and our children. Those children have expanded into
the next generation over this biennium, and I now also go by the name Grandpa. It’s one of
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my best names. In it all, Kerry and I continue to lean on Jesus and each other in each new
stage of life, believing we are where we are to be for now and desiring to be faithful to him
in those places.

Bryan Hoke
Bishop BHOKE@BICUS.ORG
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2. Financial and Statistical Report

Sites 2021 2020
Total number of sites 43 45
Under 25 7 6
25-50 S 7
51-75 9 3
76-100 2 7
101-150 7 7
151-200 1 2
201-300 3 2
301-500 4 4
501-750 1 2
751-1,000 - -
1,001-2,000 - -
Congregations started - -
Congregations closed 1 -
Congregations adopted - -
Pastors 2021 2020
Full-time lead pastors 33 34
Bivocational lead pastors 9 9
Profile 2021 2020
Membership 3,675 5,349
Attendance 5,256 6,171
Baptisms 103 59
Percentage of unrestricted congregational
income given to Common Ministry (CM) 2021 2020
Percentage given to CM from
congregations that reported 8.4% 7.7%
Estimated percentage given to CM
from congregations that did not report* 2.9% 1.2%
Aggregate total 8.1% 7.7%

Compiled from 2021 and 2020 end-of-year reports. Discrepancies in figures from year to year may
be due to lack of congregational reporting. Contact regional conference office if you have questions.

*For congregations that didn’t report in a given year, income numbers from other years were used
to calculate these percentages. Congregations that failed to complete the BIC U.S. end-of-year
survey for the past three years were excluded.



E. Great Lakes Conference

1. General Report

I am gathering my report around the five priorities of Project 250, and with two additional
initiatives in the Great Lakes Conference (GLC).

A.

Project 250 Priority #1 — Reaffirming Our Identity as a Community of Christ-

Followers

In my bishop’s report to the GLC Annual Meeting, I illustrated how Pietism,
Anabaptism, and Wesleyanism strongly assist us in reaffirming our identity as a
community of Christ-followers.

Project 250 Priority #2 — Making Lifelong Disciples

GLC minister of generational discipleship, Pastor Christina Embree, is providing
resources to our conference on the topic of generational discipleship. These re-
sources directly address how a church can develop strategies to bridge the genera-
tions.

Project 250 Priority #3 — Multiplying Missional Congregations, Movements, and
Leaders

The GLC is now a partner with Jesus Collective, a ministry with its roots in the
BIC Church in Canada. Jesus Collective is directly configured to assist leaders and
churches to be missional.

Project 250 Priority #4 — Increasing Global Awareness and Impact

The GLC is partnering with BIC U.S. World Missions in securing the next person-
nel to serve in Dearborn, Mich. among the Arab and Muslim population. A highly
qualified couple is currently in conversation with me and director of World Mis-
sions, Jonathan Lloyd.

In my bishop’s report to our 2022 Annual Meeting, I called on the GLC to “a
steady, intentional commitment to population centers (in our conference), akin to
BIC U.S. World Missions’ commitment to send a certain percentage of our mis-
sionaries to the ‘unreached’ parts of the world”

Project 250 Priority #5 — Growing to Reflect the Demographic Realities of our Com-
munities

On March 7 and 8,2022 I led the quarterly Fan into Flame Zoom conversation,
this one entitled, “Women in Ministry Leadership in the Scriptures and in Your
Congregation.” I included a study guide, and the very important study paper from
Dr. Tim Fisher on I Timothy 2:11-12.

Beyond Project 250, Dr. Bill Beachy, Ashland Theological Seminary, has been
instrumental in us establishing “Cared for While Leading.” From September 2021
through April 2022, ten GLC pastors completed a Thriving Church Ministries
training with Dr. Beachy. I am inviting these ten pastors to be connected to three
other pastors in the GLC, thus covering all 40 ministry points. Dr. Beachy will
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be providing training for these ten pastors to be qualified to give the Strength
Deployment Inventory 2.0, and he will be meeting with these ten leaders, typi-
cally once per month, September 2022 through April 2023. The plan is that the
ten leaders will meet with three other assigned pastors of the GLC eight times per
year, such that all pastors are “Cared for While Leading” The GLC is providing

modest remuneration for the ten leaders.

The GLC Annual Meeting was conducted on April 22 and 23, 2022. This was a
first for us to have both an in-person gathering at Lakeview Community Church
in Goodrich, Mich., but also to have persons be able to participate online.
Administrative assistant, Dyan Garner, and Pastor Vicki Podjasck, of The Seed
(theseed.online), did outstanding technical work. Given the geographic spread of
the GLC, this pattern no doubt will be repeated. Beth Saba, daughter of former
GLC bishop, Carl Ulery, participated online, and she wrote afterward, “We were
inspired, educated, and challenged.” The Spirit of God met us both in the

in-person gathering, and online!

Lynn Thrush

Bishop

LTHRUSH@BICUS.ORG
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2. Financial and Statistical Report

Sites 2021 2020

Total number of sites 40 39
Under 25 14 15
25-50 15 16
51-75 7 4
76-100 3 3
101-150 - -
151-200 - -
201-300 - -
301-500 - -
501-750 - -
751-1,000 - -
1,001-2,000 - -

Congregations started - -

Congregations closed - -

Congregations adopted 2 -
Pastors 2021 2020
Full-time lead pastors 15 15
Bivocational lead pastors 25 24
Profile 2021 2020
Membership 1,172 1,287
Attendance 1,372 1,219
Baptisms 31 30
Percentage of unrestricted congregational

income given to Common Ministry (CM) 2021 2020
Percentage given to CM from

congregations that reported 7.9% 7.8%
Estimated percentage given to CM

from congregations that did not report* 4.7% 1.1%
Aggregate total 7.6% 7.3%

Compiled from 2021 and 2020 end-of-year reports. Discrepancies in figures from year to year may
be due to lack of congregational reporting. Contact regional conference office if you have questions.

*For congregations that didn’t report in a given year, income numbers from other years were used
to calculate these percentages. Congregations that failed to complete the BIC U.S. end-of-year
survey for the past three years were excluded.



F. Midwest Conference

1. General Report

The Midwest Region is delighted to be hosting the 2022 General Assembly at CrossRoads
Church in Salina, Kans. The last time this event was held in the Midwest was in 1951.

The Midwest Region is made up of 19 congregations, working to live out their faith in their
various communities. Although we have the same Savior and Lord, each church is unique.
Our Conference Vision is “25 by 25” ... a region of 25 churches by the year 2025. With
God’s help, we believe that is doable.

All Midwest churches survived the Covid-19 pandemic, and most have come back strong
with attendance levels nearing pre-Covid levels. Many of our churches are actually seeing
new faces. People are secking the hope and assurance that only Jesus can provide.

One of our newer congregations, Broken Walls Fellowship in Albuquerque, NM, hosted
our annual regional meeting this year. A Midwest Ministry Leaders Retreat followed in
Durango, Colo.

We have been working to bring the three World Missions ministries in the Four Corners
area of New Mexico under the oversight of the regional conference bishop. The transition is
going well, but it is a process. We have some dedicated workers there.

Two growth points have opened up for the Midwest since our last General Assembly. The
first is in the area of “Cowboy Churches.” This is a growing movement on the plains and
taps into the western heritage culture that marks much of Kansas, Oklahoma, and Texas.
The Midwest Conference is now home to three of these churches. One way to describe
these works would be: “Same Gospel, Different Package.”

A second growth point with great potential here in the Midwest comes in the area of
Hispanic ministries. The dramatic growth of Aliento de Vida in Salina, Kans. has drawn the
attention of other Hispanic works in Kansas and Oklahoma. Several of these churches have
come together to discuss the possibility of an association of Spanish-speaking BIC churches
in the Midwest. This could bring new works to our conference in coming years. This will

be both challenging and rewarding. We are finding that people of many cultures want to

be part of something bigger than themselves and that the BIC Core Values and Doctrinal
Statement are attractive to those looking for a church family. God is growing his Kingdom.

As all of us have, the Midwest Conference faced some big challenges in the last biennium.
But churches in the Midwest have risen to the occasion. The call to save souls and grow the
Kingdom is still at the top of our priority list. We are praying that we reach our goal of “25
by 25”. We want to see lives changed through God’s grace and truth. We ask you to pray

with us.

Ron Bowell
Bishop RBOWELL@BICUS.ORG
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2. Midwest Financial and Statistical Report

Sites 2021 2020

Total number of sites 19 17
Under 25 7 S
25-50 3 3
S1-75 2 2
76-100 2 2
101-150 2 2
151-200 1 1
201-300 - -
301-500 1 1
501-750 - -
751-1,000 - -
1,001-2,000 - -

Congregations started 2 -

Congregations closed - -

Congregations adopted - -

Pastors 2021 2020
Full-time lead pastors 8 8
Bivocational lead pastors 11 9
Profile 2021 2020
Membership 783 864
Attendance 1,286 1,332
Baptisms 58 27
Percentage of unrestricted congregational

income given to Common Ministry (CM) 2021 2020
Percentage given to CM from

congregations that reported 7.2% 8.6%
Estimated percentage given to CM

from congregations that did not report* 3.5% 9.9%
Aggregate total 6.9% 8.6%

Compiled from 2021 and 2020 end-of-year reports. Discrepancies in figures from year to year may
be due to lack of congregational reporting. Contact regional conference office if you have questions.

*For congregations that didn’t report in a given year, income numbers from other years were used
to calculate these percentages. Congregations that failed to complete the BIC U.S. end-of-year
survey for the past three years were excluded.



G. Pacific Conference

1. General Report

Without question ministry is a long, hard race. The writer of the book of Hebrews knew
something about this when writing, “Therefore, since we are surrounded by such a great
cloud of witnesses, let us throw off everything that hinders and the sin that so easily en-
tangles. And let us run with perseverance the race marked out for us” (Hebrews 12:1).

The past two years have provided a multitude of challenges that have hindered ministry in

our local congregations and conference institutions. We have had to throw off discourage-

ment, divisiveness, and fear. We have had to lay aside all those things that so easily entangle
us.

But now it is time to return to running with perseverance the race marked out for us. Even
though I am handing the relay baton to someone else in this role of bishop, I am no less
motivated to see the work of the BIC and the Pacific Conference move forward in strength,
vitality, and faith.

Here is a summary of some of the happenings in the BIC Pacific in the past year.

HAPPENINGS IN THE BIC PACIFIC (2021)

e BIC Advent Sing/Sounds of the Season
This annual event was held on Dec. 5,2021 at GracePoint Church’s new facility in
Chino, Calif. This marked the first time our BIC Pacific churches have gathered
together in person since December 2019. There was a great sense of joy and encourage-
ment as the churches joined together in worship and fellowship after a long time apart.
Thanks to Jeff Keneaster, our interim connection team leader, for his incredible leader-
ship for this event.

o  BIC Pacific Internship Program
This past fall we launched our Pacific Conference Internship Program with three
interns rotating between 4 congregations for 6 weeks at a time. The internships con-
cluded in May 2022 and are scheduled to resume with a new cohort of interns in the

Fall of 2022.

e Purchase of Alpine Camp and Conference Center
Mile High Pines purchased this 48-acre camp in Lake Arrowhead, Calif,, and is now
officially a property owner for the first time in its 70-year history. Until now, Mile
High Pines has run camps on land leased from the U.S. Forest Service. A group called
“Friends of Alpine,” (supporters of Alpine Camp) and an additional donor have
reduced the amount borrowed on the $4.9 million purchase price to only $1.3 million.
We praise God for this new addition to our Pacific Conference ministries.

e Conference Ministries Reconvene
Our Growing Healthy Churches Network resumed meeting in person the beginning
0£2022 but had to return to meeting virtually due to the uptick in Covid-19 cases over
the holidays. We were so blessed to be able to meet together face-to-face for our 2022
Annual Meeting at Upland BIC Church on April 23, 2022.
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CONGREGATION LOST DUE TO COVID-19

o Pangea Community (Seattle, WA) was a casualty of the pandemic. Many core families
moved out of Seattle during 2020-2021, and so Pangea could not sustain its ministries.
Pastor Kurt and Lauren Willems accepted a call to a North American Baptist church in
Calgary, Alberta, Canada.

PASSINGS

o PASTOR LUIS ARIAS, founding pastor of our Agua Viva Church in Riverside,
Calif,, passed away on January 29, 2022, at the age of 80.

e CHUCK DAWES, pastoral overseer of the Waukena Community Church in Tulare,
Calif,, passed away on January 30, 2022, at the age of 78. Then, on April 5, Chuck’s

widow, Betty, followed him to Heaven.

LEADERSHIP SEARCHES
e Madison Street (Riverside, CA) pastoral search (half-time)

e  Waukena Community Church (Tulare, CA) pastoral search (part-time)
o  Pacific Community Center (Upland, CA) executive director search (full-time)

e  BIC Pacific Bishop (half-time) — National Director Alan Robinson along with our
Pacific Board of Directors are leading the search process for the new Pacific Confer-
ence bishop.

PERSONAL

On August 1, 2002, I began my job as Bishop of the Midwest and Pacific Conferences

of the BIC Church. As my first official action as Bishop, I thought it best to designate a
Conference-wide Day of Prayer for both Conferences. I determined that the best way to
begin this new role was to follow the admonition of Proverbs 16:3: “Commit to the Lord
whatever you do, and your plans will succeed.”

Since that day almost 20 years ago, I have done all that I could to commit my ways to the
Lord and serve the Church to the best of my abilities. I've administered dozens of pastoral
reviews, attended hundreds of meetings, had thousands of conversations, and travelled
hundreds-of-thousands of miles to tend to the Lord’s work. Together as Midwest and Pa-
cific Conferences, we planted churches, and as well have had to close some churches along
the way. In the end, it is only because of God’s steadfast love if any of my plans — our

plans — have succeeded in any way.

One thing I DO know for certain is that God has always been faithful through good times
and bad. I also know that Marta and T have ALWAYS felt supported by YOU, our brothers
and sisters of the Midwest and Pacific Conferences and the BIC U.S. There has never been
a time that we have doubted for a moment your love and care for us and our family. Your
kindness and encouragement have been what has strengthened and sustained us, even when
we walked through the darkest of our days. For this we will be eternally grateful.
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I count it a privilege for the BIC Church to have allowed Marta and me to serve in the role
of Bishop for the past two decades. The opportunities we have been given and the relation-
ships we have been able to build have enriched our lives in unimaginable ways. My hope is
that the Midwest and Pacific Conferences will have received even a fraction of the blessings
that Marta and I and our family have been afforded by serving in this way.

One final word. All of you who labor on behalf of Christ’s church are my heroes. Whether
it’s in a pastoral role, ministry team leader, Leadership Council member, board or ministry
team member, or as a lay volunteer in a local congregation. I have seen your devotion to
Jesus and know how hard you work.

Your perseverance in running “the race marked out for you” and keeping your eyes “fixed
on Jesus, the author and perfecter of our faith” — especially during the past two years — has
inspired me and made me more committed than ever to seeing the church of Jesus Christ
flourish. This is one of the primary reasons I made the decision to return to pastoral work at
Upland BIC. Ilook forward to working alongside you, my fellow brother and sister pastors,
in the coming days, with my greatest desire being to see lives changed for Christ.

May Jesus forever be at the heart of the life and ministry of the BIC Church. Commit to

him whatever you do and know for certain that he will make your plans succeed.

Perry Engle
Bishop BICPACIFIC@BICUS.ORG
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2. Pacific Financial and Statistical Report

Sites 2021 2020

Total number of sites 19 21
Under 25 7 7
25-50 4 7
S1-75 2 2
76-100 1 1
101-150 3 2
151-200 2 2
201-300 - -
301-500 - -
501-750 - -
751-1,000 - -
1,001-2,000 - -

Congregations started - -
Congregations closed 2 -

Congregations adopted - -

Pastors 2021 2020
Full-time lead pastors 12 13
Bivocational lead pastors 7 8
Profile 2021 2020
Membership 830 678
Attendance 1,180 1,173
Baptisms 26 17
Percentage of unrestricted congregational

income given to Common Ministry (CM) 2021 2020
Percentage given to CM from

congregations that reported 9.0% 6.2%
Estimated percentage given to CM

from congregations that did not report* 2.8% 1.3%
Aggregate total 8.7% 5.3%

Compiled from 2021 and 2020 end-of-year reports. Discrepancies in figures from year to year may
be due to lack of congregational reporting. Contact regional conference office if you have questions.

*For congregations that didn’t report in a given year, income numbers from other years were used
to calculate these percentages. Congregations that failed to complete the BIC U.S. end-of-year
survey for the past three years were excluded.



H. Southeast Conference

1. General Report

If T were to share the day-to-day and the different situations faced in our region, the report
would be extensive. Here are some highlights.

Undoubtedly, we are still experiencing the consequences of the pandemic. “Bishop, the
rapture has come, the pandemic rapture that has taken many from our churches,” said a
pastor. This indeed happened, and because of it, some weakened in their faith while others
stayed home doing online church shopping. However, many churches are experiencing new
converts and are making disciples; God always has a remnant.

The Southeast Conference has 48 congregations in the US and 44 internationally. We

are experiencing exponential growth in different locations where the gospel is starting to
spread; we are working for them to become congregations. In the past two years as a region,
we have had four churches disassociate from the BIC and four new churches birthed. We
continue to work on new church plants that are birthed with our BIC DNA and with a
desire to see the lost saved. We also want to have more English-speaking ministries started.

“My times are in your hands” and “pastoral care” have served as our themes for this bien-
nium. We recognize that the current situations merited a closer look into how pastors care
for themselves, their family, and ultimately their congregations, as well as how we should
live a day at a time knowing who holds the future. These themes overlap our most impor-
tant project, Project 250. All our pastors and congregations are aware of our goals for 2028
and are working on them.

We are very involved in the vision and mission of turning the Rescate Retreat Center into a
shelter for immigrant children. We are grateful to Rachel Diaz, lawyer and GCB member,
along with Jose Lemus, our board of directors treasurer, who have taken on this project.
Their effort is met with the help of Mennonite Disaster Service, which has been a great
blessing. Join us in prayer as we hope to see this project come to fruition soon.

In November 2021, we held a convention in the Dominican Republic to establish a local
leader and board so that they can begin to work independently. We will continue taking
steps for them to become their own conference, as with the rest of the countries under our
supervision.

W are happy to say that our missionaries Yosuel and Jacqui Medina, who work with the
tribes of the Amazon in Ecuador, are now in partnership with BIC U.S. World Missions.

Without a doubt, we are in an interesting, prophetic moment in history and each one of us

has been chosen by God to establish his kingdom and lift his name on high.
To him be the glory and praise, forever and ever. Amen.

Aner Morejon
Bishop AMOREJON@BICUS.ORG
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2. Financial and Statistical Report

Sites 2021 2020

Total number of sites 49 50
Under 25 12 14
25-50 18 15
51-75 5 6
76-100 6 6
101-150 2 3
151-200 - 1
201-300 1 1
301-500 3 2
501-750 2 2
751-1,000 - -
1,001-2,000 - -

Congregations started - -
Congregations closed 2 2

Congregations adopted - -

Pastors 2021 2020
Full-time lead pastors 25 25
Bivocational lead pastors 24 25
Profile 2021 2020
Membership 1,855 3,244
Attendance 4,524 4,556
Baptisms 67 103
Percentage of unrestricted congregational

income given to Common Ministry (CM) 2021 2020
Percentage given to CM from

congregations that reported 1.8% 1.7%
Estimated percentage given to CM

from congregations that did not report* 1.0% 0.8%
Aggregate total 1.5% 1.5%

Compiled from 2021 and 2020 end-of-year reports. Discrepancies in figures from year to year may
be due to lack of congregational reporting. Contact regional conference office if you have questions.

*For congregations that didn’t report in a given year, income numbers from other years were used
to calculate these percentages. Congregations that failed to complete the BIC U.S. end-of-year
survey for the past three years were excluded.



I. Susquehanna Conference

1. General Report

It has been a joy serving the Susquehanna Conference for the past year-and-a-half, first with
the bishop leadership team and now as bishop. The past number of years have brought a
series of multiple leadership transitions for our region. As we have navigated these changes
together, we have been learning from our experiences, and our next steps are becoming
clearer.

We multiply effectiveness by diversifying leadership

Over the past biennium, Rob Douglass, Layne Lebo, and I led the first regional
shared-leadership model as a Bishop Leadership Team. During that period, we experienced
relational growth and increased momentum in different aspects of regional conference min-
istry. We have been able to better encourage and develop a much broader scope of congrega-
tions, movements, and leaders by leading together (Project 250, Priorities 3 and 5). While
we have seen great value in leading as a team, we have also acknowledged the need for one
person to be available as a full-time visionary leader. For this reason, we have decided to go
back to the full-time bishop model while still maintaining a shared-leadership structure. I
am very grateful for the gifts, experience, and passion that each of the individuals on our
team offer and their willingness to continue serving in this way. In the future, you will hear
us refer to the Susquehanna Conference Bishop and Conference Leadership Team.

We pursue shared goals in each of our unique local contexts

Just as every team member brings a unique perspective and set of gifts to the conference
leadership team, each of our pastors and churches has been created and called uniquely to
serve their community. Our conference is just beginning to re-envision common goals and
a shared vision that will be carried out with creativity and diversity in each of our local com-
munities. In this way, we hope to celebrate our common BIC identity (Project 250, Priority
1) while clarifying and exploring new ways in which God is leading us to more effectively
further his kingdom in our region (Project 250, Priorities 2, 3, and 5).

We develop and maintain relationships from which we live, lead, and experience trans-
formation

As BIC brothers and sisters, we have always valued community (Project 250, Priority 1).
Yet, we recognize that sometimes we are better at speaking about the value of community
than we are at living it out. What is more, most of us are tempted to isolate in times of
transition and challenge. We have experienced some of that in our region over the past
number of years and are working toward intentionally reconnecting and investing in each
other’s lives through clusters, shared experiences, and church partnerships. In many ways,
we are relearning the value of community as we choose to be more aware and invested in
each other’s lives.

We commit to God’s new and renewing work in our midst

God has always been faithful and good. He continues to move in our lives, in our congrega-
tions, and in our communities. Yet, we have been grieved to close five churches in the past
four years. Even as we lament these losses, we are asking how we can partner with God to
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re-energize waning congregations and launch new works. The conference has been engaging
revitalization projects with local churches, has planted a new Spanish-speaking congrega-
tion, and is engaging in more conversations about creative ways God may be moving us
forward in multiplication (Project 250, Priority 3). These are exciting times!

While the Beaty family has also experienced multiple transitions the past few years, we are
thankful for our BIC family and grateful to be serving. We are glad to be part of a com-
munity who appreciates the gifting and calling of both men and women and are willing to
creatively explore appropriate ways for a husband and wife to both utilize those gifts in the
Church. We are particularly grateful that our brother Bryan Hoke is willing to administer
bishop responsibilities for The Meeting House (Catlisle, Pa.) so that both Bob and I can
serve in the Susquehanna Conference.

Our desire is to know Jesus more intimately and declare his Good News fearlessly. We want
to see his kingdom increase and are grateful to be able to partner together toward that end.
I am thankful to be part of this work in the Susquehanna Conference and thankful for the

team of pastors and leaders working together here.

Heather Beaty
Bishop HBEATY@BICUS.ORG
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2. Financial and Statistical Report

Sites 2021 2020
Total number of sites 32 34
Under 25 5 4
25-50 7 10
51-75 5 4
76-100 3 1
101-150 1 3
151-200 2 2
201-300 4 3
301-500 1 2
501-750 1 -
751-1,000 - -
1,001-2,000 - 1
Congregations started - -
Congregations closed 1 -
Congregations adopted - -
Pastors 2021 2020
Full-time lead pastors 18 20
Bivocational lead pastors 8 7
Profile 2021 2020
Membership 2,805 2,324
Attendance 3,326 3,962
Baptisms 156 87
Percentage of unrestricted congregational
income given to Common Ministry (CM) 2021 2020
Percentage given to CM from
congregations that reported 10.5% 11.1%
Estimated percentage given to CM
from congregations that did not report* 5.9% =
Aggregate total 10.4% 11.1%

Compiled from 2021 and 2020 end-of-year reports. Discrepancies in figures from year to year may
be due to lack of congregational reporting. Contact regional conference office if you have questions.

*For congregations that didn’t report in a given year, income numbers from other years were used
to calculate these percentages. Congregations that failed to complete the BIC U.S. end-of-year
survey for the past three years were excluded.

**All congregations reported this year.



J. Commission for BIC U.S. World Missions

Ever since we came up out of the river, God has been working among the BIC. About 100
years into that work in North America, at Bethel church in Kansas, Rhoda Lee spoke to our
General Assembly and challenged us to begin an overseas missions program. That was about
half of our denominational lifetime ago. Since that time, BIC missionaries from North
America (along with BIC brothers and sisters from other nations) have shared the good
news of Jesus in many ways and in many locations around the world. Their efforts were
possible because of the prayer and financial support they received from BIC churches and
individuals, and their work was blessed by God and bore much fruit. As a result, we now
have approximately 150,000 BIC brothers and sisters in more than 20 different countries
around the world.

For many of the 100+ years of BIC missions history, the world was experiencing uncer-
tainty, fear, and darkness. But God was working. I want to remind us that despite many un-
certainties in the world and perhaps even in our own lives, God continues to rescue people
out of darkness, and he continues to expect us to participate in his redemptive mission. As
an involved member of the BIC U.S., you ARE participating. In your local church context,
in your daily lives, and also in the support you provide to the missions department of the
BIC U.S., you are a part of God’s rescue mission. We are expecting 52 missionaries to join
us at General Assembly, and each of them would love to share with you the fruit of this
mission in their areas of service. If you need help locating them, come to the BIC U.S. table,
or join one of the prayer gatherings happening before each Assembly session in the multi-
purpose room at CrossRoads Church. If you are reading this report but are unable to attend
General Assembly this year, we encourage you to join the global prayer gathering that takes
place each week by Zoom. To find out more about the prayer gathering, or to ask any other
questions you have about our global mission efforts, email missions@bicus.org. Prayer
remains a foundational way to support God’s work around the world.

We want to highlight and celebrate just a few of the ways God has been working through

our shared missions efforts:

e Wk continue to experience the fruit of helping international leaders receive training.
In 2020 we were able to provide scholarships to 90 international leaders. In 2021 we
provided 77 scholarships.

o Wk are partnering with Gateway Karis Church to equip leaders from Asia. This initia-
tive is growing! In 2022, participants from Japan, Korea, and Thailand plan to receive
theological training and relational encouragement through this work. We are excited
for the possibilities of increased regional collaboration and support.

o The work in both the Middle East and Spain is projected to expand. New missionaries
are in the deployment pipeline, and existing missionaries are engaging in
disciple-making relationships in significant ways.

e Wk are working to expand the SPICE program into Mozambique.

e The Zambian BIC church has significant strengths in education. Zambian church
leaders are planninga trip to assist leaders in Malawi, where education is difficult to
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access and often poorly resourced.

o Inaday when it is difficult to find people willing to invest their lives into bringing the
gospel to the nations, God has provided a great global team! You can see the number of
BIC missionaries in various relationships with us in the chart below.

Missionary Census from 2011 to 2022
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2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Associate Missionaries 8 8 10 18 18 21 23 23 22 22 22 22
Partner Missionaries 6 8 8 10 8 7 7 7 9 9 9 12
[ Global Volunteers 8 6 3 4 3 6 4 3 3 7 4 1
[Covenant Missionaries 55 53 49 46 45 44 42 42 a9 46 49 44
| Total | 77 | 75 | 70 | 78 | 74 | 78 | 76 | 75 | 83 | 84 | 84 | 79 |

There are a lot of ways for you to spend your life. Many things compete for your attention
and, by extension, your time and money. And Jesus said that where your treasure is, there
your heart is as well. Let’s remember that God’s work for us in the world - loving him,
loving our neighbors, and loving our enemies - is worth our attention, our time, and our
money. God has already prepared opportunities for each of us to do this work, and when we
participate with it, we get the joy of seeing fruit from our efforts. When a group of us joins
together in this work for the long term, the collective fruit can be amazing, like our BIC
missions fruit of the past 128 years.

Although many things have changed in the BIC over our 244 years, we remain committed
to worshipping, loving, obeying, and serving the God of the universe. This gives us reason
to rejoice because we are secure in his love, we have fellowship with him, and we can be part
of something eternally significant every day. Let us commit together to continue in the path
begun for us by our spiritual great-grandparents. Let’s do our part of God’s work faithfully,
and then we can rejoice in the harvest together.

Jonathan Lloyd
Director, BIC U.S. World Missions JLLOYD@BICUS.ORG

33



Personnel Assignments

Personnel assigned to service under the Commission for World Missions since 2020 General
Assembly. Dates indicate beginning of assignment or start of new term.

Category of Service  Name Country/Region Date
Covenant missionary Josué and Mercy Abreu Spain 2021
Estol and Kristen Bathurst Malawi 2019
Tony and Veronica Beers Zambia 2018
Nathan and Cathy Bert Honduras 2021
Bruce and Merly Bundy Spain 2021
Mike and Lori Cassel Guatemala 2019
Denise Conway Four Corners 2020
Kris G. Thailand 2022
D.and M.G. Middle East 2021
CFE Michigan 2021
L.H. Middle East 2018
Orville and Cheryl Hade Mozambique 2019
Chris and Kara K. Spain 2021
David and Patricia Miller Québec 2020
Doug and Barb Miller Malawi 2020
Glenn and Glenda Moyer Colombia 2018
Brian and Rochelle Myers Four Corners 2022
Jason and Rebekah Oberholser Four Corners 2021
P.and H.R. United States 2021
Mark and Maggie Roth Zambia 2019
Amanda Schwartzentruber Zambia 2019
Jay and Judy Smith International 2021
Ben and Funice Stoner Four Corners 2020
Mim Stern United States 2022
Donald and Karen Vundhla Southern Africa 2021
Silk W. Thailand 2020
Partner missionary M. & A.B. Middle East 2021
A.H. Sensitive environment 2021
Ben and Lindsey Newton United Kingdom 2022
T.S. Sensitive environment 2020
Sophie Thiesen United States 2021
T.and AW. Pakistan 2021
Chad and Michelle Wenger United States 2022
Global volunteer Yolanda Rice Colombia 2022
J. & K.B. Sensitive environment 2021
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The following missionaries are employed by other sending organizations but maintain an
associate relationship with BIC U.S. World Missions.

Category of Service  Name Country/Region Date
Associate missionary Chris and Marlys Book Zambia 2022
Jonatan and Jennifer Cordova Mexico 2019
Dan and Karen D. India 2021
Weston and Jess Martin United States 2022
Yosuel and Jacqueline Medina  Ecuador 2022
Jonathan & Laurie Raber Peru 2022
Paul and Anita Pawelski Ecuador 2021
Francis and Audrey Sims Rwanda 2020
Eric and Corie Thuma* Zambia 2020
M. and J.W. West Africa 2021

*Service already completed
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K. Commission on Ministry and Doctrine

The Commission on Ministry and Doctrine (CMD) exists to administer the credentialing
process, to facilitate the equipping of our ministers, and to give attention to the doctrinal
integrity of the church. This is so that we have a continually renewed cadre of men and
women who are able to lead our congregations and ministries in the biblical and balanced
understanding of Christian faith for which the Brethren in Christ have long been known.

In order to achieve these objectives, the CMD utilizes a number of strategies and tools.
These include a This I Believe form, a Doctrinal Questionnaire, a DQ interview, and four
Core Courses that equip individuals with Brethren in Christ understandings in specific
theological and practical theology matters. The Directed Study Program meets the re-
quirements for ordination for those who do not have the necessary theological education.
Ministry training also provides courses and seminars that facilitate lifelong BIC learning
and development for our pastors and leaders.

Credentialing

The Commission reviewed and revised the process by which an individual can explore
ministerial credentialing and service with Brethren in Christ U.S. The current process places
responsibility with each bishop to meet with potential ministry candidates at the beginning
of the process. The bishop’s recommendation is necessary for the individual to receive a
three-year provisional license and to proceed in the credentialing process. The Commission
met with members of Leadership Council to review how well the process is working and
what further revisions would be helpful.

During this biennium the Commission issued 56 provisional licenses and reviewed 43
doctrinal questionnaires. The Commission conducted 26 DQ interviews and approved 24
of these candidates for six-year licenses. In consultation with the Leadership Council, the
Commission authorized 7 ordinations.

In addition to the issuing of licenses, the Commission is responsible for the review of minis-
terial credentials. Currently a minister’s credentials are reviewed every six years. At the time
of renewal the credentialed person must submit completed documents that confirm his/her
ongoing commitment to Brethren in Christ U.S. and also his/her understanding of our
Aprticles of Faith and Doctrine. In addition, the individual must also list his/her completion
of lifelong Brethren in Christ learning. Occasionally, in the review of these documents, the
Commission finds that further conversation with an individual is required before a final
decision can be made on the renewal (or not) of a minister’s credentials.

Ministry Training

Twenty years ago the Commission on Ministry and Doctrine (CMD) established the
Equipping for Ministry team to provide theological education for the denomination. Today
the CMD makes theological education opportunities available to both credentialed and lay
persons in the U.S.

In 2020 and 2021 the total enrollment for the Core Courses was 133 and 168 respectively.
In addition to the courses being offered in English, we also offered them in Spanish.
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The 2021 Impact Seminar was entitled Zhe Basin and the Towel: Approaching Global Minis-
try Through Servanthood based on Priority #4 of Project 250 (Increasing Global Awareness

and Impact). These seminars were held in each regional conference with 277 individuals

registered.

The Directed Study Program (DSP) was launched in fall 2004. The enrollment was 97 in
2020 calendar year with 132 for 2021. To date there have been 84 graduates and more than
fifty percent of whom have been ordained or are serving in some staff capacity. Currently

about forty-five percent of those taking courses are laypersons. The graduates this biennium
are: Heather Beaty, Rosett Sibona-Moyo, Diana Reinert, and M. Brandon Horton.

We are grateful for the volunteer work of members of the Commission — Constain Car-
rillo, Alan Claassen Thrush, Rob Douglass, Lynda Gephart, Lawton Jacobs, Jeft Piepho,
and Zach Spidel. They are diligent in reading doctrinal questionnaires, tackling theological

issues with diligence and discernment, honoring deceased ministers in the memorial service

at General Assembly, and facilitating the equipping of our ministers.

The Commission has helped equip 16 seminarians and pastors with financial assistance so

that they could continue their education.

In all of its work, the Commission on Ministry and Doctrine desires to credential and

equip men and women of God who faithfully live and passionately proclaim the gospel

call to know, love, and follow Jesus. Knowing that the biblical convictions the Brethren in

Christ espouse will fade if not continually reinforced and retold, the CMD desires to train

pastors and teachers who are able and ready to pass on the biblical and balanced under-
standing of the Christian faith described in our Articles of Faith and Doctrine.

Ordained during the 2020-2022 Biennium:

Heather Beaty
Jay Johnson
Jan Latshaw

Jeff McKinnon

Galen Oakes

Licensed during the 2020-2022 biennium:

Phillip Allen
Lyle Blackketter
Darrell Breeden
Jordan Burton
Peter Byers
Douglas Castillo
Edwin Chang
Brenton Clark
Marissa Cowan
Chris Danielson
Ronald Davis, Jr.

Dennis Ho

Kenneth Hoover
Yuniel Iglesias

Todd Johns
Aleksandar Jovanovic
Christopher Kacmar
W. David Kent
Daniel Kim

Emily Kim

Sungbin Kim

Yoo Kevin Kim

Esther Spurrier
Chad Wenger

Angel Pacz
Lazaro Perez
Matthew Peterson
Carmen Rivera
Jose Luis Rodriguez
David Salas
Jaylene Shannon
Ryan Skove
Naomi Smith
Joshuah Song
Pedro Sotolongo
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Juan Pablo de la Cruz
James Dinger

Luke Donner

David Downey
Shelley Eichelberger
Perla Fiallo

Bruce Hansen
Jennifer Hickey

Alan Robinson
National Director, BIC U.S.

Joseph Kopp
Daniel Lee

Richard McDonald
Collen McGee
Jeffrey Moore
Dwight Myers
Hannah Niesley

Brooke Norton

Ryan Stockton
Daniel Storm
Bryce Taylor
Michael Thomas
Ronald Wilson
Randi Wolf
David Yun

AROBINSON@BICUS.ORG
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L. BIC U.S. Financial Reports

Condensed Statement of Activities

Ministry RECEiptS 2022* s orroma 2021 sortoma 2020**  sortoral
Undesignated Giving $ 2,945,202 63% $ 2845844 54% $ 2,845,337 53%
Designated Giving 1,612,925 34% 2,356,987 45% 2,023,462 37%
Registrations and Other 135,638 3% 21,977 1% 535,044  10%
Total Operating Receipts $ 4,693,765 $ 5224,808 $ 5,403,843
Endowments $ - $ 2,000 $ 2,000

Bequests 11,904 181,344 227,186
Investment Gain/(Loss) 531,797 1,314,073 1,251,307

Total Other $ 543,701 $ 1,497,417 $ 1,480,493

Total Receipts $ 5,237,466 $ 6,722,225 $ 6,884,336

Common Ministry Expenditures

Regional Ministry $ 1,422,241 26% $ 1,263,181 27% $ 1,265,239 28%
National Ministry 587,140 11% 378,811 8% 383,020 9%
Global Ministry 2,258,057 41% 2,130,466  46% 1,989,357  44%
Shared Services 837,631 15% 676,076 15% 604,009  13%
Project 250 and Build the Future 339,941 6% 10,801 0% - 0%
Related Agencies 66,512 1% 58,892 1% 66,405 1%
DB Pension Costs - 0% 142,167 3% 243,513 5%

Total Common

Ministry Expenditures $ 5,511,522 $ 4,660,394 $ 4,551,543

Ministry Projects

Receipts $ 723,906 $ 1,007,890 $ 659,503
Disbursements (834,799) (766,122) (644,797)
Total Ministry Projects $ (110,893) $ 241,768 $ 14,706
Change in Net Assets $  (384,949) $ 2,303,599 $ 2,347,499
(Increase)/Decrease in

Pension Underfunding™ - 190,253 (316,370)
Total Change in Net Assets  $  (384,949) $ 2,493,852 $ 2,031,129

*Figures based on 2022 budget
*¥2021 and 2020 figures are audited
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M. BIC Pension Fund - Defined Benefit Plan

Statement of Net Assets Available for Benefits

Assets 2021 2020
Cash in Financial Institutions $ 182,048 $ 76,995
Investments 5,835,336 5,491,318
Receivables 31,163 48,110
Total Assets $ 6,048,547 $ 5,616,423
Liabilities and Net Assets

Accounts Payable $ 26,267 $ 20,631
Net Assets Available for Benefits 6,072,280 5,595,792
Total Liabilities and Net Assets $ 6,098,547 $ 5,616,423

Statement of Changes in Net Assets Available For Benefits

Additions to Net Assets

Available for Benefits 2021 2020
Net Appreciation (Depreciation)

in FMV of Investments $ 192,089 $ 119,985
Interest and Dividends 130,464 137,132
Defined Benefit Contributions 809,265 800,002
Total Additions to Net Assets $ 1,131,818 $ 1,057,119
Deductions from Net Assets Available for Benefits

Annuity Payments to Participants $ 601,747 $ 608,213
Lump Sum Payments to Participants 28,618 57,658
Administrative Expenses 24,965 9,758
Total Deductions from Net Assets $ 655,330 $ 675,629
Net Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets

Available for Benefits $ 476,488 $ 381,490
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N. Brethren in Christ Foundation

1. General Report

The Brethren in Christ Foundation (Foundation) exists to serve the Brethren in Christ U.S.
(BIC US.) and its congregations and members through lending, investing, planned giving,
and services to the BIC US. retirement plan. The Foundation has helped congregations
large and small, old and new, continue to grow and to serve God’s Kingdom for nearly 50
years. Our members have made it possible to meet this need through faithful investing and
giving.

The Foundation continues to enhance the services and programs offered to our denomina-
tion. As we enter our 50* year of service to BIC U.S., our goal is to continue to expand our
services.

Securities

Since 2020, the amount invested in the Brotherhood Loan Fund (BLF) has increased $3.0
million for a total of $49.2 million. The Foundation continues to offer a variety of securities
for investors seeking a conservative alternative while supporting the ministry of local BIC
U.S. congregations.

Our investment in operations software has resulted in expanded capabilities both opera-
tionally and online. Operationally, our software has enabled us to become more efficient
and accurate. Our online presence has increased dramatically in the last two years. Investors
can now initiate withdrawals and deposits through our website.

Loans

Since 2020, the loan portfolio has decreased by almost $1 million. We rejoice with our bor-
rowers who have been blessed with the funds necessary to pay off their loans early. Demand
for loans from the Foundation hit a momentary lull as we dealt with Covid-19. In recent

months, opportunities have increased. It is our expectation that the loan portfolio will grow

to pre-Covid levels by the end of 2022.

BIC U.S. Retirement Plan Service

The Foundation serves as the third-party administrator (TPA) for the Brethren in Christ Pen-
sion Fund. The Pension Fund has two different retirement programs.

The Defined Benefit program has been frozen to new participants since 2009. As TPA the
Foundation is responsible for managing the investments for the Trustees, distributing benefits,
and ensuring the accurate reporting of financial data.

The 403(b)(9) is the primary retirement program for the employees of the congregations

of the BIC US. As TPA, the Foundation is tasked with all operational and administrative
functions to ensure the compliance of the retirement plan. The Foundation has invested in
software and other resources to improve the accessibility of the plan to both employers and
participants. In the coming months all functions will be managed through the Relius system.
This system will provide casier and more immediate information to all stakeholders.
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The Foundation is in the developmental phase of a new strategic plan for the future. The goal
of the plan will be to have a blueprint for future growth. The Foundation and its staff are
continually evolving and changing to better serve our investors and congregations. We look
forward to serving the greater Church for at least another 50 years.

James Reynolds
Executive Director JREYNOLDS@BICFOUNDATION.ORG
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O. AWAKEN: BIC Network for Women in Ministry

Awaken, a BIC Network for Women in Ministry and Leadership, serves the Church by
linking together women and men committed to supporting and advocating for women
called to ministry and by helping them prepare and find a place to use their God-given gifts.

The Awaken Leadership Team connects women in all regions of the denomination and
meets regularly to consider how they may better equip, engage, and empower women who
are serving in ministry positions. Based on a 2021 statistic, it is exciting to know there are
176 women who are serving in staff positions in BIC congregations. Thirty-five (35) staff
women are fully or provisionally licensed and 5 staff women are ordained. Recently two
additional women serving in congregations received a provisional license.

Sixteen (16) ordained women are either retired or serving in an approved ministry outside
the congregation such as a chaplaincy. Seventeen (17) licensed women are retired or serving
in an approved ministry position outside of a congregation. At the time of this report, there
are altogether 54 licensed BIC women and 21 ordained BIC women.

Early in 2021, after a letter of concern was posted on social media, the Director of Awaken,
Pauline Peifer, was commissioned by Leadership Council to select and assemble a task force
as stated on the BIC website “to explore and address issues of injustice related to women in
ministry with a focus on hiring practices, abuse of power, and accountability of leaders as
they relate to the Brethren in Christ denomination.”

An cight-member task force composed of Doris Barr, Christina Embree, Mona Engle, Tim
Fisher, Lynda Gephart, Ryan Showalter, Drew Strayer, and Pauline Peifer (chair) met in

11 extended sessions throughout 2021 to address this task by conducting interviews and
overseeing a nationwide survey of BIC staff. Six hundred ninety nine (699) surveys were
distributed with 369 returned (53% response rate). The Task Force completed their work-
and presented their findings to the Leadership Council on January 9, 2022.

Thank you to the Awaken regional representatives we call “partners.” They are the hands
and feet of Awaken in each of the regions. Allegheny - Jill Thompson; Atlantic -Denise
Bender, Dawn Groff; Great Lakes - Vicki Podjasek; Midwest - Margaret Engle;Pacific -
Elisha Hankins; Southeast - Teddi Rodgers, Isabel Morejon; Susquehanna -Heather Beaty,

Maureen Brown; International - Pam Arnold

We deeply appreciate every person who financially contributed to the ministry of Awaken

in 2021. Wk invite you to consider including Awaken in your financial giving. These funds
will assist in advancing the cause for BIC women in ministry. You can make your contribu-
tion by going to awakennetwork.organd click on the “donate” button.

As Project 250 unfolds, this will provide a wonderful time for the Brethren in Christ to
expand, raising up women to serve in leadership ministry in more congregations, on every
board and commission, and at every level of church life. Godly women are sensing a call to
ministry and are eager to serve. They need opportunities. Let’s unleash them!

It has been my privilege to serve as Director of Awaken these past six years. I have been hon-
ored to meet and learn to know many of the gifted and passionate women serving in BIC
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churches all across the U.S. It is time for me to retire and pass the baton to a new director. I
am grateful for the opportunities I have been given to serve the Church in various leader-
ship positions over the years. I have been enriched and blessed beyond anything I could
have imagined. I give all praise to God!

Pauline Peifer
Director
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I. Introduction

“Wamen have played significant roles in ministry and leadership throughout the history of the
church and the pages of the Bible. Today, women make up more than half of the church, and do
much of the mission, ministry, and discipfeship in the life of the church. But women have often
been held back from ministry rofes. . .. The Bible paints o radical vision of women, empowered
and embaldened for full ministry participation in Christ's church. The biblical vision for women
and for their role as teachers, witnesses, disciplers, and leaders transforms not only personal
lives, but also the church and the world. . . . Together women and men can revitalize the church
and renew the world. "

*Over the years | have noticed thing in many well- ing, Spirit-filled churches. To put it
bluntly, are inalized and are left with ppartunities to harness and use their
God-given gifts to the fullest simply because of their gender. Although many churches affirm
women in ministry, these same communities sometimes have no idea how to embolden women
in their midst as men continue to saturate the leadership structures. Wi wha are gifted to
reach preacb fead emngehze, and shepherd are all roo often side-lined. The body of Christ is

-privileged men are g in their gifts, and women are still sifenced. This status quo
mﬂ continue indefinitely until men und women partner together in this great mission we have
been called to."?

In 2018, Leadership Council began working on the priorities for Project 250. In December 2020, the
Project 250 Report was publicized, which includes this fifth priority: Growing to Reflect the Demographic
Realities of our C ities - The ¢ jties that d our congregations are diverse, and we
want our congregations to reflect that. Additionally, we want to increase the ber of qualified

and people of color serving in BIC U.S. assigned ministry roles and governing boards. We are committed
to iding resources, enc t, and acc bility as we grow in this area.

P

At the end of December 2020, the Brethren in Christ U.S. Leadership Council received a passionate letter
of concern in which a licensed Brethren in Christ minister surrendered her ministerial license and
criticized the denominational commitment to women in ministry at all levels of church life. The open
letter made several significant allegations regarding sexism, nepotism, abuse of power, and a specific
allegation about conversations in a core course.

Following receipt of the letter, the Leadership Council approved the creation of a task force to review
the concerns that were raised and to provide a report with action recommendations. The Leadership
Council commissioned former bishop Pauline Peifer to assemble such a task force?, and she invited the

1 Graham Joseph Hill, Holding Up Half the Sky: A Biblical Case for Women Leading and Teaching in the Church
{Eugene, OR: Cascade Books, 2020}, back cover.

2 Tara Beth Leach, Emboldened: A Vision for Emp ing Women {Downers Grove, IL: IVP Books), 6-7.

* "BIC U.S. Announces the Creation of Task Force in Affirmation of Women in Minlstry,” January 22, 2021,
https://bicus.org/2021/01/bic-us-announces-the-creation-of-taskforce-in-affirmation-of-women-in-ministry/.
Note that all references to “women in ministry” in this report ako include women in leadership roles. Brethren
in Christ U.S. affirms the participation of women in any and all levels of church life.
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following task force members: Doris Barr, Christina Embree, Mona Engle, Timothy Fisher, Lynda
Gephart, Ryan Showalter, and Drew Strayer. They were each chosen for their commitment to Christ and
the Church, and for their passionate advocacy for women in ministry in the Brethren in Christ Church.
They did not accept this assignment lightly and have given significant time over the past year in Zoom
meetings, doing interviews, sifting through notes, and compiling summary reports. Throughout their
investigation and report writing, the task force sought to explore and address issues of injustice related
to women in ministry with a focus on hiring practices, abuse of power, and accountability of leaders as
they relate to the Brethren in Christ denomination, which the task force sought to do independently and
confidentially.

II. Task Force Methodology

The task force met eleven times on Zoom, usually about three hours each time, from February 2021 to
January 2022, and once in person in October 2021, The process of reviewing the allegations in the letter
began by identifying all of the individuals who were named specifically or referenced in some way. The
task force conducted interviews with all of these individuals—so i in person, sc i by
phone or Zoom—to investigate the truth of and to understand the various perspectives on the
allegations. These initial investigative interviews were held with twenty-four (24) individuals, then
additional interviews were held with those who asked to be contacted either following the
denominational annauncement of the task force or when they completed the survey (see below). A total
of thirty-seven (37) individuals were interviewed by pairs of task force members; as the interviews and
contacts took place, detailed written notes were taken and then reviewed by the entire task force.

In addition, the task force engaged Dr. Carolyn Stauffer from Eastern Mennonite University to conduct a
church-wide survey of church leaders and people in ministry at various levels of church life (see
Appendix A). Dr. Stauffer has been a consultant and educator in gender-based violence and sexual harm,
and has conducted trainings on trauma. She developed the survey in consultation with the task force
and with assistance from Todd Van Patter, an organizational consultant. The survey was sent to 655
individuals, including both English and Spanish versions. Three hundred and sixty-nine {369) surveys
were returned, with an overall response rate of 56 percent. The survey included a total of twenty-six
questions, twenty-four that could be graphed (see Appendix B) plus two which were open-ended
questions. Seventy-six (76) people wrote answers to this question: “If you feel comfortable, please share
about any incidents or barriers to women's advancement within BIC church leadership.” One-hundred
and ninety-four (194) people wrote responses to this question: “What is the single most important thing
the BIC church can do to support women's advancements to all levels of church leadership?” (see
Appendix C for a summary of the prevalent themes). Following the completion of the survey, Dr.
Stauffer prepared a report, “BIC Survey Results: Creating Cultures of Belonging,” which aided the Task
Force as they formulated

dations.

With the information from the initial investigative interviews, the surveys, and the subsequent
interviews, the task force categorized the identified issues. The three major issues related to womenin
ministry and leadership identified in the original letter were sexism, nepotism, and abuse of power, plus
the references to a core course. The survey report divided the concerns into five major themes:
participation, equity, culture, representation, and opportunity. The task force divided itself into four
teams of two to summarize the findings. Each team was assigned one theme from the interviews and
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one theme from the survey, and all four teams addressed the theme of opportunity. The teams wrote
reports summarizing the findings from all of the investigative interviews, the survey, and then listed
suggested recc dations for addressing the concerns that had been identified through the
interviews and the survey.

On October 1 and 2, 2021, the task force met in person for the first time at Manor Church to review the
team reports and recommendations and to begin preparing the final report to the Leadership Council.
To help with this process, Pauline invited Wanda Heise to moderate the discussion and Harriet Bicksler
to assist with writing the final report. The task force agreed on a basic framework or outline for the
report, and narrowed down the lengthy list of recommendations. Following the meeting, Harriet
prepared a draft of the report which was reviewed and finally approved unanimously by all members of
the task force.
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Ifl. Organization of the Report

A, The findings: This section includes descriptions of the major findings from the investigative
interviews, the survey, and the subsequent interviews:

Sexism

Nepotism

Abuse of power

The core courses and the credentialing process
Additional findings

. s 0

B. The recommendations: This section offers the recommendations of the task force to the
Leadership Council, providing specific ideas for how Brethren in Christ U.S. can move
forward and reaffirm a strong commitment to including women as full and equal partners at
all levels of ministry in the church. The recommendations are listed in five parts:

Changing the culture
Removing the barriers
Leveling the playing field
Creating opportunity
Educating/teaching the church

. o 80

IV. The Findings

This section describes the major findings from the investigative interviews, the survey, and the
subsequent interviews. A fifth category, “Additional Findings,” lists several items that did not fit
elsewhere,

A. Sexism: The task force found that sexism exists within Brethren in Christ U.S.

The Merriam-Wel dictionary defines sexism as “prejudice or discrimination based on sex; behavior,
conditions, or attitudes that foster stereotypes or social roles based on sex.” The letter received by the
Leadership Council included charges against the denomination of “blatant” and “rampant” sexism and
“direct and indirect discrimination.” The task force did not find that sexism in the church rose to the
level of “rampant” (spreading unchecked) and “blatant” (done openly and unashamedly), but it did hear
from people who described situations of marginalization and discrimination due to hiring practices and
disparity of treatment in their roles which they believed were gender-related.

Interviewees noted that there are varied beliefs regarding women in ministry within congregations,
ranging from full support of the denomination’s egalitarian position to complementarian teaching taking
place, even from the pulpit. Interviewees also shared experiences of leaders who say they support
women in ministry yet fail to do so in practice. Despite the full-throated denominational position
affirming women in ministry at all levels of church life, interviewees noted that the lack of any
articulation of this belief in the “Articles of Faith and Doctrine” provides a loophole for church leaders
and pastors to disagree with the position.
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Specific examples of the sexism and discrimination that women experienced and/or were witnessed by
men include the following:

+ Clarity in job titles is lacking, particularly the difference between a pastor and a director or
coordinator. Sometimes women serving in the same pastoral roles as men have the title of
“director” rather than “pastor.” Some job titles and positions have been renamed to avoid
recognizing women as pastors. This in turn someti affects p

* Some characterized the work environment as “hostile” to women, with demeaning
conversations, invasion of personal space and unwanted physical contact by a male, snide
comments, and other micro-aggressions directed at women.

+ There is a strong perception by men and women that women lack visibility at regional and
denominational events, particularly in leadership positions.

* Some women have felt that male pastors guard the pulpit and will not allow women to preach.

+ Women have specific challenges for which they receive little support and sometimes have to
pay out-of-pocket for resources to meet these challenges—for example, the need for counseling
to overcome the various barriers, injustices, disrespect, and harm they experience as women in
ministry, and the need for help to complete the core courses when they are often serving part-
time or as volunteers.

wsation.

B. Nepotism: The task force found that there was no clear violation of
denominational policies against nepotism.

In its investigation, the task force used the definition of nepotism in the letter: “the practice among
those with power or infl of favoring relatives or friends, especially by giving them jobs.” To find
out more about the specific charges, the task force interviewed all of the individuals named or implied in
the letter. The investigation was also informed by the experiences of women who offered their stories
and by the denominational statement on “Nepotism, Employment of Relatives, and Personal
Relationships” from the Brethren in Christ U.S. Employee Handbook (see Appendix D for the full
statement).

During its investigation, the task force examined two instances of the hiring of bishop’s assistants in
recent years. The regional conference Board of Directors initiated the hiring of one of the assistants and
recused the bishop from the decision. In the other hiring, background and reference checks were
completed, and a skills test was administered by the HR administrator to ensure that the individual aptly
fit the position requirements.

When evaluated in light of the nepotism policy in the Employee Handbook, the task force concluded
that there was no clear violation in either hiring, especially given the “exceptions” clause. Both hirings
involved some urgency as the positions came open quickly and unexpectedly. In both cases, the person
hired was deemed highly qualified and a good candidate for the position. However, it is not difficult to
understand how an observer could consider these to be examples of the kind of nepotism defined in the
letter. Several women interviewed by the task force also indicated that it is not uncommon for churches
to hire someone who is already known without going through a formal search process.
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For many years, the Brethren in Christ Church has operated as a large family. While knowing and being
known can be viewed as a relational strength and an important family quality, it can also lead to
exclusiveness. It is important to find ways to b ien and di ify the licant pool to elimi any
appearance of nepotism.

[ Abuse of power: The task force heard reports of instances of abuse of power.

Abuse of power can be both overt and subtle, active or passive, and is defined as “the use of position or
power to withhold opportunity or advancement based on gender and/or familial or friendship status.”
Lifeway Research says, “Abuse occurs when pastors or other ministers in position of authority use power
or influence to control, manipulate, or otherwise demean and exploit staff associates. It can happen
over time or with one catastrophic event,”*

During the investigation, the task force heard several instances that would constitute abuse of power,
Though the specific examples given to the task force did not seem to indicate that abuse of poweris a
systemic problem, situations of abuse must be addressed. The instances shared ranged from women
reporting being passed over in employment opportunities by those responsible for hiring to specific
congregational settings in which patterns of abusive behavior by the lead pastor or by the church board
were exhibited and, in some cases, tolerated.

Interviewees noted three related factors that can make it difficult to address situations of abuse of
power in the congregation: 1) Senior or lead pastors often lack accountability, except to the bishop. 2)
Staff in positions other than senior or lead pastor frequently do not have a safe place to take their
concerns, complaints, or grievances, and they often perceive that they do not have direct access to the
hishop. 3) There does not seem to be a clear or commeon understanding of what constitutes abuse of
power, which results in further trauma when one’s reality is questioned.

D. Core courses and the credentialing process: The task force found: 1) the letter
writer inaccurately recounted what took place in the core course in alleging
that the National Director had initiated using the issue of women in ministry
as an illustration of the grace offered to pastors who disagree with the
d ination's position; 2) there is a lack of clear biblical teaching on the
subject across the denomination; and 3) women lack support in the
credentialing process.

1. During the course of investigating the allegation against the National Director, the task force
interviewed several participants in the core course to which the letter writer referred and
watched the Zoom video recording. After watching the Zoom recording, the task force
determined that the accusation was not accurate. Rather, it was a class participant who
initiated the topic of women in ministry.

4 patti Townley-Covert, “Staff Abuse: Can |t Happen Here?” Lifeway Research, October 13, 2015,
https:/flifewayresearch.com/2015/10/13/staff-abuse-can-it-happen-here/}.
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Nevertheless, the task force found that there is a need for systematic teaching of the
denominational position on women in ministry, particularly on the more problematic New
Ti 1t B there has not been enough clear and regular teaching on the
subject that considers the whole of Scripture and its cultural context, women continue to be
discouraged and not permitted to exercise their God-given gifts for pastoral ministry and
male pastors continue to be allowed to serve despite their sometimes open disagreement
with the denominational position.

The task force also discovered that women often find it difficult to begin and/or complete
the credentialing process. As of this writing, there are 176 women serving on congregational
staff, but only five are ordained (2.84 percent) and 35 are fully or provisionally licensed
(19.87 percent). By contrast, out of 367 men serving, 82 are ordained (22.34 percent) and
125 are fully or provisionally licensed (34.06 percent). Additionally, of the 204 male senior
pastors, 65 are ordained (31.86 percent), 88 are licensed either provisionally or fully (43.14
percent), and 51 are not licensed at all (25 percent). Of the 22 women serving as senior or
lead pastors, only one is ordained (4.55 percent), 13 are fully or provisionally licensed (59.02
percent), and eight are not licensed at all (36.36 percent). If a woman or man begins the
licensing process and ives a thi year provisional license but does not attend at least
one core course, is not assigned during that time, and does not write a Doctrinal
Questionnaire (DQ), the license lapses. (See Appendix E.)

According to interviews and the survey, there are a number of reasons why some women do
not begin or complete the credentialing process (some of these reasons are also true for
men):

a. Writing the DQ is a daunting exercise especially for women who are working part-time
or serve as volunteers. Some have not gone to seminary or graduate school and thus
may not have the necessary theological background.

b. Some senior pastors andfor church boards do not encourage women to become
credentialed.

¢, There are those who see the licensing process as unnecessary, Credentialing has not
been seen as a privilege or a responsibility for men and women in ministry.

d. Other wornen begin the process but don't finish due to various systemic barriers,
including:

1) They need to be assigned to be licensed.

2) Their pastor or congregation will not consider hiring a woman.

3) There are no available opportunities in congregations that affirm women in ministry
and leadership.

e. Notall of the core courses are considered relevant to the unique church settings where
women are often serving.

: The task force uncovered a number of other important

issues that do not fit neatly in any of the four categories described above.

s £

While the majority of survey respondents said that they are aware of people (both men and
women) and resources that affirm women in ministry, that the majority of both men (87
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percent) and women (76 percent) believe there is “moderate” to “strong” support in the
denomination for women in ministry,® and that in general bishops have been very
supportive, the investigative interviews, the survey, and subsequent interviews indicated a
number of ways the Brethren in Christ U.S. can better encourage women in ministry
leadership.

2. The survey asked participants to check all the factors they believed prevent women fram
advancing in ministry and leadership roles from the following list: doctrinal factors, limited
mentorship, lack of support by pastors, lack of support by church board, lack of support by
the bishop, lack of support by denominational leadership, a hostile culture, work/life
balance, and limited opportunities.

Women who responded to this question identified, in order, limited opportunities, work/life
balance, and lack of mentoring as factors preventing women from advancing. Men
responding to this question identified, in order, lack of support by pastors, limited
opportunities, and lack of support by church board, followed closely by doctrinal factors.
When added together, women and men responding identified, in order, limited
opportunities, lack of support by pastors, and lack of support by church board as the most
commeon factors preventing women from advancing.

3. Women's ministry roles in congregations tend to be concentrated at “lower authority
levels,” like worship, music, youth, and children’s ministries. As of this writing, 9.7 percent of
senior pastors are women, while 52.8 percent of worship pastors/directors and 86.4 percent
of children's pastors/directors are women. In addition, position titles such as “director” or
“coordinator” often do not reflect the pastoral nature of these roles. (See Appendix E.)

4. Many women also reported a lack of visible representation of women at every level of
leadership. Often at planned events, such as regional conferences and professional
development days, opportunities to speak are filled almost entirely by men. In addition, all
the core courses are currently taught by men.

5. Because there continues to be resistance to the official denominational position on women
in ministry and leadership, many women and men indicated that affirmation of women in
ministry needs to be incorporated into the “Articles of Faith and Doctrine,” rather than in
separate statements that are not perceived to carry as much weight. With the position
clearly articulated in the “Articles,” pastors and others who disagree would have no reason
not to know exactly where Brethren in Christ LS. stands.

® Mitchell Martin, BIC U.S., Slide #26, Survey Question 15 - The statistical breakdown for “moderate” was 38
percent for men and 42 percent for womnen, and the statistical breakdown for "strong” was 49 percent for men
and 34 percent for women.

58



11

V. The Recommendations of the Task Force

This section lists five categories of recommendations from the task force to the Leadership Council,
providing specific ideas for how Brethren in Christ U.S. can move forward and reaffirm a strong
commitment to including wormen as full and equal partrners at all levels of ministry in the church, The
five categories are labeled as positive top-level action steps. Just as the Brethren in Christ core values
have served as aspirational statements for the church, these five categories aspirationally address all
nine tk coll i from the ir igation and the survey (sexism, nepotism, abuse of power, core
courses/credentialing, participation, equity, culture, representation, and opportunity). Each
recommendation includes a cross-reference to where the issue was addressed in the findings.

A. Changing the culture

1. Develop policies related to sexism, nepotism, and the abuse of power that carefully
define the issues and provide clear direction on how to identify and address specific
situations. (IV-B)

2. Develop a grievance and appeals policy for congregational staff members during
situations of conflict with the senior/lead pastor. The policy should also include a
process for addressing the trauma experienced by a staff member, as well as the
designation of an impartial ombudsman to handle the grievance and appeals process.
(Iv-c)

B. Removing barriers

1. Revise the “Articles of Faith and Doctrine” so that they clearly articulate the theological
position of the Brethren in Christ affirming women in ministry. (IV-D)

2. Include all policies related to sexism, nepotism, abuse of power, and handling grievances
and appeals in the Manual of Doctrine and Government (adding to Articles VIl and XIIl in

the By-Laws section). {IV-B, C)

3. Develop templates for congregations to develop their own specific policies that protect
against sexism, nepotism, and abuse of power and point to resources that will help
individuals know how to file a complaint or grievance, including a single point of
contact. (IV-A, B, C)

4. Ensure that all candidates for bishop and denominational employment demonstrate
affirmation for women in ministry, in addition to other Brethren in Christ distinctives,
and are advocates for women in ministry. Current bishops and denominational
employees, during their term reviews, should also reaffirm their support and advocacy
for women in ministry. (IV-D, E)

C. Leveling the playing field

1. Update Articles VI and Vil in the Congregational Handbook section of the Manual of
Doctrine and Government and create guidelines for job descriptions and titles soitis
clear who can be a “pastor.” (IV-A)

2. Require that all individuals who hold the title of pastor go through the credentialing
process. (IV-A)
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3. Expand the Leadership Council to include the director of Awaken Network as a voting
member. (IV-A, IV-E-4)

4. Add all Awaken regional conference representatives as voting members of regional
boards of directors. (IV-A, IV-E-4)

5. Ensure that women are more visible in denominational and regicnal events and
leadership. {IV-A)

D. Creating opportunity

Provide funding for the director for Awaken and emp: the Awaken h kto do the
following:

1. Create a credentialing team to support women through the credentialing process.

2. Explore creating a scholarship fund or subsidy at the regional conference level for
women while they complete the credentialing process.

3. Advocate for bishops and senior/flead pastors to encourage women to complete the
credentialing process and to offer financial assistance for those in part-time and
volunteer positions.

4. Offer mentorships, leadership development activities, and peer support groups for
women in ministry.

5. lIdentify and encourage women with pastoral potential and forward the information
about potential women pastors to bishops and congregations.

6. Develop a cadre of women who can teach core courses, directed study courses, and
impact seminars.

7. Create opportunities for bishops to meet with all women in pastoral positions.

8. Create, maintain, and promaote an online library of recommended books, videos,
podcasts, and other resources on women in ministry.

9. Continue to develop Awaken representation in each region and strengthen relationships
with bishops and boards of directors.

10. Appoint women to serve as denominational representatives to relevant national
interdenominational organizations (for exarmple, Wesleyan Holiness Women Clergy).

E. Educating and teaching the church

1. Update the “Women as Pastors” impact seminar curriculum and offer it at regular
intervals. (IV-D)

2. Add a core course on Brethren in Christ distinctives, including topics like women in
ministry and peace, or restructure the existing core courses to ensure that attention is
given to them. (IV-D)

3. Add a Directed Study Program course on the biblical basis for women in ministry. {IV-D)

4. Promote Awaken's online resource library on women in ministry. (IV-D)
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VI. Conclusion

The task force would like to thank Leadership Council for taking the letter of concern seriously and
establishing this process to investigate the issues raised and to offer recommendations that will help
empower and embolden women to use their God-given gifts and calling to ministry in the Brethren in
Christ Church. Each member of the task has felt privileged to be trusted with this important task and has
gladly given of her or his time to do the work required.

For many years the Brethren in Christ Church has recognized that women have been gifted and called by
God to serve in ministry. This affirmation took place at the General Conference of 1982 and again in
1992. Today, in January 2022, nearly 40 years since that first affirmation, there are 21 ordained women
and 52 either fully (34) or provisionally (18) licensed. A number of these women are now retired or in
ather career callings such as counseling or chaplaincy. Realistically, today there are five ordained women
currently serving in Brethren in Christ congregations and 35 wormen who are fully or provisionally
licensed.

As Project 250 unfolds in the coming years, with its clarion call to increase the number of qualified
women and people of color who are serving in ministry and leadership among us, this is a significant
time for the Brethren in Christ not only to honor the dedicated women who served our church in the
past, but to raise up many more wornen to serve in ministry in every congregation, on every board and
commission, and at every level of church life. There are numerous godly, passionate women who are
sensing a call to ministry and are eager to serve. Let's unleash them. This is also the time to raise up our
daughters for a new generation of ministry in the Brethren in Christ. Let us rise to the challenge.
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Appendix A

Women In Ministry Survey Questions, Carolyn Stauffer and Todd Van Patter.

1. What is your age?
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4. What is your gender?
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BIC Women In Ministry and Leadership Survey

9. What is your current church position?

10, How many years have you been in this role?

17
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11. Please check all roles you have filled within BIC church life.
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Lesarsnp Counal

Commmisshon on Ministry
& Dotrine

Regrenal Coretence
Board

Dienominstonal Stan
{othar than Bishops |

Derominationsl Task
Force

Bushop
Missionary
FPastorCo-Fastor
Agpocisls Pastor
Deaconiness

WiorshipMMusic Minkstny

MarWemen's Ministry.
Touth Meisiry
Chlarins Mietsiry
Congregational Ofice ~ =
Slag :
Hospitakty/vrsdaton

Qulench

Smal ~ =
GropMDuciplshio = 4

Local Church Financisl
Stawardship

Other miles? (please spacily]

18
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19

(other than Bishops)
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13, What percent of your local congregation would you estimate is female?
" so-ioom

] B0Tan
A0-5%

) 20w

14. What percent of your congregation’s activities would you estimate are run by women volunteers?
80-100 %

B0-To%
40580
) 203w

0-15%

15, From your perspective. is there strong support within the BIC denomination for women in church
|eadership?
| Strong support
Maderate suppart
Mirsmal suppoit
Ho support

Unsure

20
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16. In your congregaticn, which of the folowing roles do women hold?
Gvor Past 3 Years Hevor

Childran's Ministry

Leader

Woman's Mirstry
Leader

“Youlh Ministry Laader

Eibie StudySmal Groun
Lueder

‘WorhipMusic Leader

Congregational Cfice
St

ChurchEldar Boan
DeaconElder
Exvautive Pastor
Assocsale Pastor
Co-Patbor

SenonScle Pastor

Dlant Know

17. From your cbsenvation, are the same efforts made to advance and retain men and women to all levels of

leadership?

21
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18. Which of the following statements are true in your context?
True Faise:
| can idantity men in my
EONgEGMIon wh
fomas loaders.
| canigentify man inmy
donominaben who

ehamgion smerging
T le laaders

Cuentty iners are
teim e loader rola
models mmy
dsnteninaon

19. Which of the following programs are readily available in your

Unsure

Roadly Avslatie In Davalopmari
Leaderstp
advancemant networks
Pear suppor groups

Grarts for theologrcal -\
Leaderstp develoomant

programmng

Sfuctured mentorshin ~ =
programs L &
Fromstional wonkinops'

aeminars

Contatances &

denominational traning

programs:

Asgociation

membersnios

Ho Programs

22
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20, Does your congregalion promote wamen in ministry leadership?

Yeu
1 N

Unsure

21. Do you think there are barriers to women's full in the

J Ve

Ho

of BIC

23
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22, Which of the following factors do you feel prevent women from advancing? (Check all that apply)
] mocmnisamers

[ timites mentership

[ et suppen by Pastons

DI' Lk af support by Chirch Board

[ tassor suppont oy giance

0] Lowkof suppon by Dansminatianal Lesdership
O] & nesvis cuitwn

[ werktte tatance

[ vimtes cpporuntes

] cimer iptense soean

[

23. Have you ever experienced or observed a major cbstacle in pursuing a career in BIC church leadership
because somscne was a woman?

7 e, and | reported
Yok, 80d | chote 0ot 10 report it
| Nt ke of Rowdhiars o mpar it

Mol wias alrakd 6 neaitive ishecussians iF | repon &

No-in my church | han'e ngwer tomy hig gender

| Otfiee (pisase spacity)

24. If you feel comfortable, please share about any of women's within BIC
church leadership.

10

24
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25. What Is the single most important thing the BIC church can do to supp wall
levels of church leadership?

26. If you desire to opt-in to share your informagion with us you can do so here:
Name |
Emall Address.

27. Please indicate if you would like followup from this survey:
o oy the Task Foee.

11

25
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Appendix B

Statistical Analysis of Women In Ministry Survey Responses, Mitchell Martin, BIC US.
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Total Respondents

*» 350 English Survey Respondents
* 19 Spanish Survey Respondents
* 369 Total Survey Respondents

* All charts hereinafter combine data from the English and Spanish
surveys

. Brethren in Christ L.5.

Respondents by Age Group

0
&0
50
0
o
an
10

o

18-29 30-39 ag-49 50-54 60-69 T70-79+
Count 37 7% 3 9 66 26

. Brethren in Christ U5,
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Highest Level of Education Completed

g

Raghalgry, e SR peerarate High sehoal Othid fplsiaaigieily) | Semiaaay | Techmalorn [starit)

Coust s 5

"/, Brethren in Christ L5,

Highest Level of Education Completed w/

Gender Breakdown

B
n
®
& P
«
»: i
n
G ”o =
D Il = m ..
achions m?;;’ Doctorte ers [Emre——— Sammary ' folank
e » 1 [
Male - s s 2
Bk a s f o [ a ] 1 1
# Female & Male ®Blank
%5 Brethren in Christ U.5, % based on female (189) or male (176) respondents
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Respondents by Race and/or Ethnicity

{btank]

...El
g
H
-}
-
=
Z

| Count

. Brethren in Christ U5,

3

Respondents by Gender

—
Female Male (blank)
| Count 189 176 4

. Brethren in Christ U5,
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Respondents Relationship Status

— —
Married Single Widowed (blank)
m Count 325 33 5 ]

. Brethren in Christ U5,

Respondents by Current Employment/Ministry Q6

Status

200
18
100
140
a0
100
]
]
w
»
& Full time (Paid or Unpaid)  Other (please specify]  Part time (Paid or Unpaid) E m m
Count 182 8 143 12 1 3
. Brethren in Christ U5, u
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Respondents by Current Employment/Ministry

Status w/ Breakdown by Gender

10
L

3o

0 -

o

E: L
L
s
o
i
o
- 3
= - e -

* Fu Other Ungasd) Retaen Student indari}
temae ] M a3 9 L3 o
Wale us 3 1 I3
Baak o o 1 o o 3

@ Female o Male W Blank
"5 Brethren in Christ L5, % based on female (189) or male (176) respondents

Respondents by Regional Conference

120
100
80
&0
an
) I
§ . =
Allegherny Atlantic Great Lakes Midwest Pacific Southeast Sasquehanna (blank)
| Count 49 106 7 15 26 a4 95 7
" Brethren in Christ U5,
iy 36
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Respondents by Regional Conference w/

Gender Breakdown

50

40

30

20

) I I I | I

: Il g -
nlleghemr Atlantic Great Lakes Mighwest Pacilic Southeast s«sq uehanna [ulani}

mFemale 9
u Male 16 ? 17 15
o [blank} 1 3

®Female mMale = (blank)

" Brethren in Christ U5,
W a7

Respondents by Years Connected to BIC Church Q8

40
: i = il
, 1 o

01y, 11-15 yrs. 1620 yrs. 2125 yre 25yrs 610 yrs. {biank)
Count 15 42 3 1 as 56 4

"/, Brethren in Christ L5,
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What is your current church position?

"
m m I
=]

Warhg

Pastor  Retind Pavior Supsmrt Saff
aitor Supp iy

Miminrary | None or Wk ummn

u 5 3 L [} a n £ ]

Ld
o
L
50
® 10%
E ]
F
) l
o l
torciste,
AasnLart
Pastor or LoyLoader | LoadPaion | LiSSTNE Mty
Enpeutive Macin
Pastor
Court L] o n 55 ] gt
‘% Brethren in Christ L.5.

Percentages based on total survey respondents (369)
39

What is your current church position? w/ gender

breakdown

= I

a2 i

o
' - - ¥
I I - I hee
8 - -

uwun- :Mﬂl\n; Leadership | Minatry

Loy Leader et Pastor

Exntstivs Courcil | Duweter
Paator

[y 15 n m ] 1 i

ale 13 4 T a7 8 ]

Q9

i ~ ”
i L "
"
" w o ~
™
= H= =N =~ Al Hn [~

ortep Youth

>

Mesinnary | Mone orifA | Crbar Pasor  Btieed asior Supporseatt GEUR | (ROL | ank
i 5 o n s ) 15 u u
1 o 5 5 1 7 ) 15 3

Efemale @ Male

"/, Brethren in Christ L5,

% based on female (189) or male (176) respondents
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Q10

How many years have you been in this role?

it
]
100
®
@
0
’° 1l [
° -1 - Court 28y Cot &30y Cownt 1135 yev. Comet 130 yei. Coumt 525y + Coumt m ik Count
Coum [* 11 “ 1 I = ' n

" Brethren in Christ U5,
W 41

How many years have you been in thisrole?w/ Q10

gender breakdown

LH]
-
o
@
E Y
=
- o
i
o 1% 18%
e %
0 L P
-
" £ b
[ ] . ] : -
. ol - H =
01 yr. Cownt 25 yrs. Count. &10yrs. Coum 11-15 yrs. Count 16-20yrs. Coure 25:25 v + Count /A Count. Blark Count
Famaie n m 1 . n i 3 16
Male » = % n 1] n o s
Eank o 1 1
mfemale mMale ® EBlank
%5 Brethren in Christ U.5, % based on female (189) or male (176) respondents
s 42
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Please check all roles you have filled within BIC Q11

church life:

Volunteer Paid N/ Blank

Eemale  Male  Female Make Femak @ Make Blank  Female = Mak Blank Total
General Conference Board 13 1 1 2 9 ) 1 &2 70 3 38
Leadership Council 8 5 3 & 9% L] 1 a2 76 3 £
Commission on Ministry & Doctrine 3 18 1 o 103 & 1 [+ @ 3 38
Regional Conference Baard 5 -] 1 o L T 1 75 4 3 £
Denornirational Staff jother than Bishops) 3 3 23 12 & -3 1 7% 7 3 36
Denominational Task Force 15 19 1 3 96 & 1 77 n 3 389
Bishop 2 4 1 3 101 L] 1 5 7 3 369
Misstonary 9 2 15 11 90 a8 1 75 75 3 369
‘Pastor/Co-Pastar 18 1 16 a1 7% = 1 7 n 3 38
Associate Pastor 16 £ 17 & B 55 1 7 53 3 L]
Deacon/ness 17 18 o 1 a2 B o 50 1 4 368
Worship/Music Mirdstry 61 3 T 13 53 0 1 61 E 3 -
Men's/Women's Ministry n - & 15 57 (3 1 5 5 3 168
Youth Ministry &7 S0 16 42 48 42 1 58 a 3 L
Children's Ministry T8 2 25 8 “ kg 1 a2 & 3 ELd
Congregational Office Staff 17 7 b2} 7 7% 3 1 &8 & 3 38
Hospitali 53 27 1 2 63 &2 a B2 5 @ 389
Outreach 57 1 (3 21 61 (] 0 65 [+ 4 38
‘Small Group/ Discipleship 95 56 11 36 g Ex) 1 45 & 3 363
Loeal Charch Financial 19 13 7 6 8 Bl 1 7 % 3 £
Stewardship r 4 4 7 a7 ks o 91 L 4 £

‘4 Brethren in Christ .5,
! 43

How many years in total did you serve in each of Q12
those roles?

41

250 47

500 a5

Ministry e £l
Congregatsonsl Office Stal! 78 108 35 13 79 83
Hospitality/Visitation 468 475 53 42 as 1.3
Outreach 7 565 47 49 25 11.5
Small Groupy/Discipleship 736 T4 a7 a6 a5 83
Local Church Financisl 202 154 20 17 101 a1
Stewardship 35 182 & 19 58 a5

. Brethren in Christ U5,
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What % of your local congregation is female? Q13

20-39% a0-59% 0-79% £0-100% {blank)
Count 1 4 206 9 12 53

"/, Brethren in Christ L5,

45

What % is your local congregation is female?
w/ Regional Conference breakdown

[ ] -
, i f
% I;}_u LI B | S L. 1L A .

Great Lakes. Muctwest Pacific Southoast

Susquehanna (brtari]
019% 1
20.30% 3 1
40.59% Fad n 10 7 15 14 SH 2
B0-T% 11 6 12 1 T 14 n
B0-100% ] 3 1 4 ]
{lank) 7 L3 1 4 3 7 12 5

m0-19% ®m20-39% ®W40-59% mW60-79% mW30-100% m(blank)
. Brethren in Christ U5,
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What % of your congregation's activities would Q14

you estimate are run by women volunteers?

140

120

100

a0

60

40

w i

o ]
0-19% maasa 40-59% 60-79% so:oosa tbl k]
Count & 133 115
Brethren in Christ .5, B

What % of your congregation's activities would you estimate are Q14

run by women volunteers? w/ Regional Conference breakdown

45
40
35
30 |
25
w0
15
t J bt La _abd all
5
o .I -I I I I_ __' l = -. -II I ' I
Atlantic Great Lakes Sumunma [Hanhp
0-19% 1
0-39% 2 | 1 2 3 9 1
40-59% 24 7 10 Ll 14 g 35
60-79% 11 k- 9 5 4 13 3 1
B0-100 % 4 7 7 2 5 &
(biank} 7 12 1 4 4 12 12 5
mO-19% ®W20-39% m®40-59% mWE0-79% WS0-100% m(blank)
', Brethren in Christ U5,
s 48
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From your perspective, is there strong support within the

BIC denomination for women in church leadership?

160
140
120
100
a0
60
1%
a0
0 % %
, 1l o% =
Minimal support Moderate support No Support Strong support Unsure {blank)
Count 13 146 o 152 w0 a8
Brethren in Christ U5, % based on 369 total respondents a9

From your perspective, is there strong support within the BIC Q15
denomination for women in church leadership? W/ Gender Breakdown
100
an 4%
am
80
70 3% %
60
50
40
a0
20 o 73
10 % T
1 s -
Minimal support Moderate support Strong support Unsusre (lilank)
Female 4 &0 E5 5 ELY
Male 9 (1 86 5 10
[blank} 0 [ 1 o 3
®Female mMale = (blank)
Brethren in Christ U.5. % based on female (189) or male (176) respondents -
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From your perspective, is there strong support within the BIC Q15

denomination for women in church leadership? Regional Conference

breakdown
50
a5
a0
s
0
5
0
15
; I I
s I a1 g
0 - [o2] = -
.nuegnem .m.wm: Great Lakes Midhwest Pacific Southeast Suwuenanns
Minimal support
Moderate support 2 46 IJ 4 10 & 42
Strong support 1 46 12 7 10 2 3
Unsure 1 a 1 a
W Minimal support  ® Moderate support  ® Strong support  ® Unsure
"5 Brethren in Christ L5, 5

In your congregation, which of the following roles Q16

do women hold?

0
250
00
"o
- B - | ] |
" |:;. ﬂ I'r_: | ll [ ] |
o H_ml _I[. I B I - | | Ilu I | H
Chidewn's. Wosas'y Chureh/Eidar Savion Soks
Misistry Leader Ministry Lasder G’I'm':‘_'::l Offce Suif i Descon/Fider | Execetve Pastor Aasocisse Pastor s
Ower Past 3 Yaars s m1 158 268 o 54 5 130 a5 113 " »
Nvrr 4 . an 2 1 L] m n 49 m m 1
D't Ko a n £ n o » w0 49 @ A0 E3 n
L 7 L] o n L) n n b s s m L]
WOver Past3¥ears ®Never ®Don'tknow = Blank
', Brethren in Christ U.5, 5
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From your observation, are the same efforts made to advance and retain Q17

men and women to all levels of leadership? Congregation? Region?
Denomination?

50

200
150
29% T
100
14%
50 10% g% 10% .
., HER
Mo Unsure Yes
Denamination E 108 174
Region 3 93 184
Congregation 7 51 27
B Denomination ™ Region W Congregation
g e % based on 369 total respondents

53

I Can Identify Men in My Who

Champion Emerging Female Leaders

300

250

200

150

100

) .
o N — - -
Falze True Unsure [bdnnk}

Congragation 12 261 % &0
Denomination 8 261 40 60

W Congregation  ® Denomination

"/, Brethren in Christ L5,
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I Can Identify Women in My

Champion Emerging Female Leaders

0
0
200
150
100
) . .
o S e— - -
False True Unsure [tdank)
Congregation ) 268 a0 [
Denominatian i 257 a5 L]
mCongregation @ Denoménation
"5 Brethren in Christ L5,
iy 55

Currently There are Female Leader Role Models Q18

in My

300
250
200
150
100
i . .
a - — -
False True Unsure [blank)
Congregation 15 280 12 62
Denomination i3 253 42 61
® Congregation ™ Denomination
"5 Brethren in Christ L5,
s 56

89



Which of the following programs are available

to women in your conference or congregation?

180
10 B
120 1!;]
o 1:“
0 | | it
@ bl I
" '-
-l || il all I il |I il
& &l
Poer Support ’ Association
“»;m::l g i Education Programming Groups Teakilog Peagratis) omiberdhios
In Development 38 ES 21 31 59 % a0 2
No Programs 2 58 119 71 8 59 53 124
Readily Available 134 168 8 150 £y 153 167 66
[blank) 15 105 144 15 125 m 109 150

W In Development M No Programs  ® Readily Available  m (blank)

"/, Brethren in Christ L5,

Does your congregation promote women in

ministry leadership?

200

150
100

50

5 = =

No Unsure Yes {blank)
Count 23 34 256 56

"/, Brethren in Christ L5,
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Does your congregation promote women in Q20

ministry leadership? Breakdown by Gender

160
140
110
100
B0
&0
40
ol
| -
Female Male Blank
No 13 10 o
Unsure 17 17 o
Yes 21 134 1
(bkank} £ 15 3
WMo ®Unsure mYes m (blank)
" Brethren in Christ U5,
s 59

Do you think there are barriers to women's full Q21

participation in the leadership of BIC churches?

160

140

120

100

80

&0

40

0

¥ No Unsure ¥os (btank)
Count 97 76 145 51

%5 Brethren in ChristUS,
" 60
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Do you think there are barriers to women's full participation in QZ‘I

the leadership of BIC churches? Breakdown by Gender

L]
=
™
“w
w
0 FLey 2
10
0
[
1]
o p— - —
Unsure Yes (blank]
Female a7 40 65 a7
Male 50 5 a0 11
[blank} 0 1 0 3
®Female mMale = (blank)
%5 Brethren in Christ U.5, % based on female (189) or male (176) respondents

Which of the following factors do you feel Q22

prevent women from advancing?

] 3%

80 21%

T

1%
&0 15% 16%
50
11%

40

30

o]

10

o Lack nlSu port

n
Doctrinal Umited | tack of Support L“:v"c'r:m“‘ Lack of Suppart Ahosile  Warkille Uimited .
Barriers Mentorship | by Pastar/s by Bishop Demmmanmul culture Balance Opportunities. "
Board
Leadership

Count 55 58 7 B4 15 5 a7 62 83 a2
SRR Percentages based on total survey respondents (369)
e *Respondents were able to select multiple factorsgp
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Which of the following factors do you feel prevent Q22

women from advancing? Breakdown by Gender

60
50 8%
2% 2%
40 0% 21%
1%
30 15% i 14% 13%
11%
bl
2 Lack Q UD
Doctrinal Limited  Lack of Support L“: “;:”:r" Lack of Support A hestile Work/Life Limited
Barviers Misntorship | - by Pastorfs. "a o2k by Bishop Donumnalmal culture Balince  Opportunities
it Leadership
Female 20 2 28 n & 13 25 40 41 n
Male 35 26 49 i 7 n 2 2 42 0
mFemale ®Male
o, Percentages based on total survey respondents (189 Female, 176 Male)
1y Brethren In Christ L.5. *Respondents were able to select multiple factors &

Have you experienced or observed a major obstacle in pursuing a Q23

career in BIC church leadership because someone was a woman?

250

- 12%

4%
1% 1% %
o — L . — —

No-in vy chureh | have

No-l was atraid of - never experienced 4
nEgativE repercussions M:fllm "::"e 0’" jt  obstaclestomy  Other (please specify) e mf i it Ll Yes, and | reported it (bank)
il 1report it T leadership based on b
my gender
4 14 215 4 5 7 B0
S Brethren In Christ U, % based on 369 total respondents
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Have you experienced or observed a major obstacle in pursuing a career in Q23

BIC church leadership because someone was a woman? Breakdown by

Gender

e s -

wo

n

- 204

- = Il..

s
. : @ N
M g ™ ™
. »m = 2 a2 =
No-In my chureh |
L ':‘:::’" o | Notmunsreof Have never P —
o haw/where to report | experienced obstacles. Other (please specify] Yes, and | reported it [dank)
repercussions if | . repart it
o it to my leadership
based on my gender
Female 3 2 109 19 3 4 49
Male 1 12 105 25 2 3 8
[blank} 0 0 1 0 0 0 3
®Female mMale = (blank)
= Brethren in Christ U.5. % based on female (189) or male (176) respondents

Qualitative Responses

*» There were two open-ended questions on the survey

» The open-ended questions were:
= Q24 - If you feel comfortable, please share about any incidents of barriers to
women’s advancements within BIC church leadership.
+ 76 Responses (38 Female, 38 Male), 17 n/a or none, 276 blank
= Q25 - What is the single most important thing the BIC church can do to support
women's advancements to all levels of church leadership?
*+ 194 responses (91 Female, 102 Male, 1 Blank), 175 blank

» A thematic summary of the open-ended responses is reported in
Appendix C (page 67 and 68)

. Brethren in Christ L.5.
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Appendix C

Thematic Summary of Women In Ministry Survey Responses to Open-Ended Questions,
Pauline Peifer.

Question #24: If you feel comfortable please share about any incidents of barriers to
women’s advancements within BIC church leadership
# lackof available positions and opportunities for purposeful placement of gifted women
® |nconsistent titles such as director instead of pastor for female positions.
* Ambivalence or opposition to women in senior leadership positions

o lack of theological education regarding wormen in ministry and leadership for church
boards and congregations

®  Established networks of majority male colleagues can be difficult for women to break into
o |lack of advocacy for women in leadership

® The official BIC egalitarian position for women in leadership is not embraced by all due to
complementarian views that are also present.

& Manual of Doctrine and Government does not clearly state the denominaticnal position
regarding women in leadership in the Articles of Faith and Doctrine.

o lack of widespread encouragement for women to become licensed or ordained

® Ministry women are not as involved upfront in preaching, at public events, in teaching
core courses or in denominational leadership positions.

o Church staff {excluding Senior Pastors) do not have a clear pathway to register
workplace complaints that may arise.

o Lack of support, counseling, and dedicated funding for the unique experiences of women is
not readily available for those who are navigating work-life balance.

67
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Question #25: What is the single most important thing the BIC Church can do to support
women’s advancements to all levels of church leadership?

® Revise statements in the Manual of Doctrine and Government to include women in
ministry in the Articles of Faith and Doctrine.

® (Clear Biblical teaching and Scriptural support in congregations and for church boards
regarding women in leadership.

® Promote open dialogue within congregations.
* Invite qualified women to teach, train, and assist with decision-making denominationally
& |ntentional mentorship and coaching for women in leadership

* Provide new opportunities. Hire more women. Provide models for women in leadership.
Share their stories

» Ensure thatsenior pastors who are hired will become advocates to support and
encourage women in leadership

® Give women more public opportunities: on stage, ministry development days, leading
conferences, teaching core courses

® Provide more direct encouragement for women toward licensure and ordination

* Promote equality and diversity in hiring practices

® Facilitate funding for professional training, counseling, issues of work-life balance.

® Setup processes where staff complaints can be received and addressed appropriately
® Seek out emerging leaders in girls and young women. Hire from within.

* Provide ongoing peer support mechanisms, accountability, and conflict resources as
needed

® Advance a culture where character, calling, and capacity are prayerfully considered
regardless of gender

68
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Appendix D

“Nepotism, Employment of Relatives and Personal Relationships,” Employee Handbook:
Brethren in Christ U.S,, February 1, 2018, 11.

BIC U.S. wants to ensure that its practices do not create situations such as conflict of interest or
favoritism. This extends to practices that involve employee hiring, p jon and fer. Close
relatives, those in a dating relationship or members of the same household are not permitted to be
in positions that have a reporting responsibility to each other. Close relatives are defined as
husband, wife, father, mother, father-in-law, mother-in law, grandfather, grandmother, son, son-in-
law, daughter, daughter-in law, uncle, aunt, nephew, niece, brother, sister, brother-in- law, sister-in-
law, step relatives, and cousins.

If employees begin a dating relationship or become relatives, or members of the same household
and if one party is in a supervisory position, that person is required to inform management and
Human Resources of the relationship.

BIC LLS. reserves the right to apply this policy to situations where there is a conflict or the potential
for conflict because of the relationship between employees, even if there is no direct- reporting
relationship or authority involved.

For those employees who are directly involved in defining compensation and benefits, this policy will
be strictly enforced. For other employees, exceptions to this policy may be granted by the Human
Resources Administrator in consultation with the National Director.
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Statistical Summary by Gender of Brethren in Christ U.S. Congregational Staff. Prepared

by Mitchell Martin, BIC US,, October 2021.
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Part 3:

Recommendations of

General Conference
Board (GCB)
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1. Approval of the Minutes of the 2020 General Assembly

Whereas General Conference Board is authorized by General Conference to approve the
minutes of General Assembly, and

Whereas General Conference Board, at its meeting on Friday, September 18, 2020, approved
the minutes of the 2020 General Assembly held online on July 11, 2020, and the approved
minutes were printed and distributed,

It is hereby resolved that the 2022 General Assembly confirms the action of the General
Conference Board in approving the minutes of the 2020 General Assembly.

https://bicus.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/GA-2020-Minutes2.pdf

ACTION: General Assembly voted to confirm the action of the General Conference Board in
approving the minutes of General Assembly 2020.
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2. Additions to the Articles of Faith and Doctrine

General Conference Board recommended amendments to two Articles in the BIC U.S.
Articles of Faith and Doctrine—Article II: God and Creation, and Article V: The Holy
Spirit and the Church.

Article II: God and Creation — The recommended amendment was to delete the
phrase “in a complementary way” from the Article because of potential confusion of
the word “complementary” with “complementarian,” which has become a theological
term to describe the view that men and women are not equally gifted, empowered, and

called by God for ministry:

God gave human sexuality a good place in creation. Being either male or female is
integral to who we are and imacomplenmentary-way provides for the full expression of
our humanity. God has given standards for expression of our sexuality that are
necessary for proper relationships among people. Human sexuality is affirmed within
the chaste single life or a lifelong marriage between a man and a woman.

A. ACTION: A paper ballot was requested. In the ballot, 256 votes were cast: 189 votes in
Jfavor of the recommendation and 67 votes against the recommendation. Therefore the recom-
mendation was adopted.

Article V: The Holy Spirit and the Church - This recommendation was intended to
make clear the BIC U.S. position that men and women are equally gifted, empowered,
and called by God for ministry and may serve at all levels of church life:

Original recommendation:

The Holy Spirit, who has been poured out on all people, gives spiritual gifts to all
believers according to His sovereign will and purposes. Scripture identifies a variety of
gifts, given for the building up of the church and for ministry in the world. Followers of
Jesus Bothrwomenandnren are gifted, empowered, and called by the Holy Spirit to
serve imfeadership at all levels of church life, and tFhe Holy Spirit guides the church
in setting apart persons, both women and men, for leadership. The church is respon-
sible to discern and encourage the use of the gifts of the Spirit in its life and ministry.

Amended recommendation:

The Holy Spirit, whohasbeenrpouredout omraltpeople, gives spiritual gifts to all
believers according to His sovereign will and purposes. Scripture identifies a variety of
gifts, given for the building up of the church and for ministry in the world. Followers of
Jesus Bothrwonrenrandnren are gifted, empowered, and called by the Holy Spirit to
serve imrteadership at all levels of church life, and tFhe Holy Spirit guides the church
in setting apart persons, both women and men, for leadership. The church is respon-
sible to discern and encourage the use of the gifts of the Spirit in its life and ministry.
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Clean reading copy:

The Holy Spirit gives spiritual gifts to all believers according to His sovereign will and
purposes. Scripture identifies a variety of gifts, given for the building up of the church
and for ministry in the world. Followers of Jesus are gifted, empowered, and called

by the Holy Spirit to serve at all levels of church life, and the Holy Spirit guides the
church in setting apart persons, both women and men, for leadership. The church is
responsible to discern and encourage the use of the gifts of the Spirit in its life and min-
istry.

B. ACTION: The General Assembly approved an amendment to the proposed recommenda-
tion by deleting the phrase “who has been poured out on all people”. A paper ballot was request-
ed to vote on the amended recommendation. In the ballot, 254 votes were cast: 177 votes in
Javor of the recommendation and 77 votes against the recommendation. Therefore the recom-
mendation, as amended, was adopted.

The Bylaws of the Brethren in Christ U.S. state that the Articles of Faith and Doctrine can
only be amended by a two-thirds majority vote at two successive meetings of General Assembly.
Therefore these amendments will be brought to the 2024 for their second reading and vote.
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3. Amendment to the Bylaws of the Brethren in Christ
U.s.

Whereas the Brethren in Christ U.S. has Bylaws that guide the governance of the Church,
and

Whereas it is considered helpful to have Bylaws that address expectations for congregations
that may be interested in being adopted into the Brethren in Christ U.S., and

Whereas Article 14.1 of the Brethren in Christ U.S. Bylaws states “These Bylaws may be
amended or repealed only by a two-thirds majority vote of the General Assembly,”

It is hereby resolved that the 2022 General Assembly approves the amendment of the
Bylaws of the Brethren in Christ U.S. by the addition of Article 7.7 Adopted
Congregations.

7.7 Adopted Congregations

7.7.1  Congregations that are not affiliated with the BIC U.S. and desire to join
the BIC U.S. shall complete a congregational adoption process outlined
by Leadership Council.

7.7.2  Before an unaffiliated congregation may join the BIC U.S., the congrega-
tion’s lead pastor shall meet the qualifications of a credentialed BIC US.
minister.

7.7.3  Requirements for BIC U.S. congregations stated in the MDG, other than
the foregoing Articles 7.7.1 and 7.7.2, may be temporarily waived for
adopted congregations for a specified time period. This waiver is only in
effect upon the recommendation of Leadership Council and approval by
GCB and the BOD of the Regional Conference in which the congrega-

tion is located.

proposed addition to the end of Article 7, pages 47-48, 2020 MDG

ACTION: The addition of Article 7.7: Adopted Congregations to the Bylaws of the Brethren
in Christ U.S. was approved as presented.
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4. Replacement of the Congregational Handbook in
the 2020 Manual of Doctrine and Government with the
Congregational Governance Articles

Whereas the Brethren in Christ U.S. has a Manual of Doctrine and Government (MDG)
that contains the doctrine and government of the Church, and

Whereas it is necessary from time to time to update the MDG so that it continues to be
current and relevant for Brethren in Christ U.S. congregations, and

Whereas the current MDG of the Brethren in Christ U.S. has a section titled Congrega-

tional Handbook that has been completely reviewed with proposed amendments, and

Whereas Article 1.3.2.3 of the Brethren in Christ U.S. Bylaws states that “Other sections
related to the governance of BIC U.S. may be included in the Manual of Doctrine and
Government by a two-thirds majority vote of the General Assembly, and may be amended,
suspended, or repealed by the same.”

It is hereby resolved that the 2022 General Assembly approves the amendment of the
Manual of Doctrine and Government of BIC U.S. by replacing the section titled
Congregational Handbook with Congregational Governance.

Changes tracked with strikeouts, bolds for proposed revision, and blue print

for new revision

CONGREGATIONAL HANDBOOK GOVERNANCE

The articles in this section are intended to provide practices and policies to
advance faithful and healthy BIC U.S. congregations. While congregations

may have distinct and diverse leadership and structures, these articles contain
common standards of governance expected of every BIC U.S. congregation. In
addition, a congregation shall function in a manner consistent with the other
sections of the Manual of Doctrine and Government (MDG); subject to the au-
thority, oversight, and direction of the regional bishop; and under the direction
of the congregation’s lead pastor and governing board.

The BIC U.S. Leadership Council may from time to time provide further guide-
lines or resources based on these articles to assist and advise congregations.

To add to, revise, or delete these articles, such changes must be recommended

by the General Conference Board and approved by a two-thirds vote of the
General Assembly.
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Article 1: Organization

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4
1.4.1

Congregational Purpose

The congregation is the local expression of the Church and the focused place
where the larger purpose of the Brethren in Christ U.S.: “...to foster a fellow-
ship of believers whose objective is to worship and obey the triune God, and
to proclaim the gospel to all people” is accomplished. It carries the responsi-
bility to develop its own missional presence in its community and beyond in
cooperation with the larger Church. The growth of the Church should be the

concern of each congregation and pastor.

Sodssavi Fehes o bershi ]

Congregacional Business Meeting

A congregational business meeting will shall be held at least once a year.
Functions of the congregational business meeting are stated in Article 7.4 of
the Bylaws of the BIC US., and further information is contained in Con-
gregational Governance Article 3.

Governing Board

Each congregation wilt shall be organized with a governing board. The duty
of the governing board is to provide for the administration of the congrega-
tion iratHtsphases consistent with actions of the congregational business
meeting, arrd-with Regional Conference Annual Meetlng, and General

mation on congregational governing boards is contained in Article 4.

Congregational Staff
Lead Pastor

The lead pastor is the BIC U.S. minister assigned by Leadership Council
to direct the congregation in a manner consistent with the MDG and
subject to the authority, oversight, and direction of the regional confer-
ence bishop.

<

1.4.1.1  Other titles, such as “pastor;
may be used for this role.

solo pastor;” or “senior pastor,’

1.4.1.2  Ifa congregation is led by credentialed co-pastors or team
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1.4.2

1.4.3

1.4.4

pastors, one or, at most, two of these individuals will be desig-
nated as lead pastor(s).

Pastoral Staff

Pastoral Staff serve as associate/assistant pastors or pastors giving over-
sight to specific areas of ministry.

Ministry Leadership Staff

Ministry leadership staff serve as directors or coordinators giving over-
sight to specific areas of ministry.

Support Staff

Support staff serve in auxiliary roles, including but not limited to admin-
istrative and maintenance personnel.

Article 2: Congregational Health

Amidst other goals and objectives of BIC U.S. congregations, a central aim for

each congregation should be to experience health and vitality in its ministries

and relationships. Indicators of health such as the following will be pursued and

strengthened by congregational leaders and participants:

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

Loving God

Individuals in the congregation are committed to the Great Command-
ment and are passionate in worship of and obedience to Christ. An en-
vironment of love is evident when congregants gather. Faith is nurtured
by preaching and teaching that are Jesus-centered, biblically-based, and
relevant to the times.

Loving Others

Persons in the congregation are mutually accountable to one another in
matters of faith and life. Individuals love, care, and pray for each other,
share each other’s joys and burdens, and admonish and correct one
another.

Compelling Mission

The congregation is focused on the Great Commission and is devoted to
reaching people with the gospel of Jesus Christ, discipling them toward
spiritual maturity, and serving the community and world.

Inspiring Leadership
Congregational leaders are viewed-with-trustand respect trusted and

respected for their integrity, humility, and commitment. and-t There is
an open invitation to participate in the life of the church, Ppeople in the
congregation are motivated to use their gifts to serve, and new leaders are

developed and engaged.
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2.5

2.6

Joyful Generosity

There is a generous spirit within the congregation.;gGiving of time,
talent, and treasure is are viewed as worship, and financial decisions are
guided by an abundance mindset. Tithing and sacrificial giving are dis-
cussed regularly and are seen as a privilege rather than an obligation.

Effective Approaches

The congregation has adequate systems in place to assure smooth opera-
tions. Leaders are affirmed and provided with the resources to advance
the ministries of the church. The purpose and mission of the church are
clearly stated and widely embraced.

Article 3: Church Membership

Members of a congregation shall be those who have met the membership require-
ments of the BIC U.S. and of that congregation. The list of members should be
reviewed and updated regularly.

3.1

BIC U.S. Requirements for Membership

Each member will have:

3.1.1 Expressed a personal decision to follow Jesus Christ as Savior
and a desire to live as an obedient disciple, and evidenced new

life in Christ.

. ot rrtheir-hearcs-confess faith

Fesus-Christas their-Savioramd-Eord-and-give-cvid o
bt G

3.12 Subsequent to a personal decision to follow Jesus Christ, been
baptized in keeping with the BIC U.S. practice of believer’s
baptism. (The historic Brethren in Christ practice of immers-
ing baptizees three times forward in the name of the Father,
Son, and Holy Spirit, in humble submission to Christ and the
Church, is encouraged though not required.)
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3.2

3.13

3.1.4

3.1.5

3.1.6

Expressed a commitment to the local BIC U.S. congregation
and a willingness to support the leadership of the congrega-
tion.

Affirmed openness to the teachings of Scripture as expressed
in the Doctrine of the BIC U.S., found in the MDG, and to the
practices and polity of the denomination.

Aol a1y ] . EeheScri o

feadershipofthe-HolySpirteand-tod Fof the-Church
. Efemarrd e

Demonstrated a readiness to engage fully in the life of the con-

gregation through prayers, serving with gifts and abilities, and

giving of finances; and a commitment to further the mission of

the church in a spirit of humility and unity.

EhristiamtovefeHowship—and-brotherhood-withd I c
1 . ] ththe-polityofthe BFE-HLS-
Been approved by the governing board at the recommendation of
the lead pastor.

Congregational Requirements for Membership

The congregation may determine membership policies and practices

relative to, but not limited to, the following:

3.2.1

3.2.2
3.2.3

The term of membership, whether continuous as long as a
member remains in good standing or for a fixed period of time
with a renewal process.

Teaching and training for prospective members.

Recognition and affirmation of new members by the congre-
gation. The practice of inviting new members to covenant
with the congregation by means of the following membership
covenant is encouraged though not required:

Aol TP Eebref ol l
e fotloms bersh '

As a member of the Brethren in Christ Church, I accept the Bible

as the Word of God in which is revealed the way of salvation and

the guide for faith and conduct. I witness to a personal experience

of God's saving grace in my heart and express desire and purpose to

live a holy life, apart from sin and separated unto Christ. I covenant

as a member of this Brethren in Christ Church to be loyal to the

congregation, to consent to instruction in Bible doctrine, to support

and sustain the services of the congregation by my regular attendance

and prayers, to contribute to the program of the church as the Lord
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prospers me, and to foster a spirit of Christian fellowship and oneness
within the church.

3.2.4 Special categories of membership, such as youth membership
or dual membership with another congregation.

3.2.5 Transfer of membership from one congregation to another. No
membership should may be transferred from one congregation to
another without persomat contact between receiving and sending
congregations.

3.2.6 Withdrawal, suspension, or termination of membership.
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3.3

Accountability and Discipline

BIC U.S. congregations are covenant communities in which members
encourage and support each other, so that each person may be faithful to
Christ and become more like Christ. Ideally, mutual accountability will
take place in relational settings of trust and open sharing prayer. How-
ever, situations of conflict or misconduct may arise which require the
awareness and intervention of congregational staff, the governing board,
and the Regional Conference bishop; such intervention may include, but
not be limited to, prayer, encouragement, counsel, and discipline.

3.3.1 Purpose of discipline

Discipline is intended to bring those who are in error to repen-
tance, helping them to receive the forgiveness, grace, and love
that are available in Jesus, and to maintain the integrity and
witness of the church.

3.3.2 Situations requiring discipline may include the following:
3.3.2.1 Conflict between persons in the congregation

It is expected that persons in conflict will first
attempt personally to resolve the conflict and
achieve reconciliation, in the spirit of Matthew
5:23-24, 18:15. If resolution is not achieved,
the lead pastor or the lead pastor’s designee may
provide counsel and facilitate reconciliation by
communicating directly with parties involved
(Matthew 18:16-17).

3.3.2.2 Conduct that is inconsistent with the faith and
practice of the congregation

In such cases, the erring individual will typically
be confronted in keeping with the principles of
Matthew 18:15-17 and Galatians 6:1-2, with
follow up by the lead pastor or the lead pastor’s
designee if the individual is unreceptive. This
response does not apply to allegations of or actual
conduct in violation of applicable law, which will
be addressed according to Article 3.3.4.
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3.3.3

3.3.4

Implementation of discipline

3.3.3.1

3.3.3.2

Discipline may involve implementation of a resto-
ration plan with stated expectations, conditions,
or restrictions on participation in congregational
activities, or suspension or termination of church
membership. It is to be carried out with a spirit of
gentleness and humility, with full knowledge that
those implementing the discipline may themselves
be easily tempted into sin.

The lead pastor shall confer with the governing
board and may consult the bishop before the lead
pastor or the lead pastor’s designee implements
discipline.

Allegations of or actual conduct in violation of applicable law

3.3.4.1

3.3.4.2

3.3.4.3

3.3.4.4

A congregation should consult its own legal coun-
sel in handling such alleged or actual conduct,
and must report, as required by law, any such
allegation or conduct to the applicable govern-
mental agencies including, but not limited to, law
enforcement.

A congregation should provide compassionate
care and ongoing support for each party involved
consistent with guidance provided by the lead pas-
tor or the lead pastor’s designee. Any such care or
support should be provided in respectful consid-
eration of the privacy and dignity of the affected
parties, and without impediment to any ongoing
internal or external investigation. Accountability
structures, such as conditions or restrictions on
participation in congregational activities, are im-
portant in walking with the accused and particu-
larly so if the accused is found guilty.

Given the complexity of each situation, imple-
mentation of discipline and efforts to facilitate
reconciliation will be evaluated and determined
by the lead pastor or lead pastor’s designee, in
consultation with the governing board, on a case-
by-case basis.

Without regard to whether a criminal charge is
brought or whether a conviction is obtained, the
lead pastor, in consultation with the governing
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board, may nevertheless determine after an inves-
tigation that misconduct has occurred and take
appropriate disciplinary action against the erring

party.

Article 4: Congregational Business Meeting

4.1

42

Personnel

41.1 The lead pastor is expected to be present and involved in all
congregational business meetings.

4.1.2 The chair of the governing board presides at the congregational
business meetings unless other provision is made in consultation

with the bishop.

413 Members of imfetowship-with the congregation, atteast t6years

of ageand-older; are expected eligible to vote on any recommen-
dations brought to imrthe business meetings omtegatnmatters.

Persons involved in the life of the congregation who are not
members may also be invited to attend and participate as de-
termined by the governing board.

Process Notice
42.1 Ttermsfor thecongregatiomalbusiness meeting arcpresented-to-
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tThe governing board, whoare is responsible to prepare the agen-
da for the congregational business meeting, and individuals
may suggest agenda items to the governing board for consider-
ation. The agenda should be released prior to the congregational
business meeting allowing time for persons in the congregation
to review the agenda beforehand; it is desirable for the agenda
to be released at least a week in advance.

422 No special congregational business meeting may be called without

the consent of the governing board. andapublicnoticebeing
. breadoftimort 1 1 erorl I

4.2.3 Notice of the place, time, and purpose of each regular or
special congregational business meeting shall be given to per-
sons in the congregation at least ten days before the meeting
through normal communication media. In lieu of any other
notice, however, notice may be given by announcement at any
two regular church services within 30 days before the meeting.

Article 5: Congregational Governing Board
5.1 Organization

5.1.1 The governing board will organize annually and meet at least
quarterly. Officers will be elected according to a process deter-

mined by the board Fheboard-wiltclectofficersfromramong its-
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5.1.2

5.1.3

52 Personnel

5.2.1

membersasmutuallyagreeduponrto carry out the functions of

the board and congregation; such officers may include, but are not
limited to, a chair, vice-chair, secretary, and treasurer. If the board
elects the lead pastor to serve as chair, the bishop shall approve
such action.

The governing board is not to meet without the lead pastor or
bishop, unless an Eexceptionsmustbr is cleared with the lead
pastor; or with the bishop, and with the knowledge of the lead

pastor.

Officers of the governing board will also serve as officers of the
congregation.

At Prospective members of the board shall:
5.2.1.1 Provide arctogive a personal testimony of salvation,

5.2.1.2 Affirm nranifest a concern for congregational
growth,

5.2.13 Affirm support for andshould-demonstraterespon=

sibitity withrevidenceof being imragreementwith the
purposes and doctrine goals of the BIC U.S,,

5.2.14 Confirm their commitment to the congregation,
with membership in the congregation being a pre-
requisite for membership on the governing board,
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5.3

522

5.2.3

5.2.4

5.2.5

Functions

5.3.1

5.3.2

and their support for the lead pastor.
The board shall ordinarity consist of the lead pastor and a mini-

mum of five and a maximum of twelve members, with Mmen and
women both being are eligible to serve.

Members of the governing board typically serve staggered,

multi-year terms, with consecutive service not to exceed twelve
years. Specific policies on board member service and terms are
to be set by the governing board, with reporting to the bishop.

T bechivibleforre-clectionaf Vs
. b I e s - ththeBishop:
The governing board is composed of the officers and of other
individuals in the congregation congregationatmembers who
are appointed assclected by the congregational business meet-
ing following a nomination process. Additional persons, such as
specific ministry representatives, may be invited to attend and
serve on the governing board in a nonvoting, advisory capac-
ity, as deemed appropriate by the governing board. Exofficio-
o e rmimistriesisd ] )
processedby thegoverning board:
When a conflict of interest may exist, a board member witl shall
declare the conflict, withdraw from discussion, and abstain from
voting. At the discretion of the board chair, the conflicted
board member may be asked to leave the meeting during the
time in which the item in conflict is being discussed and voted
on.

The governing board is the board of directors of the congre-
gation. It functions as a support and advisory group for the
lead pastor and also provides for structure and accountability
within the congregation.

In addition to other functions listed elsewhere in these articles
of Congregational Governance, the governing board shall
ensure that the following congregational governance standards
are met:

5.3.2.1 Variances

If the congregation wishes to vary its operational
and governing patterns in a manner inconsistent

115



5.3.2.2

5.3.2.3

5.3.2.4

5.3.2.5

5.3.2.6

5.3.2.7

with these Congregational Governance articles,
written approval shall be secured from the bishop.

Budgeting

The congregation shall have a procedure for the
preparation, adoption, and control of the annual
budget. Budgets should include contributions to
the Common Ministry of the BIC U.S.

Accounting Records

The congregation shall maintain records of the
general ledger and supporting journals, detailed
records of pledges, investments, loans, yearly
budget reports, and annual financial reports
including record of annual audit or review. Giving
statements shall regularly be provided to donors,
and copies of requested records or reports shall be
sent to the BIC U.S. yearly.

Administrative Records

The congregation shall securely maintain records
which will include governing board minutes, con-
gregational business meeting minutes, personnel
files, employment records, and governance and/or
legal documents, including any records required
by federal, state, or local government regulation.

Policies and Procedures

The congregation shall create, implement, and
publish any necessary policies and procedures
such as job descriptions, staff hiring procedures,
staff evaluations and compensation, child and
youth protection, and risk management. These
shall comply with and not contravene policies and

procedures established by the BIC U.S.
Property and Facilities

All congregational facilities shall be well-
maintained and in accordance with local building
and fire codes. Adequate risk and liability insur-
ance shall be secured and periodically reviewed.

Publicity and Development

Congregational development efforts shall demon-
strate biblical values, ethical standards, and donor

116



responsibility. All initiatives should engender
good public relations and confidence in the orga-
nization of the BIC U.S., its regional conferences,
and its congregations.

Article 6: Lead Pastor Search Committee

6.1

Purpose

6.1.1

The lead pastor search committee is responsible for securing a
lead pastor’s employment and setting compensation and terms
of service.
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6.2

6.3

6.1.2 Exceptions to the use of this committee occur:

6.1.2.1 in the event of a new church plant, in which case the
lead pastoral assignment will be made by the bishop
and-the National-Director in consultation with
Leadership Council.

6.12.2 when interim leadership is needed in a congrega-
tion; in such cases, the assignment is made terinr
feadershipimacongregationisassigmed by the bishop
in consultation with the governing board. Pastorat-
Committee:

Personnel

6.2.1 The governing board (except the lead pastor and any pastoral or
other staff who typically meet with the board) and the bishop
constitute the Pastoral lead pastor search €Ecommittee, with the
bishop, or the bishop’s designee initiating the search process and
serving as chair.

622 Whenfunctioningasapastoratscarchcommittee; 0Other persons
may be added as agreed upon by the bishop and governing board.

6.2.3 The outgoing lead pastor and other staff may be invited to
participate in the search process at the direction of the bishop.

a3 el SENETRNE

Duties

6.3.1 The lead pastor search committee solicits pastoral candidates
through the bishop, conducts interviews, and facilitates any

necessary background or reference checks. ThePastoral-Conr
. 1 ol | 1 :

6.3.2 The Regiomat €onfererrce bishop, the Pastorat lead pastor search

€committee, and the pastor individual under consideration
negotiate the assignment of a lead pastor, who is to be creden-

tialed through the Commission on Ministry and Doctrine prior
to installation. A written agreement witt must be provided,

including the following: FhePastoral-Committeeregotiatesthe
£l i ) ! ]
bud thi . " el o L

6.3.2.1 A job description.

6.3.2.2 Compensation, including such benefits, where
appropriate, as health insurance, retirement plan

118



contributions, and vacation.

6.3.2.3

tTerms of service, typically including a term length

of five years or less. withthepastor—Hreinitiat

Article 7: Lead Pastor Review Committee

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

The governing board (except the lead pastor and any pastoral or other
staff who typically meet with the board) and the bishop constitute the
lead pastor review committee, with the bishop, or the bishop’s designee
serving as chair.

534 HhecontinmanceofaA lead pastor’s service foltowingtheinitiat ternr
ofservice shall be wilbecome-extended for an additional term of service
only upon the joint consideration agreement of the PastoralbCommittee

lead pastor review committee, the bishop, and the lead pastor.

A new term of service will not be initiated without an end-of-term review
process guided by the lead pastor review committee. The committee will
determine in what manner to incorporate congregational feedback in the
review.

In the event of a disagreement over a further term of service for the lead
pastor, the bishop will evaluate the disagreement and will make a deter-
mination in the matter.

Article 8: Lead Pastors

8.1

Purpose

The lead pastor will be responsible for directing the life and ministries of the
congregation and will carry out duties as agreed upon with the governing

board.
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8.2

8.3

8.4

Accountability

8.2.1 The lead pastor is accountable admintistratively to the regional
bishop on issues of theology, polity, and compliance with the
MDG and shall keep in communication as often as desired by
cither the lead pastor or the bishop; contact with the bishop
should occur when the lead pastor is facing significant points
of personal or congregational decision, tension, or crisis.

822 The lead pastor is accountable functionalty to the congregationby
wayof the governing board for the ongoing work of the congre-

gation. In case of serious disagreement between the governing
board and lead pastor, the matter shall be submitted to the bishop.
bavimerrisdiction—Hthes: .. lved—Eeadershi
e o shatakedi .. fo '

Conditionsof Service Membership

e ot beacearob descrptiom " Lof
boththePrstorat Comn o SR
oot ofd 1 .

632 The lead pastor shall become a member of the congregation being

served upon commencement of his or her service.

gatiom:
Duties of Pastors
8.4.1 To serve as the primary spiritual overseer of the congregation,

promoting the health and vitality of the congregation’s life,
ministry, and mission

8.4.2 To clarify and champion the vision and values of the congrega-
tion and facilitate unified movement toward their fulfillment,

within the broader scope of the ministry and mission of the
BICU.S.

Fotendd o s
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8.4.3

8.4.4

8.4.5

8.4.6

8.4.7

8.4.8

8.4.9

To ensure givepriorityto the equipping traiming and deployment

of congregational leadership, including pastoral and other staff
where applicable, for ministry within and beyond the congrega-
tion

To foster the congregation’s missional presence in their local

community Foestablishand-overseeasystenmrofevangelism;-

To be alifelong learner, pursuing personal and professional

development through opportunities offered by the BIC U.S.
and other agencies Tocontinually preparcforeffective service by

To give monthly regular reports to the governing board, and an=
mmuatreports to the congregation and denomination as requested

To support, promote, and participate in the total ministry and
programs of the denomination, and to encourage the congrega-

tion to do the same bykeeping thecongregatiomrinformed-about
s svisiorminiserics-and-hert CH TR

el . h G LA bl . o
To abide by all congregational, regional, and denominational
commitments affirmed in the BIC U.S. Statement of Agree-
ment for Pastoral Service

To fulfill other duties specific to the congregation being served
as included in the provided job description FTosubmitaltre

oo reotommt Bid G ererat e
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8.5

8.6

1o o rorkewietd . e

ool E deromirmtiomabmini ]
throsefrmdstor-the demonmimtionab-off

Resignations or Unavaitabitity

Lead pastor Pastorat resignations should be submitted to the bishop, who
coordinates the subsequent announcements to the governing board and

congregation. TheBishopsshaltinformrthe Pastorat- Committecand-arrange
foramappropriateanmouncenent to-thecongregatior: After a resignation is

submitted, the outgoing lead pastor shall avoid involvement in the search

process with-thenegotiationsforamew pastorexcept as directed by the
bishop.inconmnectionrwith-the Pastoral-Commnittee:

Bisagreementor Discipline or Removal-of Pastor

: o ] 1 R o
A S A A S
bredLeadershin Coumcishath make-dispositiomof o '

8.6.1 Misconduct

8.6.1.1 If allegations of sexual or moral misconduct are
made against the lead pastor, the governing board
shall ensure that the bishop is promptly notified
of the allegations. To the extent that such miscon-
duct is reasonably determined to be in violation
of applicable law, the congregation should consult
its own legal counsel in handling the allegations,
and must report the alleged misconduct to the
applicable governmental agency including, but
not limited to, law enforcement as required by
law. In all instances of such allegations, the bishop
may suspend the lead pastor, with or without pay,
or place restrictions on the lead pastor’s ministry
in the congregation pending the outcome of an
investigation. In instances where the law does not
mandate reporting of allegations to and investi-
gation by governmental agencies (including law
enforcement), the bishop shall direct the investi-
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8.6.2

8.6.1.2

8.6.1.3

gation.

During and after the investigation, the bishop
will work with congregational staff and governing
board members not under investigation to ensure
the continuation of the congregation’s ministry
and compassionate care and ongoing support for
each party involved.

Based on the findings of the investigation, the
bishop may develop a discipline and restoration
plan or remove the lead pastor from his or her
position.

Unsound doctrine and work performance concerns

8.6.2.1

8.6.2.2

8.6.2.3

When allegations of unsound doctrine or work
performance concerns are made against the lead
pastor, the governing board shall ensure that the
bishop is promptly notified. The bishop may sus-
pend the lead pastor, with or without pay, or place
restrictions on the lead pastor’s ministry in the
congregation pending the outcome of an investi-
gation.

During and after the investigation, the bishop
will work with congregational staff and governing
board members to ensure the continuation of the
congregation’s ministry.

Based on the findings of the investigation, the
bishop may develop a discipline and restoration

plan or remove the lead pastor from his or her
position.

Article 9: Pastoral Other Staff Relationships
9.1 Stepsin Selection and Oversight

9.1.1

Pastoral or Ministry Leadership Staff

The lead pastor, in consultation with the governing board,

shall determine and implement processes for the selection,

oversight, and accountability of pastoral or ministry leadership

staff. The selection process should include:

9.1.1.1

Consultation between the lead pastor and the
bishop to assure the prospective staff member’s
compatibility with the doctrine and government
of BIC U.S.
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9.1.2

9.1.4

9.1.6

9.1.1.2 The use of a search committee or another means
of involving persons in the congregation who will
work with the new staff member.

Support Staff

The lead pastor or the lead pastor’s designee shall determine
and implement a process for the selection, oversight, and ac-
countability of support staff.

Regular performance reviews should be conducted for con-
gregational staff, including, when appropriate, feedback from
those who work directly with individual staff members.

Any staff member with concerns regarding a lead pastor’s
moral conduct, doctrinal soundness, or work performance
shall bring these concerns to the governing board and/or the

bishop or the bishop’s designee.

A congregation’s governing board should develop and imple-
ment hiring policies and procedures that include the process
to be followed in the hiring of a family member or members of
a person currently on staff. Such policies or procedures should
ensure the hiring process and reporting and accountability
structures are equitable and transparent.

A former lead pastor may serve in a staff role in the same con-
gregation he/she retired or resigned from only at the invitation
of the current lead pastor with the approval of the governing

board and the bishop.
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9.2 Conditions of Service

9.2.1 The lead pastor or the lead pastor’s designee shall provide a
written agreement to other staff upon their hiring, including
the following:

9.2.1.1 A job description.

9.2.1.2 Compensation, including such benefits, where
appropriate, as health insurance, retirement plan
contributions, and vacation.

9.2.1.3 Terms of service.

9.2.2 Upon the assignment of a new lead pastor, terms of service for
other staff may be reviewed by the lead pastor in consultation
with the bishop.



=33 Job Description:Fhere shattbe clear jobdescriptions foraH-associ-
oo Fhresetob-deserins; eorbeadanred
1 b ifisof ded

9.3 Discipline or Removal
9.3.1 Misconduct
9.3.1.1

9.3.2

9.3.1.2

9.3.1.3

Any allegations of sexual or moral misconduct
made against a staff member shall be addressed

as follows. To the extent that such misconduct

is reasonably determined to be in violation of
applicable law, the congregation should consult
its own legal counsel in handling the allegations,
and must report the alleged misconduct to the ap-
plicable governmental agency including, but not
limited to, law enforcement as required by law. In
all instances of such allegations, the lead pastor,
in consultation with the governing board, may
suspend the staff member, with or without pay, or
place restrictions on the staff member’s ministry
in the congregation pending the outcome of an
investigation. In instances where the law does not
mandate reporting of allegations to and investi-
gation by governmental agencies (including law
enforcement), the lead pastor or the lead pastor’s
designee shall direct the investigation.

During and after the investigation, the lead pastor
or the lead pastor’s designee will work with other
staff and governing board members not under
investigation to ensure the continuation of the
congregation’s ministry and compassionate care
and ongoing support for each party involved.

Based on the findings of the investigation, the lead
pastor, in consultation with the governing board,
may develop a discipline and restoration plan or
remove the staff member from his or her position.

Unsound doctrine and work performance concerns

9.3.2.1

When allegations of unsound doctrine or work
performance concerns are made against a staff
member, the lead pastor, in consultation with the
governing board, may suspend the staff member,
with or without pay, or place restrictions on the
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staff member’s ministry in the congregation pend-
ing the outcome of an investigation.

9.3.2.2 During and after the investigation, the lead pas-
tor or the lead pastor’s designee will work with
congregational staff not under investigation and
governing board members to ensure the continua-
tion of the congregation’s ministry.

9.3.2.3 Based on the findings of the investigation, the lead
pastor, in consultation with the governing board,
may develop a discipline and restoration plan or
remove the staff member from his or her position.
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Article 10: Congregational Ministry

All followers of Jesus are gifted by the Holy Spirit to serve in ministry. This minis-
try may be within the programs, activities, and initiatives of the congregation as it
seeks to accomplish its purpose and mission or within the local or global commu-
nity. Each congregation, under the leadership of the lead pastor, should orga-

nize its ministries in whatever ways are best suited to its particular context. This
organization may include individuals serving in specific roles, such as deacons, or
teams of individuals working together to meet ministry needs. The roles filled and
teams created will vary in number, type, and composition based on the needs of
the congregation at a given time.
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Article 11: Delegates

11.1

General Assembly Delegates

Delegates are elected biennially to the General Assembly in accord with
Article 2.4 of the BIC U.S. Bylaws. No congregation may exempt itself from
delegate representation to General Assembly without the consent of the
bishop. Travel and other authorized costs become a part of the congrega-
tional budget. Pastors and delegates are responsible to report back on actions
of General Assembly to the governing board of the congregation.

Regional Conference Delegates

Delegates are elected to represent the congregation at regular and special
meetings of the Regional Conference in accordance with Regional Confer-
ence directives. No congregation may exempt itself from delegate representa-
tion to Regional Conference without the consent of the bishop. Expenses

for these delegates are the responsibility of the congregation. Pastors and
delegates are responsible to report back on actions of Regional Conference to
the governing board of the congregation.

Article 12: ReviewBoard Bishop Authority, Oversight, and Direction

All BIC U.S. congregations are to “function in a manner consistent with the
MDG:; subject to the authority, oversight, and direction of the regional bishop;
and under the direction of the congregation’s lead pastor and governing board”
(BIC U.S. Bylaws 7.1).

12.1

12.2

In instances where, in the bishop’s judgment, these expectations are not
being met, he or she has authority to intervene, mandating changes in
congregational life, practice, and personnel, or implementing discipline.

The bishop, in consultation with the National Director, may choose to
convene a review board consisting of the bishop and a minimum of three
persons from outside the congregation. The review board will apply bib-
lical principles in its review of the situation and shall make recommenda-
tions to the Leadership Council. Recommendations may include, but

are not limited to, appointing a mediation team, mandating arbitration,
prescribing changes in congregational life and practice, suspending or
removing a lead pastor or other pastor(s) or staff member(s), governing
board member(s) or other member(s).



The recommended replacement of the Congregational Handbook in the 2020 Manual of
Doctrine and Government with the Congregational Governance Articles was approved
with the following changes:

A.ACTION: The General Assembly approved an amendment from the floor to Article 2.5:
Joyful Generosity. The recommendation was then approved as amended:

Original Recommendation:

There is a generous spirit within the congregation.; gGiving of time, talent, and
treasure is are viewed as worship, and financial decisions are guided by an abun-
dance mindset. Tithing and sacrificial giving are discussed regularly and are seen as
a privilege rather than an obligation.

Amended Recommendation:

There is a generous spirit within the congregation. Financial decisions are guided by
an abundance mindset. Giving of time, talent, and treasure is viewed as worship and is
discussed regularly.

B. ACTION: The General Assembly approved an amendment from the floor to Article 3: BIC

U.S. Requirements for Membership. The recommendation was then approved as amended.:

3.1.4: Affirmed openness, through the leadership of the Holy Spirit and counsel of
the Church, to the teachings of Scripture as expressed in the Doctrine of the BIC US.,
found in the MDG, and to the practices and polity of the denomination.

3.2.3: Recognition and affirmation of new members by the congregation. The practice
of inviting new members to covenant with the congregation by means of the following
membership covenant is strongly encouraged:

C. ACTION: Article 10: Congregational Ministry was approved as presented.:

All followers of Jesus are gifted by the Holy Spirit to serve in ministry. This ministry
may be within the programs, activities, and initiatives of the congregation as it secks

to accomplish its purpose and mission or within the local or global community. Each
congregation, under the leadership of the lead pastor, should organize its ministries in
whatever ways are best suited to its particular context. This organization may include
individuals serving in specific roles, such as deacons, or teams of individuals working
together to meet ministry needs. The roles filled and teams created will vary in number,
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type, and composition based on the needs of the congregation at a given time.

D. ACTION: The General Assembly approved a new article: Article 11: Deacons. This article
was drafted in response to several suggestions from the floor that the Congregational Governance
section of the Manual of Doctrine and Government needed a separate article for deacons and
that it should include biblical passages that outline qualifications.

Article 11: Deacons

11.1: A congregation may appoint men and women to the role of deacon to serve in
designated areas of ministry. Deacons shall be chosen according to a process
and for a term set by the governing board.

11.2: Qualifications for deacons include those outlined in 1 Timothy 3:8-12 and Acts
6:3, and others determined by the governing board based on the roles and
responsibilities of the position.
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5. Replacement of the Ministerial Credentialing section
in the 2020 Manual of Doctrine and Government with
the revised Ministerial Credentialing Articles

Whereas the Brethren in Christ U.S. has a Manual of Doctrine and Government (MDG)
that contains the doctrine and government of the Church, and

Whereas it is necessary from time to time to update the MDG so that it continues to be
current and relevant for Brethren in Christ U.S. congregations, and

Whereas the current MDG of the Brethren in Christ U.S. has a section titled Ministerial
Credentialing that has been completely reviewed with proposed amendments, and

Whereas Article 1.3.2.3 of the Brethren in Christ U.S. Bylaws states that “Other sections
related to the governance of BIC U.S. may be included in the Manual of Doctrine and
Government by a two-thirds majority vote of the General Assembly, and may be amended,
suspended, or repealed by the same.”

It is hereby resolved that the 2022 General Assembly approves the amendment of the
Manual of Doctrine and Government of BIC U.S. by replacing the section titled
Ministerial Credentialing with the revised section with the same title.

Changes tracked with strikeouts and bolds

MINISTERIAL CREDENTIALING
Article 1: Ministers

1.1 Qualifications

1.1.1 BIC U.S. ministers are men and women who meet the biblical

Scripturat qualifications for ministers aregiven such as those in 1

Timothy 3:1-7 and Titus 1: 7—9 Gmd'rd-ztcymsrgwc-dca-rtcsn-

importanceof Such qualifications include a personal experience
of God’s saving grace and power evidenced in regeneration,
transformation, and exemplary godly living; a sense of calling

to Christian ministry accompanied by the affirmation of the
church; demonstrated graces and gifts to serve as a minister of
the gospel; and a commitment to be a lifelong disciple of Jesus.



storrs of Generat Assembty:
Drawing upon the biblical qualifications for those who serve as
ministers, BIC U.S. specifically expects ministers to:

1.1.2.1 exemplify godly living,

1.1.2.2 be passionate followers of Jesus and representa-

tives of God’s kingdom,

1.1.2.3 affirm a personal belief in the BIC U.S. Articles
of Faith and Doctrine and Core Values and a will-
ingness to abide by the Manual of Doctrine and
Government,

1.1.2.4 be examined to ensure compatibility with the BIC
U.s.,

Fhewilh bedi v thedecisi c
General-Assembly;

1.1.2.5 be faithful in one’s commitment to the Church,

1.1.2.6 engage in lifelong learning as a minister of the
gospel,

1.1.2.7 be assigned to and continue to serve in a ministry

role approved for BIC U.S. ministerial credential-
ing as listed in Article 1.2.

Ministry Roles Eligible for Assignment and Credentialing

Leadership Council assigns ministers AmAssigmedMinister-hasbeenras-
signedbyactiomrof Eeadership-Councit to serve in omreof these categories:

1.2.1
1.2.2

1.2.3
1.2.4
1.2.5
1.2.6
1.2.7

Minister serving as lead pastor

Minister serving as assoctate-or-assistart-pastor pastoral staff

member

Minister under assignment as missionary

Minister on leave to pursue further study

Minister serving as member of Leadership Council
Minister serving an inter-church organization

Minister under a special assignment desigmation recognized by

Leadership Council as described in Article 6 {egs 5

counsclor;chaptainy

22 Gue N TR IS TUE IS

Coumcit-inchding theanthority-to-d T
1 terrtibs e itdberermd .
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1.3

1.4

Duties and Privileges

1.3.1 It shall be the calling duty of ministers to share preach the gospel
of Jesus Christ, prayerfully strive to lead sinners to the Savior and
believers into the Spirit-filled life, and earnestly endeavor to edify
the body of Christ. Specific responsibilities of a minister’s role
should be included in a job description provided by the appro-

priate supervising person or group.

1.3.2 Fhey Ministers are eligible to perform official duties within
the limits of their credentials;, including, but not limited to,
administering the ordinances and officiating at weddings and
funerals.

1.3.3 It is the privilege of the minister to officiate at the marriage wed-
ding of persons who, after adequate instruction and counsel, can
affirm the principles of Christian marriage, including a lifelong
commitment to the marriage relationship. Ministers are not
obligated to officiate at nmarriages weddings that violate their con-
sciences or otherwise are not in harmony with their understand-

ing of seripturat biblical principles. In keeping with our biblical
and theological understanding, ministers forotherauthorized

persomsy shall not officiate at or recognize same-sex nmarriages
weddings or unions, nor shall such nrarrtages weddings or unions

be performed in a BIC USS. facility. When there is a question
regarding the minister’s credentialing a marriage wedding, it is
advisable for the minister to consult with the bishop and the gov-
erning board of the local congregation.

Credentialing forMintstry Authority

1.4.1 The Leadership Council has authority in all credentialing
matters. This authority includes the issuing, renewing, not
renewing, and revoking of all BIC U.S. ministerial credentials.
Questions covering credentialing eligibility shall be decided by

Leadership Council.

1.4.2 The Commission on Ministry and Doctrine serves under the
authority of Leadership Council and administers the creden-
tialing processes.
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Article 2: Ministerial Credentials

BIC U.S issues ministerial credentials to individuals in these categories—a
licensed minister (and a retired licensed minister), an ordained minister (and a
retired ordained minister), and a commissioned minister. All candidates for these
ministry credentials are expected to meet the qualifications for BIC U.S. ministers
contained in Article 1.1 and to follow the processes established by the author-

ity of Leadership Council and administered by the Commission on Ministry and
Doctrine.

Article 3: Licensed Ministers
3.1 Description

Licensed ministers are men and women persors who meet the required
qualifications in Article 1.1 and have completed the required process to

become a llcensed minister of BIC U.S. a-rc-grmcd-forrrm-l-hcmscnrs-rrrm-
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3.2 Term of License

3.2.1 Three-year Provisional License. The provisional license is valid
for three years and cannot be renewed.

3.2.2 Six-year Ministry License. The six-year ministry license is re-
newable until retirement if the minister continues to meet the
qualifications for a BIC U.S. minister.

3.3 Retirement

Upon entering retirement, a licensed minister may be given a retired
licensed minister credential if he or she has reached retirement age and
served as a licensed minister in good standing for a minimum of the 10
years immediately prior to retirement. The retired licensed minister
credential is continuous as long as the retired minister meets the qualifi-
cations for BIC U.S. ministers.

Ercensedmimistersd tidrres forordimtionwherd l
erincstablished i Mimisterik Credentizbime Articke 3and l
- tesertbed i thartice.

Article 4: Ordained Ministers

4.1 Ordination is the church’s recognition of the character, calling, and gifts
of the minister. Ordained ministers are men and women who meet the
required qualifications for BIC U.S. ministers and have completed the
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4.2

required process to become an ordained minister of BIC U.S.

Term of Ordination

Ordination is renewable every six years until retirement if the minister
continues to meet the qualifications for a BIC U.S. minister.

4.3

Retirement

Upon entering retirement, an ordained minister may be given a retired
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ordained minister credential if he or she has reached retirement age and
served as a minister in good standing for a minimum of the 10 years im-
mediately prior to retirement. The retired ordained minister credential

is continuous as long as the retired minister meets the qualifications for
BIC U.S. ministers.

Article 5: Commissioned Ministers

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

Description

Commissioned ministers are men and women persomns called by a congre-
gation to serve in a supportive staff position with one or more ordained

or licensed ministers. whocarry the-primary resporsibitity for preaching;-
teaching; and-discipling imthecongregation—they Commissioned ministers

serve under the authority of the senior congregation’s lead pastor with the
knowledge and consent of the bishop and are expected to meet the quali-
fications for BIC U.S. ministers. Preaching and teaching are not primary
responsibilities of their positions, but they may serve regularly in such
areas of ministry as visitation, chaplaincy, and administration. Fhoscwho

Commissioning Process

An applicant for commissioning shall make application to the Commission
on Ministry and Doctrine through the senior lead pastor and with the ap-
proval of the bishop. To be certifred credentialed as a commissioned minister,
the applicant must present a satisfactory endorsement from the governing
board of the congregation being served and meet the criteria of certification

established by the Commission on Ministry and Doctrine. Acertifreatewith
bes Fsiored-by-tl Eehe .. i HPoc
Ministerial Privileges

Commissioned ministers serve under the direction of the lead pastor and
may qualify to officiate at weddings and funerals if permitted by applicable

law. and-may-administer theordimancesat thediscretionrof theserior pastor:

Tenure

5.4.1 A commissioned minister’s certification is continuous as long
as the following criteria are in effect:

5.4.1.1 the minister meets the qualifications for a BIC
U.S. minister,
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5.4.1.2 the lead pastor through whom the application for
commissioning was made remains assigned to that
congregation, and

5.4.1.3 the endorsement of the congregation’s governing
board continues.

5.4.2 With the approval of the bishop, a commissioned minister may
be transferred to a qualifying staff position in another congre-
gation.

rrrrimicreria] S bt cotmeide it
bt o S b
o positomeitharod o

5.5 Ministerial License

commissioned minister, when called to a pastoral position which has
A d t h lled ¢ toral t hich h
preaching, teaching, and discipling as primary responsibilities, is required to

obtain a full ministerial license. byapplyingtotheCommisstorronmivinistry-
ardDoctrime:

Article 6: Ministers Under Special Assignment
6.1 Descriptions

Ministers under special assignment are men and women who are either
licensed or ordained BIC U.S. ministers and have been assigned by Lead-

ershlp Councxl toa recogmzed ministry p051t10n. thoseservingirrspecial-

il. Such ministries

include, but are not limited to: misstormarics;assigmed evangelists, institution-

al chaplains, licensed counselors, and those teaching in religion departments
of colleges, and universities, and seminaries.

6.2 Qualifications

Those serving as credentialed ministers under special assignment shall meet

the mintsteriat qualifications and-theexpectationsof the-Commisstorron
Ministryand-Doctrineforcredentiating in the BFE-H:S: for BIC U.S. min-

isters.
6.3 Accountability

Ministers serving under special assignment shall maintain active membership
with a BIC U.S. congregation and shall be recognized as a minister of the
Regional Conference in which that congregation is located. In the exercise
of their ministry they shall be accountable to the appropriate member of
Leadership Council.

ACTION: This recommendation was adopted.
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6. Appointment of General Conference Board Members

Whereas the Article 2.2.5 of the Brethren in Christ U.S. Bylaws states that General Assem-
bly is authorized to “Appoint members of General Conference Board,” and

Whereas Articles 3.4.1 and 3.4.2 of the Brethren in Christ U.S. Bylaws state that the
General Conference Board nominate new Board Members following consultation with
and receiving recommendations from Leadership Council and the Board of Directors of
Regional Conferences, and

Whereas the General Conference Board has done its work of nominating individuals for
the various positions required to be filled for the upcoming biennium,

It is hereby resolved that the 2022 General Assembly approves the nominating committee
report as presented and that the national director cast a unanimous ballot for all nominees
as presented. New terms begin at the close of the 2022 General Assembly.

Appointment of General Conference Board Members

MEMBER (OF) CURRENT NOMINEE TERM EXPIRATION - NUMBER
Allegheny Sherri Flohr 2024 — Ist term

Atlantic Adam Forry Adam Forry 2026 — 3rd term

Great Lakes Abby Kean 2024 — Ist term

Midwest Denise Conway Denise Conway 2024 — Filling vacated term
Pacific Tom Law 2024 — Ist term

Southeast Rachel Diaz Rachel Diaz 2026 — 3rd term
Susquehanna Naomi Smith Naomi Smith 2026 — Ist full term

At large Nicole Airth Nicole Airth 2026 — Ist full term

At large Bonnie Hershberger Bonnie Hershberger 2026 — Ist full term

At large Emerson Lesher Jonah Langenderfer 2026 — Ist term

At large Cathy Musser Jacob Lougheed 2026 - Ist term

At large Brian Mbuu 2024 — Ist term

At large Kevin Noll 2024 — Ist term

At large Jose Rodriquez 2024 — st term

At large Julie Stout 2024 — 2nd term

Ex officio Alan Robinson
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Sherri Flohr, Allegheny Conference

Sherri Flohr, representing the Allegheny Conference, began
serving on General Conference Board in 2018.

Sherri has led at national, regional, and local levels of the
Brethren in Christ U.S. At the national level, Sherri serves as
facilitator for the BIC Directed Study Program and has been
a member of the BIC Equipping for Ministry team.

For the Allegheny Conference, she serves on the board of
directors, as well as the discipleship council. She has also served on bishop selection for
the conference. Sherri has led young adult, youth, and ministry programs and events for
Allegheny Conference and Roxbury Holiness Camp, where she was a director and com-
mittee member.

Having grown up in the Chambersburg (Pa.) BIC Church, Sherri was on the Board of
Christian Education, a member of the personnel committee, and director of VBS. Today,
Sherri participates in Five Forks Church, Waynesboro, Pa., where she was director for youth
ministries, and served on the church board, worship committee, and Sunday school teach-
ing team. She led several international mission trips and continues to serve in various ways
at Five Forks Church.

Sherri has a Master of Arts in global leadership from Fuller Seminary’s School of Intercul-
tural Studies and a bachelor’s degree in Christian education and music at Messiah College
(now Messiah University). Having benefited from leadership training in the BIC U.S.
Church, Sherri has a vision to see the BIC U.S. continue to emphasize developing and
equipping leaders to live out their full potential in Christ.

Sherri, and her husband, Mark, reside in Chambersburg, Pa. They have two adult children.

Adam Forry, Atlantic Conference

Adam Forry, representing the Atlantic Conference, began
| serving on General Conference Board in 2014.

He grew up as part of the Mount Pleasant BIC congrega-
tion, Mount Joy, Pa., where generations of his father’s family
attended. After graduating from Messiah College (now
Messiah University) in 1999, Adam went on to serve as an
associate pastor in two BIC congregations and then became
lead pastor at Speedwell Heights BIC, Lititz, Pa. in 2008. That same year, he completed

his Master of Arts in Ministry at Lancaster Bible College. Since 2019, Adam has served as
senior pastor of Elizabethtown (Pa.) Brethren in Christ Church (EBIC).

Asa “cradle BIC, Adam is excited that the BIC faith family has expanded and crossed
potential barriers of all kinds to become a diverse, international church with 80 percent of
its people outside North America. He sees local churches as the center of God’s work in the

world as they seck to reach people for Christ, disciple believers, and make an impact locally
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and globally. He is grateful to serve on both GCB and the Atlantic Conference board of

directors as they support and strengthen the mission of local congregations.

Adam enjoys reading, trying new foods, and going for walks with his mini goldendoodle.
He and his wife, Kimberly, live in Manheim, Pa., with their daughter, Cassie, and sons,

Trace and Liam.

Abby Kean, Great Lakes Conference

Abby Kean, representing the Great Lakes Conference, began
serving on General Conference Board in 2020.

A proud native of Milwaukee, Wis., Abby has been a part of
New Vision BIC just outside Milwaukee since 2010. Having
come to know Jesus personally through the ministry of Inter-

Varsity Christian Fellowship early in college, Abby’s adult life
has always been framed by an understanding that ministry
and missional living is central to the Christian life regardless of vocation. Though active in
Bible studies, worship ministry, and global missions work since college, she sees her vocation
as a high school history and theater teacher as her primary missionary assignment.

Since joining New Vision and the BIC (which she met through a family at her school), Abby
has been a regular part of the musical worship team, a facilitator for large group gatherings,
and a committed member of weekly Life Group. She has also been a member of the church
board/leadership team since 2013. She has also served as the congregation’s Director of Mis-
sions, helping to lead three summer teams at the Navajo BIC Mission and participating on a
Vision and Prayer Team that New Vision sent to visit World Missions workers in Thailand in
2016.

When not in the classroom, working on the next school play, or “something with church,”
Abby looks forward to video calls with out-of-town friends and family, game nights, and
long walks outside listening to a good audiobook.

Denise Conway, Midwest Conference

Denise Conway, representing the Midwest Conference,
began serving on General Conference Board in 2022.

Denise is a BIC U.S. missionary in New Mexico. In 2003
she came to Christ after battling drug and alcohol addic-
tions through her youth and young adulthood. She became

a member of Revolution Church in Salina, Kans. where

she was discipled and began to serve in youth ministry.
She first sensed a call to cross-cultural missions at a BIC U.S. World Missions conference
hosted by Revolution in 2007, and soon after began her missionary journey among the
Navajo people in New Mexico.

Her background in education is a foundation for her ministry. She has a degree in teach-
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ing from Adam’s State University and spent several years teaching at the BIC Navajo
Mission and in a special education setting. She now helps adults who never finished high
school attain their GED diplomas. She is an associate pastor at Broken Walls Fellow-
ship, a contextual Native American church plant in Fruitland, NM, and helps facilitate a
church for the homeless. Additionally, she serves on the Midwest Conference youth team
and helps lead summer camps and spring retreats.

Tom Law, Pacific Conference

Tom Law, representing the Pacific Conference, began serv-
ing on General Conference Board in 2018.

An optometrist for 40 years, Tom led as vision depart-
ment chairperson for two large medical groups in Southern
California, while maintaining an active clinical practice for

23 years. He took over a private practice 17 years ago where
he works full time. Passionate about sharing his faith, Tom is
grateful his vocation often enables him to share the amazing grace found in Christ Jesus.

Tom serves as leadership board chairperson at Solid Ground Church, Alta Loma, Calif,,
where he has been a member since 1981. There he also serves as deacon, treasurer, and life
group leader. Over the years at Solid Ground, Tom has assisted on various church boards
and has been a worship and Awana leader, as well as a Sunday school superintendent and
teacher. In connection with Azuza Pacific University, he has participated on medical mis-
sions trips to Mexico.

Tom completed a Bachelor of Science in biological science from the University of Califor-
nia, Irvine. At the Southern California College of Optometry, he earned a second bach-
elor’s degree in visual science and his doctorate in optometry.

Enjoying dialoguing with people of many backgrounds, Tom believes God has gifted us
with heart, intellect, and energy in order to share our faith and to engage in God’s story.
Living in Rancho Cucamonga, Calif., Tom and his wife, Kimberly Bert, have seven children
between them and three grandchildren.

Rachel Diaz, Southeast Conference
Rachel Diaz, representing the Southeast Conference, began

serving on General Conference Board in 2014.

Since childhood, Rachel has actively participated in develop-
ing the South Florida cluster of BIC churches.

A member of Iglesia Rescate in Hialeah, Fla., Rachel previ-
ously volunteered in a number of Brethren in Christ congre-

gations with worship, youth work, small groups, translation,
and legal assistance. She also served for four years on the BIC Board for World Missions.
She continues to be an active member of her local church where she serves in various capaci-
ties.
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Rachel’s unique perspective as a bilingual, urban attorney is an asset both to the churches

in South Florida and to the larger denomination. It is her prayer that the BIC US. would
become a prominent presence in its surrounding society — strengthened, united, and grow-
ing to better reach out into the world for the sake of God’s Kingdom.

Rachel and her husband, Hamlet, live in South Florida with their two daughters.

Naomi Smith, Susquehanna Conference

Naomi (Spurrier) Smith, representing the Susquehanna
Conference, began serving on General Conference Board
in 2021.

Naomi was born into a BIC pastoral family and spent most
of her childhood in Dillsburg, Pa. She graduated from
Houghton College in 2005 with a bachelor’s degree in

English literature. After living in Houghton, N.Y. and State
College, Pa., she and her husband Jason spent a year in Arusha, Tanzania before returning
to Dillsburg in 2015.

Naomi serves as an associate pastor at the Dillsburg BIC Church, where she oversees
areas of discipleship for adults and children. She is passionate about intergenerational
discipleship and finding ways for people of all ages to learn together and from each other.
She especially loves studying the Bible in community. She represents the fourth genera-
tion of BIC pastors in her family and is grateful for that legacy.

She lives with her husband, their three children, and her parents on the east side of a
wooded mountain. She enjoys long walks, good books, family movie nights, and Saturday
morning pancakes.

Nicole Airth, member-at-large

Nicole Airth, of the Pacific Conference, began serving on
General Conference Board in 2020 as a member-at-large.

Nicole was born into the Brethren in Christ family and

has served the church her whole life. She and her husband,
Steve, planted GracePoint BIC in 2005 where they con-
tinue as the pastoral couple. She has been active in her local

church by serving on the worship team and ministering to

all age groups from children through young adults.

Nicole has served on multiple Pacific Conference boards and teams, most recently the mul-
tiplication team, which evaluates and equips potential church planting couples.

Nicole graduated with her master’s degree in College Counseling and Student Development
in May of 2019. She currently works at California State University of Fullerton as the Spe-
cialized Accomodations Coordinator for deaf and hard of hearing students. She has a heart
for students who have been battling an oppressive system their whole lives and searches for
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ways to break down barriers that keep her students from being successful.

In her free time, she enjoys reading, fishing, and traveling with her family. She has made

it her life’s mission to enjoy a Starbucks caramel macchiato in as many places as possible.
She and her husband Steve, live in Ontario, Calif. with their four children, Isaiah, Luke,
Andrew, and Abbie.

Bonnie Hershberger, member-at-large

Bonnie Hershberger, from the Susquehanna Conference,
began serving on General Conference Board in 2021 asa
member-at-large.

Bonnie came to the BIC in 1997 when her husband, Dave,
started serving as worship pastor of Mechanicsburg (Pa.)

BIC.

She is an attorney who has practiced both in the public and
private sectors. In addition to her Juris Doctor degree, Bonnie has a Master of Laws from
Villanova University School of Law. She currently works as an assistant general counsel and
specializes in health and benefits law.

She volunteers her legal services for the Pennsylvania Innocence Project, an organization
that works to exonerate those who have been wrongfully convicted and advocates for
criminal justice reforms. Additionally, she serves as a board member and chair of the mis-
sion committee at Bethesda Mission, a ministry that has cared for the poor and homeless in
Harrisburg, Pa. since 1914.

Bonnie is passionate about cultivating intimacy with God, living a lifestyle of worship,
growing in biblical literacy, and walking alongside others as they pursue the same. She and
Dave live in Mechanicsburg, Pa. with their miniature schnauzer, Titus.

Jonah Langenderfer, member-at-large

Jonah Langenderfer, Great Lakes Conference, is a General
Conference Board nominee as a member-at-large.

Jonah’s story began in a broken home with his parents’ men-
tal illness and eventual divorce. Jonah was placed in foster
care at the age of 5. Tragically, his father died shortly after in
awork accident. Yet by God’s grace, it was in this tragic mo-
ment that God began to turn things around. God was work-
ing behind the scenes to bring good even out of his father’s death. Instead of getting out

of foster care, Jonah was put into a different foster family where he heard about the Good
News of Jesus through a local Baptist church. Through this community, Jonah experienced
the love and healing of Jesus that turned his life around.

Jonah sensed God’s call to ministry while attending Cedarville University for a degree in
Biblical Studies. After graduating in 2014, he went on to complete his Master of Divinity in
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2018 from Trinity Evangelical Divinity School outside Chicago, Ill. Since 2019, Jonah has
served as senior pastor of Pleasant Hill Brethren in Christ Church in Pleasant Hill, Ohio.

While Jonah was not raised Brethren in Christ, he has gratefully found a theological home
in the BIC after worshipping and serving in different evangelical denominations. He be-
lieves that BIC history and DNA - like our core value of pursuing peace - has great poten-
tial to guide us towards faithfulness to Jesus in today’s context in the US.

Jonah enjoys reading, movies, sports (especially basketball), hiking, eating good food, and
spending time with family. He and his wife, Amy, a neuropsychology resident practicing in
the Dayton area, reside in Pleasant Hill, Ohio, with their two sons, Preston and Pierce.

Jacob Lougheed, member-at-large
Jacob Lougheed, Allegheny Conference, is a General Con-

ference Board nominee as a member-at-large.

Grafted into the BIC in August 2001, Jacob first came to
be part of the BIC when he moved with his family from
Stouftville, Ontario, Canada to Greencastle, Pa. where his
father serves as a pastor at Hollowell BIC.

Jacob has participated in a variety of ways at the local church
level for the last 21 years. Currently, Jacob facilitates a Young Families Life Group, remains
connected with missions in the Dominican Republic, has served as a youth sponsor, and

has coached softball and basketball in local church sports leagues.

Jacob received his Master’s Degree in Education from Wilson College in May of 2021 and
currently works as a social studies teacher in Hagerstown, Md. He has a heart for young
people and works to help them realize their potential.

In his free time, Jacob enjoys spending time with his family, traveling, the outdoors, and
baseball. He looks forward to summer vacations at the beach, visiting new ballparks, and
dreams of the day that the Maple Leafs will hoist the Stanley Cup. Jacob and his wife
Kelsey, live in Greencastle, Pa., with their two children, Benaiah and Elizabeth.

Brian Mbuu, member-at-large

Brian Mbuu, Atlantic Conference, began serving on General
Conference Board in 2020 as a member-at-large.

Born and raised in Kenya, Brian came to the United States
to attend Messiah College (now Messiah University) and
graduated with a bachelor’s degree in Business Administra-

tion. For more than 20 years, Brian has worked in various
human resources roles. He currently works in state govern-
ment supporting the 14 Pennsylvania state-owned universities in the areas of human re-
sources and labor relations. His role includes working with teams to negotiate, implement,
and administer statewide labor agreements.
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As a member of Harrisburg BIC Church since 2003, he has held various roles including
having the privilege to serve as a member of the church board, serving as chair of the per-
sonnel committee, as well as volunteering with various ministries.

Living simply is one of the core values that motivates him to live, love, and serve the broader
community. This value embodies the life of Jesus Christ and encourages us to strive for
dependence on God and service to others.

Brian and his wife, Joela, live in Harrisburg, Pa. with their two daughters.

Kevin Noll, member-at-large

Kevin Noll, from the Atlantic Conference, began serving on
General Conference Board in 2018 as a member-at-large.

Since 1998, Kevin has served as director of business services
at Paxton Ministries, a nonprofit in Harrisburg, Pa., that
provides affordable housing and support services to adules
who are challenged with poverty, mental illness, and intel-

lectual disabilities. At Paxton Ministries, Kevin has respon-
sibility for the fiscal management of the entire organization, including accounts receivable
and accounts payable, payroll and benefits, budget, and annual audit, while also managing
human resources and information technology infrastructure. In 2009, he played a key role
in the startup of Paxton Cleaning Solutions, a subsidiary of Paxton Ministries, and he con-
tinues to oversee its management.

A member of New Hope Church, Harrisburg, Pa., for 20 years, Kevin has served on the
leadership team and has supervised children and youth ministries. He currently serves in

the high school youth ministry.

He is grateful for his upbringing on a Lancaster County farm, where he cultivated a strong
work ethic, an ability to seck practical solutions, and a deep desire to serve others with the
love of Jesus Christ. Kevin obtained a Bachelor of Science in business administration from
Eastern University.

Kevin and his wife, Jennifer, live with their two children, Elijah and Rebecca, in Harrisburg,
Pa. As the parent of two teenagers, he is particularly grateful for the way our denomination
supports and desires to raise up the next generation for Christ.

Jose Rodriguez, member-at-large

Jose Rodriguez, from the Southeast Conference, be-
gan serving on General Conference Board in 2020 as a
member-at-large.

Born in Cuba, Jose came to faith in Christ as a child and
became heavily involved in the first Cuban BIC mission

congregation, the Cuatro Caminos Church under Pastor
Juana Garcia. After sensing a call to pastoral ministry and
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attending seminary, he would later serve as pastor of that church for two years. In 1989,
he and his family moved to Miami, Fl. where he has served in pastoral ministry ever
since; most recently providing oversight to the Esmirna congregation, which he started in
1998.

In addition to serving on the Commission on Ministry and Doctrine and the Southeast
Conference board of directors, Jose founded PEACE CDC, Inc., a nonprofit organiza-
tion that provides afterschool and summer camp programs throughout Miami-Dade
County for approximately 250 children year-round.

Jose and his wife, Lourdes, have two adult children, Madai and Josue.

Julie Stout, member-at-large

Julie Stout, from the Susquehanna Conference, began serv-
ing on General Conference Board in 2015 as a member-at-
large.

Growing up in central Pennsylvania, Julie attended Eliza-
bethtown (Pa.) College and graduated with an accounting
degree in 1975. After earning her CPA at Ernst and Young,

she worked in corporate finance and governance for a large

Carlisle, Pa., manufacturer until 1997. Her time in banking provided useful experience

to take on the role of CEO of the Brethren in Christ Foundation in 1999. In 2003, Julie
accepted the position of chief financial officer at Messiah Village (now Messiah Lifeways)
where she worked until retiring June 2014.

Julie became a member of Carlisle (Pa.) BIC in the early 1980s (now The Meeting House
— Carlisle Campus). She is actively involved in the children’s ministry, having taught
Pioneer Girls and Sunday school classes for over 30 years. She has served on the congre-
gation’s church board and various other committees.

While Julie was not raised Brethren in Christ, her church and denomination have
become home. Serving on GCB allows her to express her thanks for the many mentors,
co-workers, teachers, and preachers who have poured into her throughout her time with
the church, the Foundation, and Messiah Lifeways.

Since retiring, Julie enjoys volunteer work, traveling, spending time with extended family,
reading, and working on many projects around her home and garden in Boiling Springs,

Pa.

ACTION: This recommendation was adopted.
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7. Confirmation of Board Members for the Brethren in
Christ Foundation

Whereas the members of the Board of Directors of the Brethren in Christ Foundation are
to be approved by the General Conference Board and to be confirmed by General Assembly,
and

Whereas the General Conference Board has approved the following as the members of the
Board of the Brethren in Christ Foundation,

It is hereby resolved that the 2022 General Assembly confirms the members of the Board of
the Brethren in Christ Foundation and that the national director cast a unanimous ballot for
all nominees as presented.

PRESENT NOMINEE TERM EXPIRATION - NUMBER
Karl Brummer 2024 — 2nd

Anler Morejon Anler Morejon 2026 — 3rd

Rod Musser Jeremy Spear 2026 — Ist

Ron Niesley 2024 — 3rd

William Strausbaugh 2023 — Ist

Chad Wenger Vacant Vacant

Alan Robinson N/A

Julie Stout N/A

ACTION: This recommendation was adopted.
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Motion Brought from the Floor

The Chair recognized the following motion from the floor: “We move that the denomi-
national leadership investigate how to broaden the exercise of authority in the Brethren in

Christ Church. The Chair further invited the body to act on the motion.

ACTION: This motion was seconded and adopted.
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Part 4:

Covenant & Memorandum
of Understanding (MOU)
Reports



A. Lifeline Ministries Women’s Shelter Inc., Upland,
Calif. (Covenant)

W are so thankful for the many ways God works and provides for Pacific Lifeline and the
families within our care through the faithful prayers and support of our Brethren in Christ
family. The following quotes represent how PEACE and SECURITY were brought to two

of our families:

“Pacific Lifeline showed me that by educating myself and spending quality time with my
children, following the parenting advice they gave, I could raise healthy children. My chil-
dren and I know that we have a safety net and live a violence-free life. I am thankful for the
peace that brings me.” (Sandy)

“Without Pacific Lifeline and its supporters, I would not be where I am today. They helped
me become more independent and gave love to our family. When I first arrived at Pacific
Lifeline, I was fighting to get my children back after leaving a domestic violence relation-
ship. During that process, I was given a chance to provide for my kids with housing, cloth-
ing, shoes, good hygiene, mental health services, and other life skills thanks to staff and
donors. Even after I left the program, I have continued to use resources and life skills to help
me get by. Now the children and I are doing well. I won’t forget everything everyone does
and how much it means to my family” (Carley)

Because of the compassionate and consistent support of our donors, we continue to
provide strategic, comprehensive programs that transition families from homelessness to
self-sufficiency. In 2021 our residents accomplished the following goals: driver’s licenses,
US. citizenship, childcare, special needs services for children, 12-Step Program, increased
income, saved money, bought cars, paid off debts, improved credit scores, studied and
achieved GED certification, finished vocational certification programs, hired for full-time
jobs, and secured permanent housing. Pacific Lifeline exists to bring stability and hope into
the lives of homeless women and children, providing services that transform lives and build
brighter futures.

Snapshot of 2021-2022 Services:

e Shelter, food, and essentials

e Credit and budget counseling
e Childcare search support

e Joband housing search support
e Wellness plan counseling

o  Grief therapy, trauma informed therapy, cognitive behavioral therapy,
reparative therapy

e  DPsychoeducation support group
e  Domestic violence support

e Process therapy support group
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o DParent-child therapy, children’s play therapy, attachment therapy, family therapy
o Parentingskills coaching

o Life skills training

e School supplies and clothing

o Thanksgiving food

o  Christmas gifts

e Two families live in permanent homes on our property with reduced rent. They receive
weekly case management and therapy.

In a ministry nearly 113 years old, our history starts with services provided to individuals in
San Francisco: Skid Row mission, war veterans, and emergency shelter services to hundreds
of families. In Upland, California our transitional long-term shelter program has served
and helped women in crisis find self-sufficiency and safety for their families. As a donor and
supporter of Pacific Lifeline you are part of the supportive circle our residents and former
residents call “family.” Thank you for your generous support; we look forward to continuing
the covenant partnership with you in 2023 and the future. May God bless you!

Carmen Hall
Executive Director PACIFICLIFELINE@EARTHLINK.NET

Financial statements were submitted to BIC U.S. For a copy of the complete financial
statements, please contact Pacific Lifeline at pacificlifeline@earthlink.net.
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B. Mennonite Central Committee (U.S.) (MOU)

Mennonite Central Committee (MCC), a worldwide ministry of Anabaptist churches,
shares God’s love and compassion for all in the name of Christ by responding to basic
human needs and working for peace and justice. MCC envisions communities worldwide
in right relationship with God, one another, and creation. The Brethren in Christ appoint
representatives to the MCC USS. board of directors and other MCC governing bodies. The
following are several highlights of MCC’s work in the past two years.

o Wk give thanks for BIC representatives on MCC U.S. and regional boards in the
past two years: Margaret Engle, David Flowers, Ruth Lesher, Elizabeth Malone, Stan
Morgan, Fellistus Munakombwe, Pauline Peifer, Hannah Snavely, David Swartz, Gwen
White, and Latricia Wilkins.

e  In Chikwawa, Malawi, MCC is partnering with Brethren in Christ Compassion-
ate Development Services to train farmers in conservation agriculture and other
techniques they can use to withstand more erratic rainfall and frequent flooding and
storms. But in late January, the rains and winds of Tropical Cyclone Ana swept through
the region — taking with them farmers’ plans for a better harvest. MCC is providing
two months of food assistance, including flour, cooking oil, beans, and salt, as well as
plastic tarps for home repairs. “I am thankful for the help that you have given us after
we had been affected by the cyclone. Thank you very much,” shares Charles Lemani.

e In Ukraine, since the Russian military invasion that began in February, MCC and
partners in several regions have provided displaced and host families with food,
medicine, and hygiene supplies and have supported people who are evacuating with
fuel and food. More than 100 years ago, MCC’s work began with soup kitchens in
Ukraine to provide for starving families. Recent MCC-supported efforts there include
relief, peace, health, education, sustainable livelihoods, and people exchanges. MCC’s
long-term response to the current situation will likely include psychosocial support and
trauma healing, temporary emergency housing, and distributions of
locally-purchased essential items such as blankets and food packages.

Whether sewing comforters, giving time at MCC Thrift shops, material resources centers
and relief sales, or offering your prayers and financial support — thank you for being part of
the MCC story. Interested in serving with MCC near your home or farther away? Learn
more at mec.org.

Ann Graber Hershberger
MCC U.S. executive director
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C. Messiah University, Mechanicsburg, Pa. (Covenant)

I am pleased to share that Messiah University continues to remain open (since Fall 2020) pro-
viding students with a robust residential, in-person educational experience. We are grateful for
the collaboration, support, and care for cach other that our students, families, employees, and
neighbors have shown as we navigate the ongoing challenge of Covid-19.

The Messiah community launched its 2021-22 academic year by welcoming 550 new first-year
students and 76 transfer students to our campus. We are thankful for another year of growth in
graduate student enrollment, beginning fall 2021 with a graduate enrollment of 781 students
(+25 compared to a year ago). We are also pleased to be experiencing an increase in the diversity
of our student body. Overall, 158 students, approximately 25 percent, of the incoming under-
graduate class are domestic students of color or international students versus last year’s 131 (19
percent). While we are aware of many institutions experiencing sharp declines in retention

due to the pandemic, we are pleased that our first-to-second year retention rate landed at a
strong 85.3 percent. This result is a testimony to all of the efforts that were made by our campus
community to provide students with an excellent educational experience in the midst of all the
difficult circumstances brought on by living with Covid-19. T hear repeatedly from students
how much they value being together for a full campus life experience—not only in the class-
room—Dbut in worship, arts and humanities events, athletics, and other cocurricular activities.

I am so proud of the unwavering resilience and dedication with which our employees and the
extended campus community—including our friends in the Brethren in Christ Church—serve
our students. I remain grateful for your ongoing support and for God’s continued faithfulness
to our Messiah community.

The theme of our 2021-22 academic year was “Reconciliation: God’s Language to Heal a
Broken World” rooted in 2 Corinthians 5:17-18. At Messiah, we approach biblical reconcili-
ation as a journey of listening, lamenting, and allowing our hearts and minds to connect with
people’s stories of pain, marginalization, and injustice. As Christ’s ambassadors and ministers of
reconciliation, we seck transformative action that repairs and restores relationships and systems
that are broken.

In September 2021, the University launched the public phase of The Campaign for Messiah
University: Learning for Life, Transforming the World. At the April 2022 board of trustees, we
announced the surpassing of the $75 million goal, with gifts and pledges totaling $75.3 million.
Our focus during the final phase of the Campaign included support for the Messiah Fund,
scholarship aid and endowment, and fundraising for the enhanced campus entrance areas at the
roundabout on Lisburn Road and the campus main entrance at Grantham Road and Univer-
sity Avenue.

Additionally, we are determining the scope of a project focused on enhancing hospitality and
concession areas near the Starry Athletic Complex, as well as necessary renovations to the Engle
Health Center in order to meet the needs of serving our students. In October 2021, the board
of trustees approved a new institutional strategic plan, “University Rising: the Strategic Plan
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for Messiah 2022-2024,” which in addition to the Campaign, includes the cultivation of new
academic programs, initiatives, and potential new partnerships—both within and beyond our
region—that will advance our Christian educational mission. I look forward to sharing our
shared progress on this important work in the years ahead.

Kim S. Phipps
President KPHIPPS@MESSIAH.EDU
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D. Messiah Lifeways, Mechanicsburg, Pa. (Covenant)

Messiah Lifeways’ history with the Brethren in Christ stretches over 125 years - a history
that is filled with great joys and, at times, difficult decisions. We remain grateful for deep
roots and connections to our history and appreciate the opportunity to provide an update
on our ministry to the General Assembly. We appreciate your work being done in the U.S.
and around the world in service to those desiring to walk closer to Jesus.

Messiah Lifeways celebrated its 125th anniversary in 2021, and it was a year of great chal-
lenges and celebrations. We are all the more thankful for God’s blessings and guidance; the
last year, maybe more than any other, demonstrated his faithfulness to our organization and
the people we serve. Despite the challenging times, Messiah Lifeways remains committed
to living out our mission to “responsibly enhance the lives of older adults with Christ-like
love.”

The impact of Covid-19 on our industry and on Messiah Lifeways cannot be overstated.
While much of the world is seeing a return to normal, the impact continues to be a
significant part of our daily operations. That, coupled with the workforce challenges and
inflationary pressures we face, make our dependence on God’s faithfulness more apparent
cach day as we continue to live out our mission. We are thankful for the prayers, support,
and encouragement of our brothers and sisters in the Brethren in Christ family throughout
these past few years and into the future.

We are blessed in many ways despite the challenges we have faced. Here are some highlights
since our last General Assembly:

o  Arefreshed strategic plan for 2022-2025 for the organization has been launched
outlining our direction for the future. The board of directors along with the senior
executive staff are actively working to continue to grow and enhance the work we do as
an organization serving older adults. To learn more, feel free to visit
messiahlifeways.org/big.

o Inaddition to continuing to experience strong occupancies at Messiah Village (Me-
chanicsburg, Pa.) and Mount Joy Country Homes (Mt. Joy, Pa.), we continue to serve
the older adults through our community support and enrichment service lines. One ex-
ample from this past year would be that we expanded our mission to serve the broader
community by sponsoring our second local senior center located in New Cumberland,
Pa. In addition, our healthcare operations all celebrated strong annual regulatory
surveys with very few, minor deficiencies which clearly demonstrates the excellent care
delivered to residents by our frontline staff.

e Wk continue to experience the rich blessings of supporters who have given of their time
and treasure to support our ministry during challenging times. We celebrated along
with Carolyn Rutherford, a resident of Messiah Village, as she was recognized by Lead-
ingAge PA as the Volunteer of the Year for the countless hours she has contributed to
benefit fellow residents and the greater community.

e Asof April 30, 2020, we made the difficult decision to close our Carlisle Adult Day
program location and consolidate our efforts to our Mechanicsburg Campus. Moving
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to one location rather than two will allow us to more effectively fulfill our mission and
be good stewards of organizational resources.

We provided over $5.6 million in charitable and unreimbursed care for approximately
80 residents who cannot pay for the full cost of their care. We are grateful to provide
this charitable benefit, as it supports our mission and values. We are also pleased that

a number of our programs, like Mount Joy Country Homes, senior centers, Messiah
Lifeways At Home, and Adult Day are accessible to a wide spectrum of income groups.
At Messiah Village, some residents have out-lived their financial resources through no
fault of their own, but development activities over the years have provided them secu-
rity. Generous donors once again added to the Endowment Fund for Benevolent Care
so that all residents, regardless of their ability to pay, receive services enhancing their
lives. Our endowment for charitable care as of June 30, 2021, was $25 million, and we
used $1.1 million from the proceeds to help offset some of this charitable obligation.
W are very appreciative to you, our brothers and sisters in Christ, who share in this
journey by including Messiah Lifeways in your charitable giving.

It is the hard work and dedication of our frontline team members that enables our
mission to be lived out each and every day. During the pandemic, we have asked our
team members to do more than ever before — from regular Covid-19 testing, wearing
various forms of personal protective equipment, and caring for residents during times
of unprecedented stress. Messiah Lifeways continues to look for tangible ways to show
our appreciation and invest in team members, including raising our

organization-wide minimum wage to $15 per hour in September 2021. We also cel-
ebrated our first class of “Rising Leaders Academy” graduates, which included 15 team
members from a wide variety of departments and job roles after a 12-month leadership
development program.

Several honors were also bestowed upon Messiah Lifeways including the following:
o Newsweek’s 2021 List of Best Nursing Homes
e 2021 Provider of Choice Award (Best of Home Care) by Home Care Pulse
e Susquehanna Style Best Senior Living Community
e Carlisle Sentinel 2021 Best of Home Care, Provider of Choice Award
e 2021 Simply the Best Retirement Community / Assisted Living by Harrisburg
Magazine Readers’ Choice Awards
e 2021 Health Care Category Winner by Central Penn Business Journal’s Reader
Rankings

This year we also experienced a change in leadership with Curt Stutzman retiring from
his role as President & CEO in September 2021 after eight years of faithful service.

I am honored to have been entrusted to lead this organization into its next chapter.
Throughout these first several months as President & CEO, we have been working
actively on several exciting opportunities to grow and partner with others to expand
our mission of enhancing the lives of older adults in Central Pennsylvania. In partner-
ship with our board of directors, we look forward to the exciting times ahead and to
reimagining Messiah Lifeways in a post-Covid environment.
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Again, thank you for your interest in Messiah Lifeways, and we look forward to ministering
together in the years ahead.

Karl J. Brummer

President and CEO KBRUMMER@MESSIAHLIFEWAYS.ORG

Financial statements were submitted to BIC U.S. For a copy of the complete financial statements, please contact Karl Brummer.
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Part 5:
Related Reports



A. Brethren in Christ Historical Library and Archives,
Mechanicsburg, Pa.

In 1952, the Brethren in Christ Church in North America established the Archives of the
Brethren in Christ Church, in cooperation with Messiah College (now University) with
the goal of ensuring “the adequate records storage which is demanded by a sense of steward-
ship.” In 1984, the denomination adopted specific policies that listed types of materials that
congregations and church institutions should place in the Archives. Today, the Brethren in
Christ Historical Library and Archives continues to fulfill its mission “to collect, preserve,
organize, describe, and make available records of historical, legal, fiscal, and/or administra-

tive value to . .. the BIC Church.”

Of course, the Archives can only do its work if documents and other items are placed in our
care. We are grateful to the many pastors, bishops, administrators, and laypeople who have
entrusted valuable materials to the Archives during the last biennium! We encourage pas-
tors and other leaders to take seriously their roles in ensuring that important documents are
sent to the Archives in a timely manner. For more information, pick up a Policy Brochure at
the Archives display table at General Assembly or send an email to archives@messiah.edu.

During the last biennium, Archives staft have continued our normal work of responding
to research requests from church leaders, laypeople, and scholars; acquiring and processing
new collections; and supporting the church and its ministries.

A major initiative of the Archives in the last two years was the creation of the Hispanic
Leaders and Congregations Collecting Initiative. This initiative seeks to document the
history of Hispanic Brethren in Christ in the United States, a story that has not previously
been preserved in our collections. It has been generously funded by donations from the
Southeast Regional Conference of the Brethren in Christ US. and numerous individuals,
as well as a $5,000 matching gift from the McBeth Trust. The project has several compo-
nents, the most significant of which is a collection of oral histories that are currently being
recorded and transcribed. Many of the materials collected through this initiative will be
digitized and made available using MOSAIC, the Archives digital repository, available at
mosaic.messiah.edu/bicarchives.

For more information on this project or to contribute financially to it, contact the Archives
at archives@messiah.edu.

Devin Manzullo-Thomas
Director DCTHOMAS@MESSIAH.EDU
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B. Brethren in Christ Historical Society

W are all challenged to tell our story individually and as a people. When I read the Scrip-
tures, I am grateful for the recorded story of God’s people. God included the good and the
bad of the experience of the children of God. We aren’t writing Scripture in these days, but
itis signiﬁcant for us to continue to record our story. As a Society we encourage you to be
part of this telling the story, by the things you write for yourself and for the congregations
of which you are a part. We are grateful to be part of sharing these stories through our
publications.

The Society publishes two publications, with thanks to our Editor Harriet Sider Bicksler:
History Matters, the Society’s newsletter, and Brethren in Christ History and Life, the
Society’s journal, both of which are published three times per year. Harriet continues to lay
out a schedule of topics that may help you to focus on writing that you may submit for po-
tential publication. We are grateful to publish papers from recent events for a wider range
of readers than those attending in person.

The Society was impacted by Covid-19 regarding our annual meetings:

e In 2020 our plan was to sponsor a tour of the historic Kansas churches during the
General Assembly. This event was canceled when the Assembly needed to be virtual
due to Covid-19. Our plan is to support this tour during the 2022 General Assem-
bly.

e On October 2, 2021, we hosted an annual meeting highlighting the recent book

released by E. Morris Sider: Brown Sugar Sandwiches and Other Stories: Memories
from My Life, with a panel discussion with the author.

e Weare supporting the tour of historic Kansas churches during this Assembly —
2022, and we’re working on creating a video for wider distribution of the same.

We sponsored two Heritage Services in 2020 and 2021 which were virtual due to the
Covid-19 pandemic.

e OnJune7,2020, we did a live Facebook broadcast with John Yeatts as our speaker.
He addressed the question of how we relate to the nation states in which we live.

e In2021 we had another virtual service featuring stories of how churches and indi-
viduals met the ministry challenge of the Covid-19 pandemic. Both of these services
continue to be available online (see bic-history.org/events).

e Asof this writing, our plan for 2022 is to have an in-person service at the Ringgold
Meeting House with Rob Douglass as our speaker, looking at our understanding of
the work of the Holy Spirit in our lives.
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We welcome interested people to support our work and receive our publications by taking
membership in the Society.

For more information go to bic-history.org.

Kenneth O. Hoke
Executive Director KEN.HOKE@GMAIL.COM
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Part 6:

General Business and
Conclusions
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A. BIC U.S. Leadership Recognition

The installation for the newly assigned personnel took place during the General Assembly
event:

Heather Beaty, appointed Bishop of the Susquehanna Conference
Ron Bowell, appointed Bishop of the Midwest Conference

Maureen Brown, appointed Awaken Network Director

Participants of the General Assembly event showed appreciation to the following individu-
als for their service and dedication to the Brethren in Christ U.S.:

Cathy Musser, outgoing GCB Member

Emerson Lesher, outgoing GCB Member

Perry Engle, outgoing Bishop of the Pacific Conference
Pauline Peifer, outgoing Awaken Network Director

B. General Assembly 2024
Alan Robinson announced that General Assembly 2024 will be held in Cincinnati, Ohio.

C. Adjournment

The Assembly was declared adjourned in terms of business. The Assembly concluded with
the evening session of worship.
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D. Delegate Listing

Allegheny Conference

MARYLAND
New Life Believers
Paramount

The Vine

Walkersville Community Church

PENNSYLVANIA
Acts Fellowship Network
Air Hill

Antrim

Blue Mountain Memorial
Canoe Creek

Center Grove

Clear Creek

Crossroads (State Line)
Fairview Avenue

Five Forks

Green Spring

Hollowell

Iron Springs

Martinsburg

Mission Hill (Chambersburg)

Montgomery
Mountain Chapel
Mowersville

Mt. Rock

Mt. Tabor

New Guilford
Peace Light
Shermans Valley
South Mountain
Spring of Hope
Springhope

The Spring

West Side

VIRGINIA
Bethel (Hillsville)
Community of Faith

Becca Gettel, Dave Gettel
No representation

Lori Sewell, Mark Sewell
Beth Fisher, Tim Fisher

Brad Stutzman

Carol Kellogg, Sam Kellogg, John Melhorn,
Nancy Melhorn

Brad Graham, Terri Graham, Nelson Stayman
No representation

Lisa Crawford, Stacy Crawford

No representation

No representation

Walt Roberts

John Walker

Sherri Flohr, Darlyss Kipe, Ray Kipe, Bill Shank
No representation

No representation

Kevin Bream, Doug Lichty

Elizabeth Abell, Michael Abell

Jan Burkholder, Stan Burkholder, Joel Gillman,
Emerson Peckman, Joyce Peckman

No representation

No representation

Becky Halteman, Dave Halteman

Brad Stutzman

No representation

Lawton Jacobs, Mary Jacobs

No representation

No representation

No representation

No representation

No representation

Sandy Delaney, Steve Delaney, Becky Shenk,
Don Shenk

Barbara Yoder, Sam Yoder

No representation
Dan Hickey, Jen Hickey
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Highland Park Community
LaRoca

LaRoca Eterna

WEST VIRGINIA
Bunker Hill

SPECIAL ASSIGNMENT
Roxbury Holiness Camp

Atlantic Conference

NEW JERSEY

Grace Community of Vineland

PENNSYLVANIA
Branch & Vine

Bright Hope Fellowship
Circle of Hope

City of Refuge

Conoy

Cross Roads

Daybreak Community
Elizabethtown

Encounter Church of Palmyra (Palmyra)

Fairland
Free Grace

Harrisburg

Holy District

Hope Born in Christ (Hempfield)
Hunlock Creek
Koinos Community
Lancaster

LifePath

LifePoint

Manheim

Manor

Marsh Creek of Exton
Millersville

Monte de Carmelo

Montoursville

No representation
Mayelin Alegre, Robert Alegre

No representation

No representation

Jeremy Spear

No representation

Heather Brickner, Micah Brickner

No representation

No representation

No representation

Ron Mountain

Denise Bender, Doug Bender

David Hakes

Adam Forry, Ken Hoover, James Stauffer, Jane Stauffer,
Darlene Wingert, Sara Wingert

Journey Henderson, Theodore Simmons

Dustin Sider

No representation

Ryan Cagno, Carmen Dones, Chad Frey,

Lynda Gephart, Hank Johnson, Emerson Lesher,

Matt Lewis, Rachel Lewis, Brian Mbuu,

Fellistus Munakombwe, Hannah Niesley, Luke Niesley,
Patty Patterson, Brie Thompson

Blake Henry, Ericka Henry

Sue Guldin, Jan Latshaw

No representation

Andrew Carpenter

Jane Beachy, Michael Beachy, Curtis Book, Joshua Nolt
No representation

No representation

No representation

John Pletcher

Ryan Stockton

Ryan Cobb

No representation

No representation
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Mount Pleasant

New Hope

New Joy

New Life Church of Hershey
Pequea

Refton

Silverdale

Souderton

Speedwell Heights
Story Philly

Stowe

Summit View

Tremont

Great Lakes Conference

ILLINOIS
Dwelling Place

Morrison

INDIANA
Christian Union
Mt. Zion
Nappanee

Union Grove

KENTUCKY

Beulah Chapel
Bloomington Chapel
Kingdom Life Fellowship
Knifley Chapel
Millerfield

Open Door Church

Plowshares

MICHIGAN

Bethel (Merrill)

Bethel Community
Carland-Zion

Christ Community Etc

Lakeside Fellowship of Micro Churches

Lakeview Community
Leonard Community

Mooretown

Kay Book, Mike Book, Dwight Myers, Susan Myers
Kevin Noll

Jason Dietrich, Jeff Dunlevy, Dave Miller, Julie Miller
Amy Starr, Greg Starr

No representation

Dan Bender, Fan Bender

Matthew Hahn, Brenda Sims, Troy Sims

John Fickett, Toni Fickett, Diana Moyer, Cathy Musser,
Rod Musser

John Courchesne, Brian Willison

No representation

Mike Bowen, Renee Bowen

No representation

No representation

No representation

Andrew Rinker, Craig Sipes, Kathi Sipes

No representation
No representation
Jeff Williams

No representation

No representation

No representation

Ronald Davis, Todd Johns
Jordan Burton

Troy Grider

Adam Jones

Christina Embree, Luke Embree

No representation
Paul Pawelski

No representation
No representation
Paul Pawelski

No representation
No representation

Charlotte Bulgrien, Dan Bulgrien, Alex Jovanovic
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OHIO

Amherst Community
Ashland

Dayton

Dayton Mission

East Dayton Fellowship
Fairview (Englewood)
Gethsemane Fellowship
Highland

Pleasant Hill

Valley Chapel

Western Hills

Westside Christian Community

TENNESSEE
Center Hill
DeRossett
Pomeroy

Rolling Acres

WISCONSIN
Hope Community

New Vision

The Seed

Midwest Conference

KANSAS

Abilene

Aliento de Vida (Lyons)
Aliento de Vida (Salina)
CrossRoads (Salina)

Lifehouse
New Trail Fellowship
Revolution

Rock Island
Zion (Abilene)

NEW MEXICO
Broken Walls Fellowship

No representation

Joel Steigerwalt, Kathy Tyson, Keith Tyson
No representation

Hope Pawelski, John Pawelski, Ruth Pawelski
Zach Spidel

Mark Ballard, DeLaine Niesley, Ron Niesley
No representation

No representation

Cliff Hensel, Margaret Hensel, Jonah Langenderfer

No representation
Jennie Brown, Tracie Hunter

Joel Zimmerman, Lisa Zimmerman

No representation
No representation
No representation

No representation

No representation
Christina Bosserman, Cristina Bundy, Abby Kean,
JoAnn Mitchell

No representation

Barth Amend, Dale Engle, Margaret Engle,
Oscar Gomez

Filiberto Zapata, Margarita Zapata

Curtis Bockenstette, Mark Brown, Kerry Bowell,
Kelly Carpenter, Raymond Mettling, Jesse Smith,
Kimmi Smith, Alan Warner

No representation

Alisa Greene, Marshall Greene, Stan Norman

Caitlyn Barnes, Katlyn Krehbiel, Carrie Mitchell,
Jeff Piepho, Dave Waggoner, William Wilson

No representation

Howard Engle, Melissa Engle, Jay Johnson,
Collen McGee, Ken Rohrer, Marlys Rohrer

Denise Conway
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Desert Light Christian
First Nations Gathering
Freedom of Nations
Heart of Worship

OKLAHOMA
Bethany

C’mon Home Cowboy Church

Red Star

TEXAS
Cristo La Roca

SPECIAL ASSIGNMENT

Chaplain

Pacific Conference

CALIFORNIA
Agua Viva

Crest Community
Etiwanda
Gateway-Karis
Getsemany
GracePoint
Madison Street
Ministerios El Shaddai
New Community
Ontario

Palabra de Vida
Solid Ground
Upland

Valley Christian

Waukena Community

OREGON
El Monte Calvario
Peace City
Redwood Country

SPECIAL ASSIGNMENT

Pacific Christian Center

Upland Manor

Eric Villanueva, Teresa Villanueva
Duane Bristow
Ben Stoner, Eunice Stoner

No representation

James Rainwater, Patti Zoschke, Tim Zoschke
Linda Blackketter, Lyle Blackketter

No representation

No representation

Donna Harvey

No representation

No representation

No representation

Bill Donner, Daniel Kim, Peter Song
No representation

Nicole Airth, Steve Airth

No representation

No representation

No representation

No representation

No representation

Mike Collins, Kimberly Law, Tom Law
Marta Engle, Perry Engle, Suzanne Puglisi,
Steve Smith, Kim Wingert

Martin Saine

No representation

Baldo Pedroza, Becky Pedroza
Drew Strayer, Millyellen Strayer

No representation

No representation

No representation

170



Southeast Conference

FLORIDA

Buenas Nuevas (MELA)

Casa de Oracion

Casa del Dios Viviente

Centro Adoracion Refugio Eterno
Community Bible Chapel

Cristo es la Respuesta

Cristo Vive

Dios Senando Nuestra Tierra
Ebenezer (Hialeah)

El Aposento de la Gracia
Emmanuel

Esmirna

Fuente de Salvacion

Hialeah East

Holy City

Iglesia Cristiana Bethel

Iglesia Cristiana Refugio de Amor
Iglesia de Avivamiento Emmanuel
Iglesia de Dios Marathon

Iglesia Evangelica Monte Calvario
Iglesia Rescate (Hialeah)

Iglesia Rescate (Okeechobee)
Jesucristo es la Solucion
Jesus Redentor de Vidas
Jubileo

La Puerta

La Roca Firme

Los Hijos de la Fe

Ministerio Casa del Alfarero

Minsiterio Cielos Abiero Gloria a Dios

Ministerio Cristiano Monte Sion
Ministerio Cristo Fiel y Verdadero

Ministerio Int. Fuego en la Palabra

Ministerio Int. Jesucristo Rey de Reyes

Ministerio Sanando las Naciones
Monte Gerizim

Naples

Nueva Jerusalem

Nuevo Comienzo en Cristo
Poder de Dios

Principe de Paz

No representation
No representation
No representation
No representation
No representation
No representation
No representation
No representation
No representation
No representation
No representation
Jose E. Rodriguez, Lourdes Rodriguez
No representation
No representation
No representation
No representation
No representation
No representation
No representation

No representation

Hamlet Diaz, Rachel Diaz, David Monduy,

Vivian Monduy

No representation

No representation

Jose Acosta, Sarita Acosta
No representation

No representationa

No representation

Juan De la Cruz

No representation

No representation

No representation

No representation

No representation

No representation

No representation

No representation

No representation

No representation
Douglas Castillo, Xiomara Castillo
No representation

No representation
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Redimidos por la Sangre
Refresh Church
Revelation

Rey de Reyes

Torre Fuerte

Vida Abundante

Zion Church (FL)

GEORGIA
Grafted

Susquehanna Conference

PENNSYLVANIA
Big Valley

Cedar Grove
Cedar Heights
Colyer

Dillsburg

Eshcol

Fairview (New Cumberland)
Ferguson Valley

Grantham

Granville

Green Grove

Hanover

Iglesia Hispana Vida y Esperanza
Jemison Valley

Luz Alegria y Esperanza
Marsh Creek (Howard)

Mechanicsburg
Mechanicsburg Community
Messiah Village

Morning Hour Chapel
Mountain Ridge

New Harvest Community
New Life Community
Pathway Community (York)
Pleasant Valley

Redland Valley

Saville

The Meeting House

The Upper Room (Belleville)

No representation
No representation
No representation
No representation
No representation
No representation

No representation

No representation

No representation

Garrick Paden, Amber Supplee

Laurie Garman, Scott Garman

No representation

Julianne Douglass, Rob Douglass, Grace Holland,
Naomi Smith, Esther Spurrier, John Spurrier
No representation

Denise Rupp

No representation

David Flowers

No representation

No representation

Brian Casale, Jane Casale

Evelin Montoya, Ramon Montoya

Gary Wolfe, Gloria Wolfe

Jose Angeles, Jonatan Barrera, Mike Holland
Dan Longmore, Marty Longmore

Bonnie Hershberger, Dave Hershberger, Layne Lebo
Steve Mann

No representation

Casey Chubb, Daniel Chubb

Ken Landis

No representation

Maureen Brown, Ryan Brown, Erica Lloyd
Jim Dinger, Larry Stoner, Sharon Stoner

No representation

Karen Juengst, Kevin Richardson

Mike Stolezfus

Bob Beaty, Scott Hallman, Rich Love,

Zach Salazar, Bob Verno

No representation
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SPECIAL ASSIGNMENT
Awaken Network/Retired Minister

BIC Historical Society/Retired Minister

Leadership Representatives

LEADERSHIP COUNCIL
Heather Beaty

Ron Bowell

Bryan Hoke

Jonathan Lloyd

Mitch Martin

Aner Morejon

Rob Patterson

Alan Robinson

Lynn Thrush

GENERAL CONFERENCE BOARD
Nicole Airth

Denise Conway*
Rachel Diaz

Sherri Flohr*

Adam Forry*
Bonnie Hershberger
Abby Kean

Tom Law

Emerson Lesher
Brian Mbuu

Cathy Musser

Kevin Noll

Jose Rodriguez

Naomi Smith

BRETHREN IN CHRIST FOUNDATION

John Burns

COVENANT MINISTRIES

Lifeline Ministries Women’s Shelter, Inc.

Messiah Lifeways
Messiah University

Navajo Mission

Missionaries

BIC U.S. MISSIONARIES

Colombia

Pauline Peifer
Ken Hoke

No representation
Kerry Hoke
No representation

No representation

Glenda Moyer, Glenn Moyer

173



Ecuador Jacqueline Medina, Yosuel Medina
Four Corners Denise Conway,* Brian Myers, Rochelle Myers,
Jason Oberholser, Rebekah Oberholser, Ben Stoner,*

Eunice Stoner*

Honduras Cathy Bert, Nathan Bert

International Jay Smith, Judy Smith

Malawi Estol Bathurst, Kristen Bathurst, Barb Miller,
Doug Miller

Mozambique Cheryl Hade, Orville Hade

Southern Africa Donald Vundhla, Karen Vundhla

Sensitive environments D.G., M.G,, Chris K., KaraK., HR., P.R.

Spain Bruce Bundy, Merly Bundy

Thailand Kris G., Silk W.

Zambia Anthony Beers, Veronica Beers, Mark Roth,
Maggie Roth

PARTNER MISSIONARIES

Sensitive environment AH., AW, TW.

United States Sophie Thiesen

ASSOCIATE MISSIONARIES

Ecuador Paul Pawelski*
GLOBAL VOLUNTEERS
Sensitive environment J.B.,K.B.

*Represented their home congregation as well

E. Attendance Report

Category Number
Total registered voting members 315
Total registered non-voting members 50

Total adult members 365
Youth 31
Children 29
Nursery 8

Total youth, children, nursery 68

Total attendance 433
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Part7:

Year-end Reports and
Financial Statements
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C. 2021 Audited Financial Statements
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HAMILTON & MUSSER, PC

Cerfified Public Accountants = Consultants to Management

DAVID A. HAMILTON, CPA + BARRY E. MUSSER. CPA. CFP* (1959 - 2020)
JAMES A. KRIMMEL, MBA. CPA. CFE. CFF » ROBERT D. MAST. CPA *» WILLIAM P ASHMAN, CPA

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Board of the
General Conference of the Brethren in Christ
Mechanicsburg, Pennsylvania

Opinion

We have audited the acr-ompﬂl)iﬂs financial statements of General Conference of the Brethren in Christ (a
nonprofit organization), which compnse the slaiemenls of financial position as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and
the related stat ts of activities, functi P and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related
notes to the financial statements.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of General Conference of the Brethren in Christ as of December 31, 2021 md 2020 and the changes in its net assels
and its cash flows for the years then ended in d with g principles g Iy pled in the
United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of General Conference of the

Brethren in Christ and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in d with the rel ethical req

relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit epinion.

Emphasis of a Matter

As further explained in Note 19, General Conference of the Brethren in Christ is operating in an environment that
has been economically impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this

maller.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial S

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair p ion of the financial in lance with
ing principles g 11 pted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and

maintenance of internal control rel to the prep and fair p of financial st ts that are free

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the fi ial 1 is ired to eval whether there are conditions or events,
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt abuuT. General Conference oflhc Brethren in Christ’s ability
1o continue as a going concemn within one year after the date that the fi ial stat are available to be issued.

Members af the American and Pennsyivania Instites of CPAx
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179



Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Onr objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to frand or emor, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absol and therefore i5 not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in d with generally pted auditing standards will always detect a matenial
misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as frand may involve oolluxion. fougery intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
overnide of intemal control.  Mi idered material if there is a subdtantial likelihood that,
mdmduaﬂyormﬂnmrtgate.ﬂwywmﬂdmﬂwmﬂmudynemmdebyamasombleuserbmdmﬂleﬁnmml
statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we:

o Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material mi of the financial st whether due to frand or
error, and design and perform andit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on atest basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disc in the financial s

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
General Conference of the Brethren in Christ's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

+ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

¢ Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about General Conference of the Brethren in Christ's ability to continue as a going
concem for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with g garding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain intemal control related matters that we

identified during the audit.
M / /ﬂw—-;/c

Mechanicsburg, Pennsylvania Ceriified Public Accomnianis

May 25,2022
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GENERAL CONFERENCE OF THE BRETHREN IN CHRIST
Statements of Financial Position
December 31, 2021 and 2020

2021 2020
Assels
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 6041887 $ 5018903
Investments (Note 4) 11,871,810 11,232,910
Education Loans Receivable (Note 6) 15,019 13,109
ASEL Receivable (Note 7) 88,941 88,941
Other Receivables (Note 8) 42,517 41,978
Notes Receivable (Note 9) 203,005 207,975
Other Assets 232,254 204,343
Investments Restricted for Perpetual Endowments (Note 4, Note 13) 2,788,528 2,786,528
Fixed Assets, Net (Note 11) 34,798
Total Assets S 21418750 § 19745048
Liabilities
Accounts Payable $ 181,919 § 143,570
Accrued Wages and Vacation Payable 17,989 24323
Deposit Agreements 5,000 5,000
Note Payable (Note 14) 175,005 179.975
Liability for Pension Benefit (Note 16) 2336718 3,184,804
Total Liabilities — 476631 __ 3537672
Net Assets
Without Donor Restrictions 2,579,335 1,563,463
With Denor Restrictions (Mote 13) 16,122,793 14,644 813
Total Net Assets 8,702,128 6, 276
Total Liabilities and Net Assets 3 21418750 § 19745948

The Accompanying Notes ar¢ an Integral Part of the Financial Statements

-3-
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GENERAL CONFERENCE OF THE BRETHREN IN CHRIST
Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Without Donor With Donor

Eestrictions Bestrictions Towl
Revenue
Contributions 3 2.865807 § 3528248 $ 6394055
Investment Income (Note 4) 113,684 1,200,387 1,314.071
Other 21,989 - 21,989
Net Assets Released From Restrictions 3,250,655 (3.250,655) -
Total Revenue 6252135 1,477,980 7730115
Program Services 4,756,131 - 4,756,131
Supporting Services
Management and General 630,464 - 630,464
Fundraising 39.921 - 39921
Total Expenses __S46516 - 5.4 6
Increase in Net Assets 825,619 1,477,980 2,303,599
Net Assets, Beginning of Year 1,563,463 14,644,813 16,208,276
Pension-Related Changes Other Than
‘Met Periodic Pension Cost 190,253 - 190,253
Net Assets, End of Year i 257033 516122703 § 18702108

The Accompanying Notes ar¢ an Integral Part of the Financial Statements
4
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GENERAL CONFERENCE OF THE BRETHREN IN CHRIST
Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended December 31, 2020
Without Donor With Donor
Resirict Resirid Toul
Operating Revenue
Contributions $ 2,852,837 $ 2,904,651 § 57574388
Investment Income (Note 4) 118,611 1,132,696 1,251,307
Other 54,230 - 54,230
Net Assets Released From Restrictions 2.950.470 (2.950.,470) -
Total Operating Revenue 5976148 1,086 877 7,063,025
Operating Expenses
Program Services 4,468,170 - 4,468,170
Supporting Services
Management and General 711,056 - 711,056
Fundraising 17.114 - 17.114
Total Operating Expenses 5,196,340 - __ 5196340
Non-Operating Revenue
Paycheck Protection Program Loan Forgiveness (Note 17) - 480,814 480,814
Net Assets Released from Restrictions 480,814 (480,814) -
Total Non-Operating Revenue 430,814 - 480,814
Increase in Net Assets 1,260,622 1,086,877 2,347499
Net Assets, Beginning of Year 619,211 13,557,936 14,177,147
Pension-Related Changes Other Than
Net Periodic Pension Cost (316,370) = —(316370)
Net Assets, End of Year § 1563463 § 14644813 $ 16208276

The Accompanying Notes ar¢ an Integral Part of the Financial Statements

-5-
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GENERAL CONFERENCE OF THE BRETHREN IN CHRIST

Statement of Functional Expenses
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021
—_Supporting Services
Program Management
Services and General Fundraising Total

Business Meals 3 23,657 3 174 % 24 3 23,855
Church Planting Grants — Domestic 173,000 - - 173,000
Church Planting Grants — Global 23,513 - - 23,513
Conferences & Events 37e - - 3,716
Contracted Services 190,427 22,446 - 212873
Depreciation Expense 17,118 5,767 48 22933
Disability Insurance 19,755 628 28 20,411
Global Compassion Aid 149,351 - - 149,351
Leadership Training Scholarship 29,186 . g 29,186
Maintenance 25,108 - - 25,108
Memberships 17,815 1,339 - 19,154
Ministry Project Grants 466,152 % - 466,152
Office Expenses 90,838 34332 120 125,290
Other 46,400 - - 46,400
Penodic Pension Costs - 142,167 - 142,167
Printing & Promotion 14144 877 3,252 18,273
Regional Conference Ministry Grant 126,000 - - 126,000
Rent Expense 44,182 9,747 - 53,929
Salary & Benefits 2,696,784 410,270 36,321 3,143,375
Seminary Grants 16,500 - - 16,500
Shaping Leaders for Tomorrow Grant 23,249 - - 23,249
SPICE Sponsorship Grants 155,534 - - 155,534
Support of Related Organizations 168,963 - - 168,963
Tramning & Development 35348 2.440 - 37,788
Travel Expenses 199,382 277 128 199,787

Total Expenses i 473613l £ 630464 F 30001 § _SA06516

The Accompanying Notes ar¢ an Integral Part of the Financial Statements

e
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GENERAL CONFERENCE OF THE BRETHREN IN CHRIST

Statement of Functional Expenses
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020
—_Supporting Services
Program Management
Services and General Fundraising Total

Business Meals 5 12663 § 82 3 - 3 12,745
Church Planting Grants — Domestic 162,900 - - 169,900
Church Planting Grants — Global 18,568 - - 18,568
Conferences & Events 2,106 - - 2,106
Contracted Services 147,712 22226 - 169,938
Depreciation Expense 22,331 1,137 - 23,468
Disability Insurance 19,030 628 - 19,658
Global Compassion Aid 111,789 - - 111,789
Leadership Training Scholarship 40,948 - - 40,948
Maintenance 25,150 - - 25,150
Memberships 18,476 1,124 - 19,600
Ministry Project Grants 379,139 - - 379,139
Office Expenses $3,251 33,018 "] 116,269
Other 37355 - - 37.355
Penodic Pension Costs - 243,513 - 243,513
Printing & Promotion 14,560 395 1,837 16,792
Regional Conference Ministry Grant 126,000 - - 126,000
Rent Expense 45,255 9,039 - 54,204
Salary & Benefits 2,648,951 398,119 152717 3,062,347
Seminary Grants 23,000 - - 23,000
Shaping Leaders for Tomorrow Grant 22,824 - - 22,824
SPICE Sponsorship Grants 154,871 - - 154,871
Support of Related Organizations 164,242 - - 164,242
Tramning & Development 35273 1,736 - 37,000
Travel Expenses 144,776 39 - 144,815

Total Expenses $ 4468170 & 711056 § 17014 § 5196340

The Accompanying Notes ar¢ an Integral Part of the Financial Statements

i
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GENERAL CONFERENCE OF THE BRETHREN IN CHRIST

Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Increase in Net Assets
Adjustment to Reconcile Increase in Net Assets to
Net Cash and Cash Equival Provided by Operating Activities:
Realized Gain on Sale of Investments
Unrealized Gain on Investments
Contributions Received Restricted for Perp
Paycheck Protection Program Loan Forgiveness
Depreciation Expense
(Increase) Decrease in:
Education Loans Receivable
Other Receivables
Notes Receivable
Other Assets
Increase (Decrease) in:
Accounts Payable
Acerued Wages and Vacation Payable

1 End,

Net Cash and Cash Equivalents Provided by Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Purchase of Investments
Proceeds from Sale of Investments
Purchase of Fixed Assets

Net Cash and Cash Equivalents Provided by Investing Activities

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Principal Payments on Note Payable
Contributions Received icted for Perpetual End
Proceeds from Paycheck Protection Program Loan
Change in Ministers Pension Fund Components

Net Cash and Cash Equivalents Used by Fi ing Activities

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of the Year
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year

Cash Paid for Interest
Cash Paid for Income Taxes

2021 2020
$ 2303599 5 2347499
(765,436) (476,615)
(336,942) (509,852)
(2,000 (2,000)
2 (480,814)
22,933 23,46
(1.910) (2,870)
(539) 7,730
4,970 6,511
(27.911) 47,967
38,349 21,569
1228779 992,656
(657,224) (508,645)
1,118,702 1,914,111
455,008 1,345,000
(4,970) (6,511)
2,000 2,000
E 480,814

— (657.833)

—(660803) ___(ROI84
1,022,984 2,257,562
5.018.903 2,761,341

3 6041887 § 5018903

$ 7642 5 8725

The Accompanying Notes ar¢ an Integral Part of the Financial Statements

-8-
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NOTE1

GENERAL CONFERENCE OF THE BRETHREN IN CHRIST
Notes to Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

NATURE OF ACTIVITIES AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Activities:

The General Conference of the Brethren in Christ (the BIC US) was incorporated on June 18,
1940 in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania as a charitable, non-profit religious organization
The BIC US is supported by contributions from Brethren in Christ ions as well as direct
contributions from individuals and other entities.

Basis of Accounting:
The financial statements of the BIC US have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting and,
accordingly, reflect all significant receivables, payables and other liabilities.

Basis of Presentation:

Financial statement presentation follows the Not-for-Profit Entities topic of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASE) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) which requires
the BIC US to report information regarding its financial position and activities according to two
classes of net assets: net assets without donor restrictions and net assets with donor restrictions.

Contributions:
Contributions ived are ded as i in net assets with or without donor restrictions,
depending on the existence and/or nature of any donor restrictions.

All donor-restricted contributions are reported as increases in net assets with donor restrictions,
depending on the nature of the restriction. When a restriction expires (that is, when a stipulated
time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished), net assets with donor restrictions are
reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the Statements of Activities as
net assets released from restrictions.

The BIC US recognizes receipts when given by the supporting congregations. As a result,
approxi ly twenty b days are d after year-end to properly recognize these
December receipts. Additionally, the BIC US allows the Common Ministry Program to make the
appropriate allocations to other BIC US programs and external organizations before the year-end
close.

Ministry Activities:

The BIC US is strongly committed to functioning as one organization, in support of various
ministries, as they seek to accomplish the mission of the church to make and grow disciples. The
following list is illustrative of the ministry activities supported by the BIC US in 2021 and 2020:

Regional Conference Leadership
Commission on Ministry and Doctrine
= Equipping for Ministry
General Assembly Meeting
Denominational Communications
World Missions
= Missionary Support
= International Leadership Development
*=  Global Compassion Fund
o Ministers Pension Fund

000

9-
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NOTE1

GENERAL CONFERENCE OF THE BRETHREN IN CHRIST
Notes to Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

NATURE OF ACTIVITIES AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Fixed Assets:

It is the policy of the BIC US to record purchased fixed assets at cost and donated assets at their
fair value at the date of donation. Depreciation is provided on the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets.

New acquisitions of fixed assets having a low acquisition cost, or which are not expected to last
for more than a year, are expended in the year of acquisition. Repairs and maintenance charges
are capitalized and depreciated when they materially extend the useful life of the related asset.

Taxation:

The BIC US is exempt from federal income tax as provided by Code Section 501(c)(3) of the
Internal Revenue Code. Donors are entitled to deductions for federal income tax purposes for
contributions made to the BIC US in accordance with the Internal Revenue Code. Acemdmgly
no income tax is incurred unless the BIC US eams income lered to be I

income. The BIC US conducted no activities that were subject to income taxes.

A 1g principles generall d in the United States of America require management to
evaluate tax positions taken by the BIC US, including whether the entity is exempt from income
taxes. Management evaluated the tax positions Isken and concluded that the BIC US had mn no
uncertain tax pesitions that require recognition or discl in the financial statements. Tl

no provision or liability for income taxes has been included in the financial statements. With few
exceptions, the BIC US 1s no longer subject to income tax examinations by the U.S. federal, state or
local tax authorities for years before December 31, 2018.

Receivables:

Receivables are stated at the amount mamggmmr. expeas to collect from balances outstanding at
year-end, Based on 12 's bal it has Tuded that
losses on bal ling at y d will be. immaterial. Therefore, an allowance has not
been established,

Investments:

Investments are valued at their fair market values on a recurming basis in the Statements of
Financial Position,

Fair Value R I blisk of ak } ﬂlalmﬂshqmlﬂyardmluhllltyof
inputs, or munptmﬂs, “used in lhe determination of fair value and requires financial assets and
liabilities carried at fair value to be classified and disclosed in cne of the following three categories:

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities
Level 2 — Directly or indirectly observable inputs other than Level 1 quoted prices
Level 3 — Unobservable inputs not corroborated by market data

For investments that have quoted market prices in active markets, the BIC US uses the quoted
market prices as fair values and includes those investments in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.
When quoted market prices in active markets are not available, various pricing services are used to
determine fair value of investments that are included in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Level 3
represents financial assets whese fair value is determined based upon inputs that are unobservable
and include the BIC US’s own d inations of the ptions that a market participant would use
in pricing the asset,
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NOTE1

NOTE2

GENERAL CONFERENCE OF THE BRETHREN IN CHRIST
Notes to Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

NATURE OF ACTIVITIES AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments thmﬁmed}

Investment income, incl lized and lized gains restricted by donors, is reported as an
increase in net assets without donor restrictions if the restrictions are met (either a stipulated time
period or a purpose restriction is accomplished) in the reporting period in which the income and
Investments are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate, market and credit. Due to the level
of risk associated with certain investments and the level of inty related to changes in the
value of investments, it is at least reasonably possible changes in risks in the near term would
materially affect investment assets reported in the Statements of Financial Position and Activities,

Contributed Services:
The BIC US receives a substantial amount of donated services in carrymg out the various
ministries of the BIC US. No amounts have been reflected in the fi i ts for those
services since they do not meet the criteria for recognition.
Use of Estimates:

ion of fi ial in conformity with accounting principles generally
awcptedmtheUmledSmwso[Amenca qui to make esti and i

that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents:
For the purpose of the Statements of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents include all highly
liquid investments with an initial maturity of three months or less,

heck Protection Program Loan:
The BIC US has elected to account for the Paycheck Protection Program Loan as a donor
restricted contribution up to the amount eligible for loan forgiveness in accordance with FASB
ASC 958-605.

ional Allocation of Exp
Thc cost of providing the various programs and activities has been summarized on a functional
basis in the Statements of Activities. Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated among the
programs and supporting services benefited.

PENDING NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENT

In February 2016, FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases. The ASU introduces a lessee’s model
that brings most leases onto the Statement of Financial Position and aligns many of the underlying
principles of the new lessor model with those in the new revenue recognition standard (ASU No.
2014-09). ASU No. 2016-02 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2021
The BIC US is currently assessing the impact this standard will have on its financial statements.
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GENERAL CONFERENCE OF THE BRETHREN IN CHRIST
Notes to Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

NOTE3 AVAILABILITY AND LIQUIDITY
The following rep the BIC US's fi ial assets at Dy ber 31:
2021 2020
Financial Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 6041887 3§ 5018903
Investments 14,660,338 14,019,438
Other Receivables 42517 41,978
Total Financial Assets 20744742  _19080.319
Less Amounts Not Available to be Used
Within One Year
Wet Assets with Donor Restrictions 16,122,793 14,644,813
Board-Designated Funds — 1658471 _ 1562598
Total 17781264 __ 16207411
Financial Assets Available to Meet Expenses
Over the Next Year $ 2063478 § 2872908
The BICUS’s plan is g 1ly to maintain fi ial assets to meet 90 days of operating expenses,
NOTE 4 INVESTMENTS

Investments are summarized as follows at December 31, 2021 and 2020;

2021
Cost Market Value
Stewardship Investment Certificates (SICs) 8 4716489 § 4716489
Trust Inv and Deposit A nts (BICF) 8077462 9943 849
Total 212703951 § 14660338
2020
Cost Market Value
Certificates of Deposit s 303 8§ 303
Stewardship Investment Certificates (SICs) 4,190,208 4,190,208
Trust Iny and Deposit Accounts (BICF) __ 8300075 __ 9828077
Total 12491386 314019438
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GENERAL CONFERENCE OF THE BRETHREN IN CHRIST
Notes to Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
NOTE 4 INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

Investment income is summarized as follows for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:

2021 2020
Realized Gain on Sale of Investments § 765436 5 476615
Unrealized Gain on Investment: 336,942 509,852
Interest and Dividends 266,994 312,448
Custodial Fees (55.301) (47.608)
Total 1314071 3 _L251307
NOTES FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Fair values of investments and money markets are summarized as follows at December 31, 2021
and 2020:
December 31, 2021
Levell  level2  Leveld Totl
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Money Market s - § 2515211 § - 2615211
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 3 2615211 - __L6I5211
Investments.
Stewardship Investment Certificates (SICs) - 4,716,489 - 4,716,489
Trust L and it Accourt:
(BICF) = 9043840 _ - _ 0043840
Total Investments —_— 14660338 - _ 14660338
Total S SIS0 B RIZZIS540
December 31, 2020
Levell  Level2  Leveld Total
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Money Market s - §2512762 § . 5127
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 2.512.762 - __Ls12762
Investments.
Certificates of Deposit - 303 - 303
ship Crti (SICs) - 4,190,208 - 4190208
Trust Investments and Deposit Accounts
(BICF) - 9828927 - 0.828.927
Total Investments - _lagioams - 14019438
Total - SleS3200 5 £16530200
-13-
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NOTES

NOTE 6

GENERAL CONFERENCE OF THE BRETHREN IN CHRIST
Notes to Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)
Level 2
The BIC US’s trust investments and deposit accounts held with the Brethren in Christ Foundation,

Ine. (BIC Foundation) are considered Level 2. A description of the various investments is as
follows:

Money Market Funds - valued at the net asset value (NAV) of shares held by the BIC US at year-
end. NAV is used as a practical expedient to fair value and shares may be redeemed on a daily
basis. Money Market Funds are held with the BIC Foundation and are idered to be Level 2,

BIC Foundation S) dship I Certificates — investment in S Investment
Certificates (SICs) are held wn.h the BIC Foundation and considered to be a chel 2 Tnvestment.
These SICs are similar to a certificate of deposit and valued at cost.

Certificates of Deposit — investment in certificates of deposit (CDs) are held with the BIC
Foundation and considered to be a Level 2 Investment. The CDs are valued at cost.

BIC Foundation Growth with Income Fund — a non-quoted investment fund which only invests in
financial assets quoted in active markets. The Growth with Income Fund’s investment objective is
asset growth and protection against inflation by investing primarily in stocks, combined with
secondary components in bonds and short-term/money market investments. Any amount can be
withdrawn from an account up to the total account balance,

BIC Foundation Fixed Income Fund - a non-quoted investment fund which only invests in
financial assets quoted in active markets. The Fixed Income Fund’s investment objective is to
seek a higher and more sustainable level of interest income and not Iong\-f.erm growth in capital by
investing in fixed income holdings of ULS. or US. g ies with a 60%
target allocation to U.S. agcncymm'tg@e bncked sec‘urllms:md-i-ﬁ%mUS shmlermlrensury
securities. Any amount can be withdrawn from an account up to the total account balance.

Mutual Funds — valued at the net asset value (NAV) of shares held by the BIC US at year-end,
MNAV is used as a practical expedient to fair value and shares may be redeemed on a daily basis.

EDUCATION LOANS RECEIVABLE

Individuals who are accepted for service with Brethren in Christ U.S. World Missions
(BICUSWM), who have educational debts, may apply in writing for educational debt assistance.
Educational debts approved for reimbursement will be paid based on ten percent (10%) of the
original amount of the loan (at the time of appointment) per vear for ten {10) years, Payments
made will range from a minimum of $1,000 to a maximum of $2,500. Maximum lifetime
education debt assistance is limited to $25,000. For individuals accepted for service with
BICUSWM but needing further education, BICUSWM will pay for such education as a loan. A
“credit” is given to the missionaries for each year of service, based on an approved credit
schedule. If the credits for years of service are less than the loan payments made by BICUSWM
when a missionary completes his or her service, the difference will be paid back to BICUSWM
by the missionary, The receivable due back to BICUSWM was $15019 and $13,109 at
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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NOTE7

NOTE S

NOTE9

NOTE 10

GENERAL CONFERENCE OF THE BRETHREN IN CHRIST
Notes to Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

ASEL RECEIVABLE

From time to time, the BIC US makes Appmcmtm Sharing Equity Loans (ASEL) to BIC US
executives for the p of purchasing their These interest-free loans will be repaid
upon the sale of the residence. Three loans were outstanding, totaling $88,941, at December 31,
2021 and 2020, These notes are secured by a mortgage deed of trust or security deed.

OTHER RECEIVABLES

Other receivables consisted of the following at December 31, 2021 and 2020:

2021 2020
Shared Services Receivables 3 35517 § 34978
Administrative and Other Advances 7.000 7.000
Total 42517 S 41018

NOTES RECEIVABLE

Notes receivable are summarized as follows at December 31, 2021 and 2020:

2021 2020
Missionary Loan 3 28,000 3 28,000
Hoyo-Spain Church Receivable 175,005 179975
Total Notes Receivable $ 203005 § 207975
DurngOlQ the BIC US entered into a note ivabl with a missionary for $28,000.

Starting in 2020, the missionary will begin paying interest at a rate of 168% per annum. The
unpaid principal shall be payable in full on any future date on which the BIC US demands
repayment. The BIC US will provide a 90-day notice to the missionary. The balance was $28,000
at December 31, 2021 and 2020,

During 2014, the BIC US entered into a note receivable agreement with a church for $216,480.
The church is to make monthly payments in the amount of $1,051 at 4.30% and 51,102 at 4.75%
interest during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The balance was
$175,005 and $179,975 at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

MASP EMPLOYEE HEALTHCARE ASSISTANCE BENEFIT PROGRAM

The BIC US participates in a self-funded empl healthcare assi benefit program, Mutual
Aid Shaﬂng ngrum (MASP). The !\-MSP 1s a not-for-profit employee benefit plan whereby
mission and service agencies of the Anat i ity share with each other the cost of

providing healthcare assistance and death benefits to their employees.
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GENERAL CONFERENCE OF THE BRETHREN IN CHRIST
Notes to Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

NOTE 10 MASP EMPLOYEE HEALTHCARE ASSISTANCE BENEFIT PROGRAM (CONTINUED)

Under the MASP, the BIC US is responsible for claims up to the retention of $20,000 per person
(retained claims). Claims in excess of the retention up to $250,000 will be pooled with the other
agencies. Claims in excess of the retention and the $250,000 are reinsured by a stop loss policy
that covers all MASP agencies. The stop loss reinsurance defines a claim as the total medical
claims per individual per MASP fiscal year (October 1 through September 30). The BIC US has
expensed its retained claims and its monthly payments to the MASP for its expected share of
pooled claims and administrative costs including stop loss premiums. The payments include the
actuarially projected amount to cover claims that exceed the agency retention up to $250,000. The
actual amount may differ from this estimate based on the BIC US’s and pooled agencies’ actual
experience.

The MASP maintains a reserve fund, which can be drawn upon in the event of a large single claim
or a series of large claims or if the MASP chooses to allocate a portion of the reserve fund to lower
the aggregate shared claims limit. Claims are expensed as incurred. The BIC US has determined
its estimated share of the reserve fund to be $112,924 and $144,228 at December 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively. These funds are included in Other Assets.

NOTE1 FIXED ASSETS

Fixed assets are summarized as follows at December 31, 2021 and 2020:

2021 2020
Real Estate $ 145966 5 145966
Furniture and Equipment 185,117 178,649
331,083 324,615
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (196.285) (173.354)
Fixed Assets, Net 134708 151261
The estimated useful lives for purposes of computing depreciation are as follows:
Real Estate 40 years
Furniture and Equipment 3-10 years
Depreciation expense was $22,933 and $23,468 for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively.
NOTE 12 BOARD-DESIGNATED FUNDS

Board-designated funds at December 31, 2021 and 2020 are available for the following purposes:

2021 2020
Other - Global 5 687358 § 687358
Project 250 — National 246,338 150,465
Build the Future 124775 124775
Total LLeSE471 B LSGLI0R
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NOTE 13

GENERAL CONFERENCE OF THE BRETHREN IN CHRIST
Notes to Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS
Perpetually Restricted Net Assets — Endowment Funds

Interpretation of Relevant Law
The BIC US has interpreted the law that underlies the net asset classification of donor-restricted
endowment funds as requiring the preservation of the fair value of the original gift as of the gift
date of the donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit instructions. As a result of this
interpretation, the BIC US classifies as perpetually restricted net assets (1) the original value of
gifts to the perpetual endowment, (2) the original value of subsequent gifts to the perpetual
d t, and (3) lations to the perpetual end: made in d with the
direction o:‘ the applicable donor gift instrument. Absent explicit instructions from the donor,
investment income from perpetually restricted funds is classified as purpose restricted and
expensed as permitted by established ends t fund spending policies.

The BIC US considers the following factors when receiving donor-restricted endowment funds:

The duration and preservation of the fund

The purposes of the organization and the donor-restricted endowment fund
General economic conditions

The possible effect of inflation and deflation

The expected total retumn from income and the appreciation of investments
Other of the

The investment policies of the organization

0 Kb b ) e

Investment Management Policy

Perpetually donor-restricted gifts are generally given with the donors™ expectations that the funds
will stay mhclm'dgrowfmmuratamwmum provide eamings that can be used to fund the
purposes specified in the 1g trust inst t. Tk , the funds should be invested
in accordance with these gme.ml pollc.les

1. Preservation of Capital - Both with respect to the overall Fund and to the assets assigned
to each investment manager, the Finance Committee and the investment managers should
make conscious efforts to preserve capital, understanding that losses may occur in
individual securities.

2. Risk Aversion — Understanding that risk is present in all types of securities and
investment styles, the Finance Committee recognizes that some risk is necessary to
produce long-term investment results sufficient to meet the Fund's objectives. However,
investment managers are to make reascnable efforts to control risk. and they will be
evaluated regularly to ensure that the risk assumed is commensurate with the given
investment style and objectives.

3. Adherence to I Discipline — 1 are d to adhere to the
investment management st)rlcs for Wh.lch I.hey were hired. Ma.mg:m will be evaluated
regularly for adt to is

A17-
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GENERAL CONFERENCE OF THE BRETHREN IN CHRIST
Notes to Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS (CONTINUED)

Investment Objectives
Specifically, the primary objective in the investment management of fund assets shall be:

e To preserve purchasing power after spending

* To achieve retumns that are more than the rate of inflation plus spending over the
investment horizon in order to preserve purchasing power of fund assets

s Tocontrol risk in the mvestment of fund assets

Handling of I from End it Fund Investment

All income eamed, whether interest income, dividend income, or gains realized and unrealized
will be classified as purpose restricted until appropriated for expenditure by the BIC US. There
are no restrictions on the use of the income other than time and purpose restrictions established by
the trust instrument or board-designated.

Changes in endowment net assets for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

2021 2020
Beginning of Year $ 2,786,528 % 2,784,528
Contributions to Perpetual End 2,000 2,000
End of Year £.2788528 § 2786508
Perpetually restricted net assets at December 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:
2021 2020
Leadership Training End S 641376 §5 641376
New Frontiers Endowment 445,038 445,038
Shaping Leaders for Tomorrow
(Formerly Seminary Students) 1,535,549 1,535,549
Spouses Training 13,745 13,745
Smith Pastoral Training 69,458 67,458
Renewal/Refocus Endowment 11,301 11,301
World Missions — S. Africa Women's Ed. Fund 71.561 71.561
Total $.2788528 § 2786508
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For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS (CONTINUED)
Furpose Restricted Net Assets

Purpose restricted net assets at December 31, 2021 and 2020 are available for the following
purposes:

2021 2020
Other - National 5 26915 % 20,698
Shaping Leaders for Tomorrow 647,715 540,041
Honoring Leaders of Yesterday 74,183 72,482
CMD — Special Projects 32,784 32,784
Kipe Seminary Special Training 20,803 18,645
Smith Pastoral Training 16,010 12,680
RenewalRefocus 22443 20,307
Honor the Past 2,389,829 2,816,345
Build the Future 246,200 232,672
Other - Global 2,042,503 1,392,442
Thrive — Global 2403 2,403
Global Special Projects 060,135 681,207
Project 250 — Global 96,526 100,000
Spice Gift - Global 31,916 16,076
Leadership Training — Global 1,854,306 1,607,036
Personnel Training — Global 1,182,781 1,068,563
New Frontiers — Global 558,553 449,227
So. African Women’s Ed, Fund - Global 80,185 63,540
ECP - Global 427,049 396,548
Emergency Risk Mgt. - Global 572815 559,471
Global Compassion — Global 119,827 97,947
Crisis Management - Global 84,619 88,578
Missionaries — Global __ 1843756 __ 1567893
Total §13334265 3 1LESE28S
Total Net Assets with Donor Restrictions 516122793 5 14644813

NOTE PAYABLE

During 2013, the BIC US entered into a thirty-year note payable with the Brethren in Christ
Foundation for $216,480. The interest rate is variable at the sole d:screuorn ol’ l.hc lender and was
4.30% and 4.75% at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 11 of
principal and interest were $1,051 and 31,102 duning the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2020, tively, Intercst expense was $7.642 and $8,725 for the years ended December 31,

2021 and 2020, respectively.
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NOTE PAYABLE (CONTINUED)

Minimum principal maturities for each of the subsequent five years are as follows:

Year Amount

2022 % 5,189
2023 5416
2024 5,654
2025 5,902
2026 6,160
Thereafter 146684
Total § 175005

RELATED ENTITY

The BIC Foundation owns the building in Pennsylvania which serves as facilities for its principal
office. The building is utilized by the BIC Foundation and the BIC US. No rental or lease
payments are made to the BIC Foundation, but operating and mai costs of the buildi

are shared by the BIC Foundation and the BIC US on a pro rata basis. Operating and maintenance
costs paid to the BIC Foundation were $33,610 and $34,852 during the years ended December 31,

2021 and 2020, respectively.

The BIC US provided services to Ihe BIC Foundation for personnel mrvloes including, but nol
limited to, accounting, human benefit an
management. Costs for these services paid to the BIC US totaled 34, 412 and $23,878 dunng the
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The BIC US owed the BIC Foundation $17,740 and $13.432 at December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively.

RETIREMENT PLANS

The BIC US has a 403(b)(9) Retirement Income Account plan. This plan covers all employees of
the BIC US beginning at date of hire. Employees can contribute a percentage of their
compensation each year up to specified limits. The BIC US made contributions to this plan on
behalf of employees at a rate of 5.0% along with matching up to an additional 5.0% for 2021 and
2020, The BIC US contributed $184,814 and $190,637 to the plan during the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The BIC US maintains the Brethren in Christ Minister's Pension Fund (the Plan) which is a
single-employer defined-benefit pension plan. The Plan covers all ordained or licensed senior
pastors and pastors of single-pastor congregations, ordained or licensed full-time associate
pasl.om. C}mﬂm education, or youth ministers, a.nd otdamed or licensed ministers of other

ional boards and ies. Normal benefits are equal to $9.00
multiplied by the years of benefit service up to a maximum of 40 years of benefit service. In
addition, the Plan provides for death benefits for eligible participants. As of December 31, 2009,
the Plan was “frozen,” allowing no new participants to be added after that point.

-20-
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NOTE 16 RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)

The BIC US pays the full cost of the Plan, and employee contributions are not required.
During 2010, the Plan Trustees requested that employers of eligible participants of the Plan
contribute $1,200 for participants who had not yet reached 55 years of age with 20 years of
service or normal retirement year. This request expired at December 31, 2019, and was not
renewed for future years. An $808,036 and $800,002 contribution, in addition to the annual
contribution for the ordained or licensed ministers of the BIC US, was provided by the BIC US
during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The annual date is D ber 31 for the pension benefits. The following tables
provide further information about the BIC US’s pension plan.

The following sets forth the Plan's actuanally determined funded status at December 31, 2021:
ligations and Funded Status for 2021:

Benefit Obligation at December 31, 2021 $ 8408998
Fair Value of Plan Assets at December 31, 2020 5,595,874
Employer Contributions 808,036
Actual Retum on Assets 298,735
Benefit Payments (630,365)
Fair Value of Plan Assets at December 31, 2021 6,072,280
Net Unfunded Status of the Plan at December 31, 2021 § 2336718

Service Cost ¥ -
Interest Cost 191,223

Expected Return on Plan Assets (292,136)
Amortization of Net Transition (Asset) or Obligation -
Amortization of Prior Service Cost -
Amortization of Net (Gain) or Loss 243,080

Net Periodic Pension Cost for Period 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2021 & 142167

Items Not Yet Recognized as a Component of

Net Period Pension Cost at 12/31/2020 § 4815377
Amortization of Net Transition Asset or (Obligation) -
Amortization of Prior Service Cost -
Amortization of Net Gain or (Loss) (243,080)

Change Due to Change in Experience and Assumptions at 12/31/2021 (149,269)
Change Due to Plan Amendment -
Experience (Gain) or Loss at 1/1/2021 216,731
Asset (Gain) or Loss — [(6.50%)
Items Not Yet Recognized as a Component of
Net Period Pension Cost at 12/31/2021 § 4633160
Sl
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NOTE 16 RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)
Assumptions:
Weighted-Average Assumptions Used to Determine Benefit
Obligations at December 31, 2021:

Discount Rate 2.50%
Rate of Compensation Increase 0.00 %

Weighted-Average Assumptions Used to Determine Net Periodic
Benefit Cost for Year Ended December 31, 2021:

Discount Rate 2.50%
Expected Retumn on Plan Assets 5.50 %
Rate of Compensation Increase 0.00 %
The BIC US’s :xpecl:d mu of return on plan assets is determined by the plan assets” historical
t perf ., current asset allocation, and estimates of future long-term
ret'urns by asset class.
Plan Assets
The BIC US's pension plan weighted-average asset allocations at December 31, 2021, by asset
category are as follows:
Asset Category Percentage
Real Estate 4.67 %
Cash/Money Market Funds/SICs 57.47%
Internaticnal Equities 4.05%
Large Cap Equities 18.49%
Fixed Income 1532 %
Total ~-100.00 5%

All assets are considered Level 1 or 2.

Mutual Funds — Valued at the net asset value (NAV) of shares held by the Plan at year-end, NAV
is used as a practical expedient to fair value and shares may be redeemed on a daily basis.

BIC Foundation Stewardship 1 Certificates — The Plan's investment in Stewardship
Investment Certificates (SICs) are held with the BIC Foundation and considered to be a Level 2
Investment. These SICs are similar to a certificate of deposit and valued at cost.

-22-
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RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)
Cash Flows:
Contributions — The BIC US expects contributions of $800,000 to its pension plan in 2022,

Benefit Obligation at December 31, 2020

Fair Value of Plan Assets at December 31, 2019
Employer Contributions

Actual Retum on Assets

Benefit Payments

Fair Value of Plan Assets at December 31, 2020

Net Unfunded Status of the Plan at December 31, 2020

- . R ;

Service Cost

Interest Cost

Expected Return on Plan Assets

Amortization of Net Transition {Asset) or Obligati
Amortization of Prior Service Cost

Amortization of Net (Gain) or Loss

Net Periodic Pension Cost for Period 1/1/2020 to 12/31/2020

-23-

Estimated Future Benefit Payments — The following benefit payments, which reflect expected
future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:

2022 $ 692131

2023 678,252

2024 647,451

2025 626,379

2026 596,820

Years 2027-2031 2,608,760

Total § 5840703
The following sets forth the Plan’s actuarially determined funded status at December 31, 2020:
T G

§ &780.678
5,214,303
800,002
247,439
(665,870

— 3505874

33184304

247,666
(237.278)

233125
$ 243513
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RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)

Items Not Yet Recognized as a Component of Net Periodic Pension Cost for 2020:
[tems Not Yet Recognized as a Component of
Net Period Pension Cost at 12/31/2019 § 4499005

Amortization of Met Transition Asset or (Obligation) =
Amertization of Prior Service Cost

Amortization of Net Gain or (Loss) (233,125)
Change Due to Change in Experience and Assumptions at 12/31/2020 454,200
Change Due to Plan Amendment -
Experience (Gain) or Loss at 1/1/2020 105,458
Asset (Gain) or Loss
Items Mot Yet Recognized as a Component of
Net Period Pension Cost at 12/31/2020 3 4815377
Assumptions:
Weighted-Average A ptions Used to Determine Benefit
Obligations at December 31, 2020:
Discount Rate 225%
Rate of Compensation Increase 0.00 %

Weighted-Average Assumptions Used to Determine Net Periodic
Benefit Cost for Year Ended December 31, 2020:

Discount Rate 225%
Expected Retum on Plan Assets 5.50%
Rate of Compensation Increase 0.00 %

The BIC US's expected rate of return on plan assets is determined by the plan assets” historical
long-term investment performance, current asset allocation, and estimates of future long-term
returns by asset class.

Plan Assets:
The BIC US's pension plan weighted-average asset allocations at Dx ber 31, 2020, by asset
category are as follows:

Asset Category Percentage

Real Estate 4.39 %

Cash/Money Market Funds/SICs 64.72%

International Equities 229%

Large Cap Equities 11.37%

Fixed Income 1723 %

Total _100.00%

All assets are considered Level 1 or 2.

Mutual Funds — Valued at the net asset value (NAV) of shares held by the Plan at year-end, NAV
is used as a practical expedient to fair value and shares may be redeemed on a daily basis,
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RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)

BIC Foundation Stewardship Investment Certificates — The Plan's investment in Stewardship
Investment Centificates (SICs) are held with the BIC Foundation and considered to be a Level 2
Investment, These SICs are similar to a certificate of deposit and valued at cost.

Cash Flows:

Estimated Future Benefit Payments — The following benefit payments, which reflect expected
future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:

2021 3 724,760
2022 674,974
2023 661,203
2024 629,700
2025 609,997
Years 2026-2030 2657180
Total £ 5057814

PAYCHECK PROTECTION PROGRAM LOAN

On April 17, 2020, as part of the CARES Act, the BIC US received a Paycheck Protection
Program loan from Centric Bank through the U.S. Small Business Administration for $480,814,
The BIC US has met the Program’s eligibility eriteria, applied for forgiveness, and received 100%
forgiveness as of December 31, 2020. Therefore, in accordance with FASB ASC 958-605, the
BIC US is including these funds as a restricted contribution in the Statement of Activities for the
year ending December 31, 2020.

CONCENTRATED CREDIT RISK

The BIC Foundation is a d inationally owned and sp d i isting of two
divisions which holds investments for the BIC US. The Trust Division handles investments on
behalf of church agencies, The Brotherhood Loan Fund Division serves the church in a manner
similar to that of a credit union. This division accepts deposits from individuals and church
agencies and loans funds to congregations and pastors for real estate transactions. The
investments of the BIC US are held by the BIC Foundation, which are neither insured by any
private or governmental agency, nor are the balances fully collateralized. Therefore, an off-
balance-sheet and a concentrated credit risk exist.

fal instruments that fally subject the BIC US to concentrations of credit risk consist
pmmpelly of cash and cash equivalents held with financial institutions. Accounts at financial
nstitutions are insured by the Federal Deposit Imncc Corporation {FDICJ up to 5250.000 per
institution.  The BIC US's at a fi | mstitution i
the FDIC. Amounts in excess of the FDIC limit totaled 5191 and $1,.911.643 at
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent events have been evaluated through May 25, 2022, which is the date the financial
statements were available to be issued,

Subsequent to December 31, 2021, the BIC US has been operating in an environment that has
been economically impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, The full impact of the pandemic on the
BIC US is not known as of the release of these financial statements. However, management is
meonitoring the current conditions and their potential impact.

-25-
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